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Group Introduction
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China Aoyuan Property Group Limited (“Aoyuan” or the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) have been developing residential projects for over two
decades with innovative concept of composite real estate, incorporating healthy living
concepts of sports and regimen into residential communities. Thereafter, the Group
introduced the Cathay Capital Group, a US investment fund, as one of its substantial
shareholders, and the Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 9 October 2007 (Stock Code: 3883).

The Group's strategy is to implement regional focus on the five major economic
circles as its core regions in China, namely Pearl River Delta, Yangtze River Delta,
core region of Central and Western China, Beibuwan and Bohai Rim. Meanwhile,
the Group continues to facilitate its parallel development in domestic and overseas
property markets and now has expanded to Sydney of Australia and Vancouver of
Canada.

In the future, the Group will adhere to the “building a healthy lifestyle” brand
philosophy, focus on the development of commercial and residential properties in
parallel with quality-oriented strategy, strive to provide its customers with superior
living environment and create a healthy and positive lifestyle and lead a healthy city
living.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer)

Ms. Zhong Ping (chief financial officer)
Mr. Ma Jun (chief operating officer)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Yang Zhong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (chairman)
Mr. Tsui King Fai
Mr. Hu Jiang

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Tsui King Fai (chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms. Kuok Yew Lee
Ms. Lee Mei Yi

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Guo Zi Wen
Mr. Guo Zi Ning
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

CORPORATE WEBSITE

Www.aoyuan.com.cn

STOCK CODE
3883.HK

Corporate Information

AGN<gs)

Exg

BITES

XKL (EE)

FFFBIRA (B L ERTTHARE,)
& YRt (EEMFE)

B BRAE(ZER)

FUITES
B BEE

BYKHTES
BEELE
KRB E
tHoIkHE

EREZEEEHKE
KRB E (FE)
Bhemidt

tH oIkHE

FMEEERKE
GEmEA (XE)
IR AE

tH oIk E

REZEEKE
R E (FE)
%hEEEE
SREI SR S A
HHOI%kAE

BERRAME
AL T
FEELT

RREAR
AL
s

A

=g« MEMRT GFEITT

AEEE

WWWw.aoyuan.com.cn

IRADCER

3883.HK

Annual Report 2016 & — /N4E4ER



Corporate Information (continued)

nEERE ()

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China Limited

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Ping An Bank Company Limited

China Bohai Bank

Bank of Jiangsu

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman
KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN PRC

Aoyuan Mansion

No. 108, HuangPu Avenue West
Tianhe District

Guangzhou

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

IN HONG KONG
Units 1901-2, 19th Floor, One Peking

No. 1 Peking Road
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17 M Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Email: ir@aoyuan.net

Telephone:  (852) 3622 2122
(86) 20-3868 6666

Facsimile: (852) 2180 6189
(86) 20-3868 6688
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Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands
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» Financial Highlights
A 25 47 2

Results Highlights 2&/H=
For the year ended 31 December 2016 ~#HE—Z— X NF+_A=-+—HIEFE
(RMB'000) (AR¥TF7T)

2016 2015
—E-REF —E—RF
Revenue LR 11,827,268 9,572,424
Gross profit EF 3,277,084 2,646,276
Net profit Fal 1,006,608 907,493
Earnings per share (cents) BlEF (9)
- Basic —HAR 32.30 29.17
- Diluted —#E 32.30 29.17
Revenue Analysis & 2% 54T
For the year ended 31 December 2016 HZE_-_ZT— X NF+_A=+—HItFE
(RMB'000) (AR T L)
2016 2015
—E-RE —ZE—hF
Property development VIEEE 11,239,878 9,294,506
Property investment LIES S} 73,013 68,800
Others H 514,377 209,118
Total A& 11,827,268 9,572,424

Property Development Revenue Analysis Y32 E WA 247

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #HE—ZE—AF+_A=+—HILFE
Sold and Delivered

2ERRXM
Revenue Area
ON HE
(RMB’ million) ('000 sq.m.)
(AREBETT (FF7K)
Residential apartments EFEERE 7,881.8 1,377.7
Commercial apartments [(EEJENCD 1,350.5 88.2
Retail shops and others 7 8 Ko Ho A 1,963.5 134.5
Low-density residential EZEEE 441 7.0
Total CEl 11,239.9 1,607.4

6 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H [58 5 ] 3th 32 4 3 B 40 R A #]



Financial Highlights (continued) m
B 5 i 22 (%)

Balance Sheet Summary EEEERBE
As at 31 December 2016 RZZE—RF+-_A=1+—H
(RMB’000) (AR#FT)

2016 2015
—E-RF —ET—RF
Total assets BEEBR 66,418,413 48,826,872
Total liabilities BfEERE 51,787,120 37,251,015
Total equity HEmBRE 14,631,293 11,575,857
Three Years Financial Highlights = F B i H =
Revenue & ¥ %8 Gross Profit £l Net Profit # Xl
RMB milion AR¥EHET RMB million AR HET RMB million AREBHET
12,000 11,827 3,600 1,100
3,277 1,007
11,000 3,200 1,000 .
10,000 9,572 900
2,800 2,646
9,000 800 783
8,000 2,400
7000 6,976 2,067 700
' 2,000 600
6,000
500
5,000 1,600
400
4,000 1,200
300
3,000 800
2,000 200
1,000 400 100
0 0 0
2014 2015 2016 2014 2015 2016 2014 2015 2016
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Year in Review

45 5 0
2016

14 Jan

Fitch Ratings, an international rating agency,
upgraded the Group's credit outlook to “Positive”
from “Stable” with “B+" corporate credit rating
affirmed.

BERERFAREEE LFAAKRE X EEFME
2mIBE]RAZER] - WHER B+ MEEE

The 20th anniversary ceremony of the Group was
held.

AEBKIL 20 FFEHRESHEIT -

2 HFeb

The Group signed a syndicated loan agreement
with Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited, Nanyang
Commercial Bank (China) Limited and Bank of China
Limited, Macau branch. The facility has upsized to
USD180 million from the existing facility of USD100
million which was announced in August 2015.

REERDEERLET  EAERT(RE) R
R RITRFI D TR T B EE R ik 0 BRSEE—
T\ A LM BRI INE 1 82T -

The Group successfully issued a RMB500 million
non-public domestic corporate bonds.

REBEXRNEBETARKESEILIEAREARRES

The Group successfully redeemed a remaining
principal amount of USD112.5 million 13.875%
senior notes due 2017. Including the senior notes
USD112.5 million redeemed in November 2015, the
Group had redeemed all senior notes due 2017.

AEEKINBEIFSBALEEI1126BET T —+
FHH13.876% BERE - ER_FT-—AF+—AE
O 2 1.1268ETBERE - AKEC T E R
BEZ—tFIHPRRE -

4 HApr

The Group successfully issued a USD250 million
6.525% senior notes at par which was 8.8 times
oversubscribed.

NEBRKINIZEMmMEIT2.5(835706.525% BLEE -
BRI 8.8 -

The Group successfully acquired a high-quality
residential project, Shenzhen Aoyuan Jade Bay, in
Shenzhen, Guangdong.

AEBEREERRAIBEEERE —RIRES

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]



5 HMay

The Group successfully redeemed an aggregate
principal amount of USD100 million 9.25% senior
notes due 2018.

AEBKINEN AR REIRETL S —/\FIH
9.25% BRI -

6 HJun

The Group successfully acquired a high-quality
commercial and residential project, Chengdu
Chenghua Aoyuan Plaza, in Chengdu, Sichuan.

AEERDRIEN ) B E E(EHE — RERER
BES -

94 5ep

Moody’s, an international rating agency, raised the
Group's credit outlook to “Positive” from “Stable”
with “B2" corporate credit rating affirmed.

R (T B I A E 0 EERTRRE
2o (18 = [ - s (2] ke

10 H Oct

Standard & Poor’s, an international rating agency,
raised the Group's credit outlook to “Positive” from
“Stable” with “B" corporate credit rating affirmed.

Ff’%% ARRERATR FRAEEPEEENR
;% ;EEQ (B A2 [E@ | Wi (Bl

The Group successfully issued the non-public
domestic corporate bonds of RMB1.5 billion with a
coupon rate of 5.88%.

NEEKIDIEAABEITAREIGETZHEARGE
% ZMEANEE588% °

Year in Review (continued)

A BE R [l g ()

10 H Oct

The Group successfully acquired a high-quality
residential project, Guangzhou Aoyuan Glorious
Mansion, in Guangzhou.

REEXREEEMNEEEETRE - BNREEE -

11 HNov

The Group successfully acquired two high-quality
residential projects in Sydney of Australia, Altessa
888 Gordon and Mirabell Turramurra.

7 55 [ 7R T W i RO 25 E AR U 888 i b B iy F5 1 A B
BEE=EIAR -

12 HDec

Fitch Ratings, an international rating agency,
upgraded the Group’s corporate credit rating from
“B+" to “"BB-".

AREBERBERERAFARBEEE LHCEEETH
M [B+] &A= [BB-] -

The Group successfully acquired a high-quality
commercial and residential project, Foshan Aoyuan
Peach City, in Foshan, Guangdong.

%%ﬁi%ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂ%%#m@,ﬁéﬁﬁlﬁ B —fhlLREE

The Group successfully acquired a high-quality
commercial and residential project in Ningbo,
Zhejiang.

AREERINPOA TR IEEEMERRE -

The Group successfully acquired a high-quality
commercial and residential project, Yangzhou
Aoyuan Dream House, in Yangzhou, Jiangsu.

AEERNWETHZMNEBEHERE - HMNRE
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M. 2016 Honors and Awards

10

2016 458 R 4EIH

1. Ranked 29th among “2016 China Top 30 Real Estate Developers” by the
China Real Estate Association and China Real Estate Evaluation Center

2. Ranked 5th among “2016 China Top 100 Real Estate Developers — Top 10
in Operational Efficiency” by the China Real Estate TOP10 Research Team

3. Awarded as “Guangdong Province Enterprise of Observing Contract and
Valuing Credit” by Guangzhou Administration for Industry and Commerce
for 17 consecutive years

4. Awarded as “Top 20 Guangdong Property Enterprises with High Credit”
by the branches of big four state-owned commercial banks in Guangdong
Province, and People’s Daily Online for 15 consecutive years

5. Awarded as “The Best Listed Companies with Investor Relations
Management” in the sixth session of the China Securities Gold Bauhinia
Awards Contest hosted by Hong Kong Ta Kung Wen Wei Media Group
Limited

6. Awarded as “CAPITAL Outstanding Chinese Property Developer Group”
by CAPITAL, a well-known financial media in Hong Kong, for 5 consecutive
years

7. Awarded as "China Property Award of Supreme Excellence 2016" by the
Organizing Committee of China Property Award of Supreme Excellence

8. Awarded as Yuan Ye Award 2015 — Gold Award of International Projects

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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10.

11.

12.

2016 Honors and Awards (continued)

Awarded as “Top 30 China Commercial Property Value” by Top 100
China Commercial Property Summit cum China Property Enterprises’
Commercial Value Ranking

Awarded as “2016 TOP 100 China Real Estate Developers” by Guandian
Real Estate New Media

Awarded as “2016 Top 10 Guangdong Province Cross-border
E-commerce Enterprises” by Guangdong Cross-border E-commerce
Industry Association

Ranked 22nd among the “2016 Top 100 Property Management
Enterprises” by China Property Management Institution and China Index
Research Institute

2016 458 [ BEIH (1)

9. HREDMBFEMERRESEPRHFELHEER
AR [P EYEEETOP30 A ]

10. SEB B EFIFEBEEN (2016 FEPREmE
7 TOP100

M. FEEREBREFHSHEREN (2016 FE
BRAEEEEMTE10%]

12. REREYEEIR S N BIE T K FR
) [2016 FHEMERBF AR F224
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Chairman’s Statement
G

Guo Zi Wen
SPHEC
Chairman

FE
Dear Shareholders,

It is my pleasure to present you with the Annual Report of China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2016.

In 2016, the world economy was still under adjustment with
increasing risks brought by changes in various aspects, and the
growth of the world economy has slowed down as compared with
2015. In 2016, the housing policy of China was quite relaxed at first
then continued to be tightened in hot spot cities. Overall, as affected
by monetary easing policy, the periodical tight supply and demand,
as well as rising land prices, housing prices in hot spot cities rose

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

significantly, but became stable after regulatory tightening. Various
kinds of demand continued to lead the market, therefore, transactions

were at high levels and the volume hit historical high.

In 2016, capitalized on favorable policies as well as innovative and
flexible strategies, the Group achieved excellent sales performance
and maintained strong growth momentum with steadily improved
comprehensive strength. The Group recorded total contracted
sales of approximately RMB 25.6 billion as at 31 December 2016,
representing a significant increase of approximately 69% year-on-

year, and exceeding approximately 51% of its full year target.

With its outstanding operational performance, healthy financial
profile and improving brand influence, the Group has been awarded
as“Guangdong Province Enterprise of Observing Contract and
Valuing Credit” for 17 consecutive years; “Top 20 Guangdong
Property Enterprises with High Credit” for 15 consecutive years; and
ranked No. 29 among “2016 China Top 30 Real Estate Developers”
by the China Real Estate Association and China Real Estate Evaluation

Center.

The Group continued to achieve satisfactory progress towards parallel
development in domestic and overseas markets. The recognition
of the local Australian market gained from the Sydney projects
demonstrates the Group's excellent execution capability in overseas
markets. In November 2016, the Group successfully acquired two
high quality residential projects in Sydney, namely Altessa 888
Gordon and Mirabell Turramurra, laying a solid foundation for the
Group's sustainable development in Australia. In March 2017, the
Group acquired a high quality project next to Vancouver CBD, Canada.
The Group will replicate its successful experience in Australia and
develop the Vancouver project by capitalizing on its localization
strategy for overseas development and provide high-end residential

units.

E ()
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

FR ()

In 2016, the Group expanded the cultural tourism segment, and kick
started the Xinhua Town, Yingde Aoyuan International Resort project
to promote the English black tea culture. The project innovatively
develops a “gourmet factory + cultural tourism” model town,
integrating food workshops, spa resorts, animation entertainment,
pastoral farm, science popularization education and ecological habitat.
Meanwhile, the cross-border e-commerce has seen substantial
development. Newly upgraded comprehensive cross-border
e-commerce platforms, including the official online mall (aomygod.
com), mobile APPs and Wechat mall of Aomygod, were officially
launched.

In line with rapid business development, the Group upholds a prudent
financial management while proactively diversifying its onshore
and offshore financing channels, continuously strengthening its
financial position. In 2016, the Group secured a syndicated loan
led by Nanyang Commercial Bank and the facility has upsized to
USD180 million from the existing facility of USD100 million which
was announced in 2015. The Group successfully issued non-public
domestic 4-year corporate bonds of RMB500 million with a coupon
rate of 7.9% and issued non-public domestic 3-year corporate bonds
of RMB1.5 billion with a coupon rate of 5.88%. The Group also
successfully issued USD250 million offshore senior notes due 2019
with a coupon rate of 6.5625%. As of 31 December 2016, the net
gearing ratio of the Group was 50.7% and the cash collection ratio
remained at a relatively industry-high level of 90% realising positive
operating cash flows. In 2016, the Group's credit rating outlook was
successfully upgraded to “Positive” by the three major international
rating agencies, namely Moody's, Standard & Poor’'s and Fitch
Ratings. The Group’s corporate credit rating was upgraded to “BB-"
by Fitch Ratings.

The Group continued to adhere to its land acquisition strategy with
a focus on Tier 1 and 2 cities in 2016. Leveraging its diversified land
acquisition channels, the Group has acquired a number of high quality
land parcels in Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Foshan, Chengdu, Nanning and
Sydney Australia, etc., with the newly added GFA of approximately
3,140,000 sg.m.,
sustainable development. As of 31 December 2016, the Group had

laying a solid foundation for the Company’s

a total land bank of 14.65 million sg.m. in GFA, which is sufficient for

the development needs for approximately five years in the future.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

In the future, the Group will continue to adhere to its development
strategy of “rapid development and rapid sales”. The Group will
enhance its design and management to create quality products with
market competitiveness. The Group will continue to maintain its
disciplined strategy of investing in key regions with good market
prospects and prosperous economy, and promote its parallel
development in domestic and overseas property markets. At the
same time, the Group will maintain prudent financial management
while promoting its rapid and sustainable business development, thus

delivering shareholders with fruitful returns.

Last but not least, it is my great privilege on behalf of the Board
of Directors to extend my gratitude to our shareholders, investors,
business partners, property owners and friends in the media and
general public for their unfailing trust and support. At the same time,
| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude

to our directors, management and staff for their tireless contribution.

Guo Zi Wen

Chairman

Hong Kong, 10 March 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

China Property Market

In 2016, the world economy continued its deep adjustment
and the various changes also led to increasing risks. The
global economic growth has slowed down as compared to
2015. Diverse growth patterns were seen in the developed
economies. The U.S. economic recovery was relatively rapid
while Japan and Europe remained sluggish. The overall
economic growth of emerging markets and developing
economies gradually stabilized. During the year, growth in
international trade remained weak and global capital flow sped
up. Commodity prices recovered amid significant fluctuation
due to capital flows. At the same time, China accelerated
its pace on opening up and was increasingly integrated into
the world economy. China’s economic growth has entered
into a state of “new normal”. Although its economic growth
slowed down to some extent, a medium to high growth
was maintained, which was among the highest in major
economies of the world. Driven by the stable development of
the “One Belt, One Road” initiatives in particular, enterprises
significantly sped up in “going out” with booming overseas
investments and economic cooperation. They have become
important participants in the improvement of infrastructure and
the acceleration of the industrialization process in developing
countries. They also played an essential role in expanding
markets, creating employment opportunities and easing the
debt pressure of developed countries.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

China Property Market (continued)

In 2016, the real estate market reached a new high in this cycle
with the turnover for the whole year breaking new grounds and
differentiated development was seen among cities. Various
regulatory policies of local governments were issued around
the National Day and the market gradually stabilized in the
fourth quarter. The real estate industry witnessed highs as well
as lows in 2016. The “highs” refer to both the sales area and
amount of commodity houses which hit historical highs while
the area for sale continued declining. The “lows” refer to the
growth of the investment in real estate development and the
newly constructed area which maintained at low levels with
the structural adjustment slowing down and increasing risks
on commercial and office inventories. In terms of policy, the
policy environment became tighter and different policies were
introduced in different cities to strictly control market risks. In
2016, the policies for property sector shifted from somewhat
easing to continual tightening in hot spot cities. In terms of
pricing, the property prices in hot spot cities grew significantly,
but became stable after tightening of the regulations. In terms
of turnover, market transactions for the whole year maintained
at high level with turnover structure moving up obviously.
Various demands have emerged and property transactions
maintained at high level. Turnover in commodity residential
buildings in 50 representative cities increased over 20% year-
on-year and the absolute volume hit a new high over the

corresponding periods in history.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Business Review of the Group

On the whole, the housing prices in hot spot cities surged
rapidly due to the accommodative monetary environment,
the periodical tight supply and demand as well as the surging
land price. With its increasingly improved and innovative
sales strategy and the more powerful brand effect, the Group
created new heights in sales results and maintained a strong

development momentum.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group achieved total contracted
sales of approximately RMB25.60 billion, representing an
impressive year-on-year increase of approximately 68.8% and
completed approximately 150.6% of the contracted sales target
for the whole year. Contracted sales area for the year was
approximately 2.980 million sq.m., a year-on-year increase of
approximately 57.9%; average selling price was RMB8,591 per
sg.m., a year-on-year increase of RMB554 per sqg.m. Residential
properties and commercial properties (mainly comprising
commercial apartments and retail shops) accounted for 73.0%
and 27.0%, respectively.

Our sales in 2016 were mainly contributed by the following
projects: Foshan Aoyuan The Prime Palace/Zhuhai Aoyuan
Plaza/Chongging Aoyuan Panlong Yihao/Chengdu Chenghua
Aoyuan Plaza/Foshan Aoyuan Central Parkview/Guangzhou

Aoyuan International Center.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Il

Business Review of the Group (continued)
Details of contracted sales breakdown of the Group by major

projects are as follows:

FEoE (%)
— - AEEXRBORE ()

BEAKBEERAEBE D ZAFHEEFS

T

Project HA Contracted Sales Contracted
Amount Sales Area

ERKEELE CRHEER

(RMB million) (sq.m.)

(AR¥EZTT) (‘FHK)

Foshan Aoyuan Prime Palace FRILBE—5R 1,904 85,726
Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza HKEREES 1,780 92,119
Chongging Aoyuan PanlongYihao EERERESH 1,697 221,838
Chengdu Chenghua Aoyuan Plaza FRCER R EE R E E 5 1,684 177,524
Foshan Aoyuan Central Parkview RILBE AR 1,626 158,423
Guangzhou Aoyuan International Center  EM B EEFE AL 1,237 46,589
Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza EMNERREES 1,216 79,224
Jiaxing Aoyuan Gold Coast RHBERESEF 984 161,332
Bengbu Aoyuan Hanlin Huafu b 1 R [E AR EE AT 871 140,860
Nanhai Aoyuan mERE 826 95,636
One30 Hyde Park Sydney e g EAREN305% 639 5,355
Maison188 Maroubra Sydney FIE BB MA88HR 217 3,716
Others Hith 10,921 1,711,628
Total CE 25,602 2,979,970
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Business Review of the Group (continued)
Pursuing innovation and changes, launching of three new
major upgraded platforms

In September, an inauguration ceremony for the launch of a
cross-border e-commerce platform under Aoyuan Group was
grandly held at the base of Guangzhou Aoyuan cross-border
e-commerce headquarters. Three comprehensive cross-border
e-commerce platforms with upgraded functions, including
the official online mall (aomygod.com), the mobile APPs and
WeChat mall of Aomygod, were officially launched. While
consumers can purchase outstanding products around the
world, Aomygod innovated the community 020 model and the
membership system and established a strong resources-backed
system with the strengthened and abundant property resources
of Aoyuan Group as one of the top 30 property developers in
China, its big data membership system and various commercial
operation experiences. It strives to become a self-operated
and reliable leading cross-border e-commerce O20 brand in
China to promote the development of the domestic cross-
border e-commerce industry. From articles of daily use to light
luxury products, from basic necessities of living to learning,
leisure, safety, health and beauty, to parallel import of vehicles,
Aomygod joins hands with strategic partners and leading teams
in the industry in reshaping the quality life of consumers through

professional shopping around the world.

Increasing land bank and promoting sustainable
development overseas

In November, Aoyuan Group successfully acquired two high-
quality residential projects in Gordon and Turramurra, Sydney,
Australia at a total consideration of A$55.5 million. Both
projects are in key north shore locations of Sydney and are
within 5-minute walking distance to the nearby train stations
and a 30-minute drive from Sydney CBD. The acquisitions will
bolster its land bank and facilitate its building of a sustainable
development business in Australia. Riding on its strong
execution capabilities in overseas projects, Aoyuan will further
foster parallel development in domestic and overseas markets
to enhance the brand influence and to advance the progress
towards internationalisation, thus delivering fruitful returns to its

shareholders and investors.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Business Review of the Group (continued)

New projects introduced to the cultural tourism sector
After the commissioning of Aoyuan Cultural Tourism City
Shaoguan Lingnan Impression in 2014, China Aoyuan Property
Group introduced another cultural tourism project in Yingde
as another major project in developing cultural tourism. In
December, the ground-breaking ceremony for Xinhua Town,
Yingde Aoyuan International Resort (BBE (ZfE) MOJIE/)E)
was held in Yingde City, Guangdong Province. The project
deeply explored the English black tea culture and integrated
the black tea culture and industrial chains into cultural tourism
projects. It also integrated with the food culture, consolidating
on an innovative approach with food workshops, spa resorts,
animation entertainment, pastoral farm, science popularization
education, ecological residence as well as other industries
to create a complete town model with “gourmet factory +
cultural tourism” and achieved complementary development
of industries. Aoyuan Group has made investments in
various towns with the model of “industrial chains + cultural
tourism” across the country, including “zen meditation +
art performance” towns, “intelligent technology + cultural
tourism” towns, “art incubation + tourism” towns and “cross-
border e-commerce + leisure and vacation” towns in many

locations of China.

Land Bank

The Group has adhered to the strategy of focusing on Tier
1 and Tier 2 cities in its development planning. At the same
time, it pursued growth in domestic business in tandem with
overseas business to raise the brand influence and promote
the recognition of Aoyuan internationally. In 2016, the Group
successively acquired a total of 17 high-quality commercial
and residential projects. The newly added GFA available for

development was approximately 3.139 million sg.m.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Iv.

Land Bank (continued)

As at 31 December 2016, the total land bank of the Group
was approximately 14.647 million sg.m., with an average land
cost of approximately RMB1,916 per sq.m. of GFA, among
which 1.912 million sgq.m. of properties were completed,
5.456 million sg.m. of properties were under construction and
7.279 million sg.m. were reserved for future
development. Its businesses have been expanded to
30 cities.

Future Outlook

On the whole, property demands in various kinds continued
to emerge with the properties turnover maintained at a high
level in 2016. The turnover of commercial residential buildings
in 50 representative cities increased over 20% year-on-year
and the absolute volume hit a new high as compared with the
corresponding periods in history. Various regulatory policies
concerning hot spot cities were issued around the National
Day and the market of those representative cities began to
cool down. In terms of turnover structure, the overall prices
of products of all levels in core Tier 1 and Tier 2 cities surged
significantly and the demand for living improvement in hot spot
cities also actively emerged. The turnover structure moved up
with an increase in the proportion of large units.

Looking forward to the future, the turnover and price in the real
estate markets of Tier 1 and Tier 2 cities across the country will
undergo an adjustment period yet different cities will still offered
different market opportunities. Tier 1 cities will enter the era
of inventory houses and the market for the development and
construction of new houses will be squeezed to certain extent.
The vitalization of inventory land and properties driven by the
upgrading of urban industries will be the theme in the future. The
houses rental market is expected to become new opportunities.
As hot Tier 2 cities have little potential in further property price
hikes, the more likely scenario will be “declines in turnover and
prices”. Cities with growing business and population supports
may bring new development opportunities. The policies on most
Tier 3 and Tier 4 cities will remain relaxed. Certain Tier 3 and Tier
4 cities in the Yangtze River Delta and the Pearl River Delta will
see opportunities arising from demand spillovers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

IV. Future Outlook (continued)
In the future, Aoyuan will continue to adhere to its development
strategy of “rapid development and rapid sales” and improve
the regulation and controlling efficiency in all processes.
The Group will enhance project design, develop outstanding
products and strengthen the design of product lines.
Meanwhile, it will start reforms on the management system.
Three Level 2 groups with high autonomy will be created as
new business platforms. It will actively conduct innovation
and deeply implant the idea and seeds of “innovation” into
all business sectors during the development process in the

increasingly competitive era.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Operating Results

The revenue is primarily generated from property development. In
2016, the Group's total revenue was RMB11.83 billion, representing
an increase of RMB2.26 billion or 23.6% over RMB9.57 billion in
2015. Property development revenue, other revenue such as hotel
operation and property investment revenue accounted for 95.0%,

4.4% and 0.6% respectively.

In 2016, the Group's revenue generated from property development
amounted to RMB11.24 billion, representing an increase of RMB1.94
billion or 20.9% over RMB9.30 billion in 2015. The GFA of delivered
properties increased by 57.9% to 1.607 million sg.m. from 1.018
million sg.m. in 2015, while the average selling price decreased by
23.4% to RMB6,993 per square meter from RMB9,130 per square
meter in 2015. This was mainly attributable to the decrease in the
proportion of shops and commercial apartments with higher selling
price from 58% in 2015 to 29%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Operating Results (continued)
Breakdown of property development revenue in 2016 by product

type:
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2ERRXA

Product Em Revenue Area
'ON [EEE
(RMB million) (‘000 sq.m.)
(AE®EHET) (FFHK)
Residential apartments FEELE 7,881.8 1,377.7
Commercial apartments [SEJEN: 1,350.5 88.2
Retail shops and others 72 8 Ko LA 1,963.5 134.5
Low-density residential E=EE=E 44.1 7.0
Total HEt 11,239.9 1,607.4

Gross Profit and Margin

In 2016, the gross profit of the Group was RMB3,277.1 million,
representing an increase of 23.8% over RMB2,646.3 million in 2015,
and the gross profit margin was 27.7%, which was basically the same

as last year.

Other Income, Gains and Losses

In 2016, the other income, gains and losses of the Group recorded
RMB230.8 million net loss, representing an increase of 76.2% over
RMB131.0 million net loss in 2015, which mainly included exchange
loss of RMB472.4 million, interest income of RMB58.8 million,
gain on change in fair value of derivative financial instruments of
RMB142.4 million, and other income of RMB40.4 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B g i B AT (4

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Selling and Distribution and Administrative Expenses
In 2016, total selling and distribution expenses of the Group
were RMB592.3 million, representing an increase of 21.2% from
RMB488.5 million in 2015, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in overall sales, marketing and promotional activities owing
to the increase in contracted sales amount during the year, caused
by the increase in the number of pre-sales properties during the year.
Total administrative expenses increased by 21.8% from RMB401.7
million in 2015 to RMB489.4 million.

Taxation

Income tax expense comprised of PRC EIT, LAT and deferred
taxation. The effective tax rate of 51.7% is higher than the standard
PRC EIT rate of 25%), mainly attributable to LAT of RMB420.9 million.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

In 2016, profit attributable to owners of the Company was RMB881.0
million, representing an increase of 8.5% over RMB812.2 million in
2015. Core net profit (excluding after tax fair value gain on investment
properties and non-recurring income and losses) for the year
amounted to RMB1,237.5 million.

Financial Position

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s total assets amounted to
approximately RMB66,418.4 million (as at 31 December 2015:
RMB48,826.9 million) and total liabilities were approximately
RMB51,787.1 million (as at 31 December 2015: RMB37,251.0

million).

Current ratio was 1.7 as at 31 December 2016 (as at 31 December
2015: 1.9).

Financial Resources and Liquidity

In 2016, the Group's sources of fund primarily included income
generated from business operations, cash from bank and other
borrowings and issuance of senior notes in US dollar and corporate
bonds in RMB, which were used in our business operations and

investment and development of projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Financial Resources and Liquidity (continued)

The Group expects that income generated from business operations
and borrowings will continue to be the main source of funds in the
coming year. Therefore, the Group will continue to strengthen out
cash flow management, improve the efficiency of capital returns of
projects and strictly control the cost and various expenses. Besides,
the Group will continue to explore the opportunities to cooperate with
foreign and domestic investors, in order to provide other sources of

funding for the expansion of projects and business development.

Cash Position

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had cash and bank deposits
of approximately RMB10,470.9 million (as at 31 December 2015:
RMB7,769.0 million). As at 31 December 2016, the Group had
restricted bank deposits of approximately RMB485.6 million (as at
31 December 2015: RMB1,266.6 million) which were reserved for

obtaining bank loans.

As at 31 December 2016, cash, bank deposits and restricted bank
deposits of the Group mentioned above totaled RMB10,956.5
million, of which 98.2% was denominated in Renminbi and 1.8%
was denominated in other currencies (mainly in Hong Kong dollar, US

dollar and Australia dollar).

In 2016, cash collection ratio (total sales proceeds received in
2016 divided by the annual contract sales amount) for the Group's

contracted sales was approximately 90%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Borrowings, Senior Notes, Corporate Bonds and Net
Gearing Ratio

Borrowings, Senior Notes and Corporate Bonds

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had bank and other borrowings
of approximately RMB6,792.8 million (as at 31 December 2015:
RMB7,373.3 million) and senior notes and corporate bonds of
approximately RMB11,587.7 million (as at 31 December 2015:
RMB8,924.4 million) as follows:

PioE (%)
R BERE  RREZRFERE

Fb =

B~ BAERER A AEF
RZTF—R"F+-A=1t—8" $’§I$Eﬁ&
HipfE RO RARKE7IETL(ZE—HF+=
A=1+—B : HARKET37ET ) BRERE
RAREFHRARENBIETL(ZT—0F
TZA=1+—8  HAR%E89.2{87T) - Hh :

31 December 31 December

2016 2015
—B-RF —E—NfF
+=ZA=+—8A +ZH=1+—H
RMB Million RMB Million
AREEET ARKEGHET
Repayment period BRFH
Repayment on demand EHEEREER 811.3 -
Within one year 1FE LA 3,694.6 2,570.3
More than one year, but not 16 LA HBRBIB2F 6,633.6 4,199.3
exceeding two years
More than two years, but not 2F LA HEREBBLF
exceeding five years 7,229.6 9,498.6
More than five years HBIA5F 11.4 29.5
18,380.5 16,297.7

The maijority of borrowings of the Group are floating-rate borrowings,
of which interest rates are subject to negotiation on annual basis, thus
exposing the Group to fair value interest rate risk. As at 31 December
2016, the effective interest rate on borrowings, senior notes and
corporate bonds was 8.1%, which was lower than 9.5% in 2015. The
Group has implemented certain interest rate management policies
which included, among others, close monitoring of interest rate
movements and replacing and entering into new banking facilities

when good pricing opportunities arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Borrowings, Senior Notes, Corporate Bonds and Net
Gearing Ratio (continued)

Borrowings, Senior Notes and Corporate Bonds (continued)

In February 2016, the Group successfully issued 4-year non-public
domestic corporate bonds of RMB500 million for the Group’s

refinancing and general corporate purposes.

In April 2016, the Group successfully issued 3-year offshore senior
notes of US$250 million for the Group's refinancing and general

corporate purposes.

In October 2016, the Group successfully issued 3-year non-public
domestic corporate bonds of RMB1,500 million for the Group’s

refinancing and general corporate purposes.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had credit facilities of
approximately RMB27,051.0 million (as at 31 December 2015:
RMB26,721.3 million) for short-term and long-term borrowings, of
which approximately RMB13,249.7 million (as at 31 December 2015:
RMB10,912.7 million) were unutilized.

Net Gearing Ratio

Net gearing ratio is measured by the net borrowings (total amount
of bank and other borrowings, senior notes and corporate bonds net
of cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits) over the
total equity. As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s net gearing ratio
was 50.7%. The Group has implemented certain loan management
policies, which mainly include close monitoring of the gearing ratio
and any changes in net gearing ratio, and optimization of the bank

credit structure when good pricing opportunities arise.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had the following contingent
liabilities relating to guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
provided by banks to purchasers and banking facilities granted to joint
ventures of the Group amounting to approximately RMB21,584.0
million (as at 31 December 2015: RMB9,239.6 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B g i B AT (4

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Contingent Liabilities (continued)

The Group acted as guarantor to the banks in respect of the mortgage
bank loans granted to certain property purchasers of the Group's and
agreed to repurchase the properties upon the purchasers’ default
on the repayment of the outstanding mortgage loans and the loan
interest accrual thereon. The fair value of the financial guarantee
contracts is not significant at the initial recognition and provision has
not been made as the default rate is low.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has outstanding financial
guarantees issued to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to
joint ventures of the Group. The amount disclosed above represents
the aggregate amounts that could be required to be paid if the
guarantees were called upon in entirety, of which RMB1,150 million
(2015: nil) has been utilised by the joint ventures at the end of the

reporting period.

Commitments

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had construction cost, land
payments and acquisition of subsidiaries payment contracted but
not provided for of approximately RMB11,226.9 million (as at 31
December 2015: RMB9,347.1 million). The Group expects to fund
these commitments principally from sale proceeds of properties and

bank borrowings.

Foreign Currency Risks

Most of the Group’s revenues and operating costs are denominated
in Renminbi. Except for the bank deposits denominated in foreign
currencies, senior notes denominated in US dollar and bank loans
denominated in US dollars and Australia dollars, the Group’s operating
cash flow or liquidity is not directly subject to any other material
exchange rate fluctuations. During the year ended 31 December
2016, the Group has entered into certain foreign currency forward
contracts to keep the net exposure of currency risk to an appropriate
level. The management closely monitors foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure

should the need arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2016, the Group pledged its properties for sales,
plant and equipment, investment properties and restricted bank
deposit of approximately RMB5,950.4 million (as at 31 December
2015: RMB9,444.5 million) to various banks to secure project loans
and general banking facilities granted to the Group.

Events After the Reporting Period

On 4 January 2017, the Company issued senior notes (the “2017
Notes”) in an aggregate principal amount of US$250 million
(equivalent to RMB1,734.25 million) carries interest at 6.35% per
annum and due in 2020. Details of the terms and conditions are
set out in the announcement issued by the Company on 4 January
2017. Up to the date of the issuance of the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group, the net proceeds of approximately
US$244.47 million (equivalent to approximately RMB1,695.87 million)

from the issuance of the 2017 Notes have been fully received.

On 13 January 2017, the Group acquired 60% equity interest of
BE K AMEIF AR AT Zhuhai Laili Technology Co., Ltd. (“Zhuhai
Laili”) with cash consideration of RMB630 million. Zhuhai Laili holds
a parcel of land situated in Zhuhai, the PRC, which is designated for

commercial properties development.

On 24 February 2017, the Group acquired the entire equity
interest of RN EZERAR A Shenzhen Qiuming
Investment Development Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Qiuming”)
with cash consideration of approximately RMB984.93 million.
Shenzhen Qiuming holds two projects under development situated
in Shenzhen, the PRC, which is designated for residential and

commercial properties development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Events After the Reporting Period (continued)

On 1 March 2017, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire a
parcel of land located Vancouver, Canada with cash consideration of
Canadian Dollar 30.6 million (equivalent to RMB161 million), which is

designated for residential and commercial properties development.

On 2 March 2017, the company redeemed an aggregate principal
amount of US$300 million of 2014 Notes, representing entire
principal amount of 2014 Notes, at a redemption price equal to
105.6250% of the principal amount thereof together with all accrued
and unpaid interest.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had 4,460 employees (31
December 2015: 3,761 employees). The Group regularly reviews
remuneration and benefits of its employees according to the relevant
market practice and individual performance of the employees.
Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations, the Group provides
contributions to social insurance of the China and contribution to
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme of Hong Kong for eligible
employees. The Group also provides employees in China with
medical insurance, individual work injury insurance, maternity

insurance and unemployment insurance.
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Biographical Details of Directors gl
R

Back row from left: Mr. Tsui King Fai, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Yang Zhong, Mr. Hu Jiang
Front row from left: Ms. Zhong Ping, Mr. Guo Zi Ning, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Ma Jun
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

= (A

Executive Directors

J—
HITEE
Guo Zi Wen, Chairman
Guo Zi Wen, aged 52, is the founder of the Group, and holds a Master degree
in Business Administration. He is an executive Director, the chairman of the
Board and the Chairman of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Guo is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Guo is mainly responsible
for the formulation of development strategies of the Company, as well as giving

guidance to the Group's project planning, financing and investment.

In 2001, Mr. Guo was honored by national main stream media and China Real
Estate Association as one of the Top 10 Persons in Real Estate Industry. In
2004, Mr. Guo received the China Real Estate Special Contribution Award, and
the China Real Estate Theory Research Contribution Award and was named
one of the Top 10 Outstanding Real Estate Entrepreneurs in the PRC in the

same year. In 2008, Mr. Guo was awarded as one of the Top 10 Outstanding
Entrepreneurs of the Past Three Decades in China Real Estate and was
recognized as one of the Top 30 Leaders in the Residential Construction of
Guangdong. In 2010, Mr. Guo was named “Outstanding Leader” in the event
“Leaders of Real Estate of Guangdong in Ten Golden Years” and in 2011,
Mr. Guo was named “CAPITAL Leader of Excellence 2011". In 2014, Mr.
Guo received the Award of “Outstanding Leaders for the Year” nominated by
Nanfang Media and Peking University. In 2015, Mr. Guo was awarded “2015
Corporate Social Responsibility Outstanding Enterprise Award” (2015{> %t
SE T ESZRE) by Xinhuanet.com (FTEE4). Except for being a Director
of the Company, Mr. Guo has not held any directorship in other publicly listed
companies during the past three years. Mr. Guo is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Ning.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

=R ()

Executive Directors (continued)

HITEE (F)

Guo Zi Ning, Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Guo Zi Ning, aged 55, is an executive Director, a vice chairman and the chief

executive officer. He is also a director of the subsidiaries of the Company,
and holds a Doctor degree in Business Administration. He participated in the
preparation of the Group in 1996, now primarily responsible for commercial
property investment, development and operation, and leads the overall
administration management of the Group. Except for being a Director of the
Company, Mr. Guo has not held any directorship in any other listed public

companies during the past three years. Mr. Guo is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Wen.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

=R ()

Executive Directors (continued)

HITESE ()

Zhong Ping, Chief Financial Officer

Zhong Ping, aged 48, is an executive Director and chief financial officer. Ms.
Zhong is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. She obtained
a Master degree of Accountancy from Jinan University and is a certified tax
advisor and certified accountant. She joined the Group in August 2003 and
is mainly responsible for the financial management, management of listing
performance, internal audit and risk control of the Group. Ms. Zhong has not
held any directorship in the last three years in public companies which are listed

in Hong Kong or overseas.

EY  ARVBE

BY - OH\R - RRTEENRERVWEE - BREINAARRAETHEAR
ZEE  FREMASIEGF BB BM - A MEHED LM Eatam o %
R-FZ=ZF\AMALEE TEAEAKEVBESEERE  LWEEE
B AEREST RARIES c EXEIRBEZFRALENFTEIIRIILTARA
AEEEMEERT -

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]



Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

=R ()

Executive Directors (continued)

HITESE ()

Ma Jun, Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Ma Jun, aged 40, is an executive Director and chief operating officer of the
Group. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company and holds
a bachelor degree in Environmental Engineering awarded by Tianjin University
in the PRC. Mr. Ma is mainly responsible for the management of real estate
development of the Group. Before joining the Group in March 2015, Mr.
Ma worked at F )8 # Z& X2 2 @ (in English, for identification purpose only,
Zhonghai Property Tianjin Company) as deputy general manager and J%&3I[T7T &
RHbE(%E) AR /AT] (in English, for identification purpose only, Shenzhen Ao
Chen Property (Group) Co., Ltd.) as an executive vice president and possesses
more than 15 years of experience in the real estate industry. Mr. Ma has not
held any directorship in the last three years in public companies which are listed

in Hong Kong or overseas.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

= (A

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Yang Zhong

Yang Zhong, aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
in January 2011 and re-designated as a non-executive director of the Company
in February 2016. Mr. Yang is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. He joined the Group in September 2009. He has the qualification of
a PRC registered real estate appraiser and is a registered supervision engineer
with extensive, comprehensive and professional management experience in
the real estate industry in the PRC. Mr. Yang worked in two reputable property
developers prior to joining the Group in September 2009. Except for being a
director of the Company, Mr. Yang has not held any directorship in any other

listed public companies during the past three years.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

=R ()

Independent Non-executive Directors

BAFAITES

Tsui King Fai

Tsui King Fai, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 13 September 2007. Mr. Tsui is the chairman of remuneration committee,
member of audit committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr.
Tsui holds a Master degree of Science in Accountancy and a Bachelor degree
of Business Administration with first class honours awarded by the University
of Houston. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a member of the Chartered Accountants Australia and
New Zealand and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 30 years of extensive experience in accounting,
finance and investment management, particularly in investments in Mainland
China. He had worked for two of the “Big Four” audit firms in Hong Kong and
the United States of America and served in various public listed companies
in Hong Kong in a senior capacity. Currently, Mr. Tsui is an independent non-
executive director of Lippo Limited (226.HK), Lippo China Resources Limited
(156.HK), Hongkong Chinese Limited (655.HK), Vinda International Holdings
Limited (3331.HK) and Newton Resources Limited (1231.HK), all listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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=R ()

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

BMFHITES (&)

Cheung Kwok Keung

o Bl 58

on the Main Board of Stock Exchange.

Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 20 January 2011. Mr. Cheung is the chairman of audit
committee, member of remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Company. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and financial management. Mr. Cheung is the chief financial officer
and company secretary of Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (2314.HK),
the company secretary of Lee & Man Chemical Company Limited (746.HK), and
he was also an independent non-executive director of Sheng Yuan Holdings
Limited (851.HK) until 25 April 2014. All companies mentioned above are listed
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

BMIFHITES (&)

Hu Jiang

=R ()

Hu Jiang, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive director
on 28 February 2014. Mr. Hu is the member of audit committee, remuneration

committee and nomination committee of the Company. He was the principal of

Beijing Normal University (Zhuhai) College of Real Estate from November 2010

to July 2015. Mr. Hu has over 20 years of teaching and research experience in

the fields of geography and real estate. He is a senior economist and has the

qualification of a PRC registered real estate appraiser. He is also a member of

China Real Estate Valuers Association and he appointed as deputy permanent

secretary of China Real Estate Valuers and Agent Association in July 2015. Mr.

Hu holds a degree in science from the Beijing Normal University. Mr. Hu had

been a vice president of the Company from July 2007 to May 2008. Except for

being a director of the Company, Mr. Hu has not held any directorship in any

other listed public companies during the past three years.
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T ACE BN B R m R A

Senior Management

Chan Ka Yeung Jacky

Chan Ka Yeung Jacky, aged 37, is a vice president of the Group, the
president of Australia Company and the head of corporate finance
and investor relations. He graduated from the University of Illinois at
Urbana-Champaign in the United States of America with Bachelor’s
degree in Economics. He has extensive experience in financial
services and investor relations. He had previously been the chief
investment officer and investor relations director of Zhong An Real
Estate Limited and the deputy head and responsible officer of the
capital markets department of Agile Property Holdings Limited. He
joined the Group in October 2013 and is now mainly responsible for
the operation and management of Hong Kong and Australia office,
development of overseas projects, corporate finance, investor

relations, as well as other capital markets related affairs of the Group.

Zhang Jun

Zhang Jun, aged 40, is a vice president of the Group. He graduated
from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law, majoring in
Marketing and studied in Wuhan University with a minor in Industrial
and Civil Architecture. He had served as a deputy general manager of
operation and marketing and vice president in renowned companies
such as Wanda Group and Yurun Group. He joined the Group in
February 2015 and is currently responsible for the management of the

commercial development of the Group.

Miao Si Hua

Miao Si Hua, aged 52, is a vice president of the Group. He graduated
from Tongji University with a Bachelor Degree in Heat Ventilating
and Air Conditioning Engineering of Civil Engineering. He has
extensive experience in engineering. He had previously worked
as the general manager of Zhongtian Urban Development Group
Commercial Company and the responsible officer of Powerlong
Commercial Group, Henan District and the general manager of
Zhengzhou Powerlong. He joined the Group in September 2013 and
is now mainly responsible for the management of the property and

investment operation of the Group.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]

BREEAE

REH

Rz =T+ RAKERER  BMNA
ARHRCENERNEEBERBE - HRE
BFAMNEAZEEIRCESLD LR - fF
LESRRBEEREEBERLES - BREARE
FEARAGIEEREERKREEMREER
HE M EERBR AR EARMIG R BT
BEA -BRZZE—=F+ANMALREE " 1
TEBERBLBRMARKLEERE - JBINER
HE CERERKREEBRSEERATSER
FEHTAE ©

R

SRI& - PO15% - RAKERIBE - WRTREE
RBOEAREMHEHEAREE - ANHEKRS
BETREER  IRESEXE - WEKES
%%@ﬁ@%%@w~ﬁwﬁ#%°ﬁm:s
—HFE-AMAAREE REXEBAEAEERD
EHAENELEETIE-

ﬁ

o

/

E&i Ei
+Ht

CRETIR AAEBERIRH o BRE
/K¥Zqi$1&¢ﬁ@ HZEH TR
BB - WEELE TRREHR - HEIPX
WIREBEEER @% - ERERESETE
REBEARBMNERBLRE - FR-2F—=
inHMAKEIvEEEQEK%E%¥&
BEEENKEEBETIE -

I
E



Profile of Senior Management and Company Secretary (continued)

R AR BN B K w R E A (B

Senior Management (continued)

Chen Yong

Chen Yong, aged 41, is a vice president of the Group. He obtained
a Bachelor degree from Zhongnan University of Economics and
Law. He has extensive experience in fund management. He had
served in some well-known companies such as Vanke, Gemdale
and Logan Property. He joined the Group in June 2014, and is now
mainly responsible for the investment and financing management,
fund management and risk control of funding for the real estate
development of the Group.

Mai Ze Nian
Mai Ze Nian, aged 38, is a vice president of the Group. He graduated

from the Foshan University, possessing extensive experiences in
sales planning, operational management and marketing. He had
served as a general manager of marketing and executive president
in renown property companies such as Country Garden and
Chaochuang Group, etc. He joined the Group in September 2015, and
is now mainly responsible for the marketing and branding of the real

estate development of the Group.

Xiao Yi

Xiao Yi, aged 45, is a vice president of the Group and the president of
the Chongqing district company. He graduated from the Chongging
Institute of Architecture and Civil Engineering, possessing extensive
experiences in engineering, cost and design management. He had
served as a deputy general manager of engineering and general
manager in Winsan (Shanghai) Industrial Corporation and Chongging
Longfor Properties, etc. He joined the Group in June 2009 and is
now mainly responsible for the operation and management of the
Chongging district company and business development in the region.
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Profile of Senior Management and Company Secretary (continued)

R AGE BN B R d R E A ()

Senior Management (continued)

Qin Lang

Qin Lang, aged 47, is a vice president of the Group and general
manager of Guangzhou Company. He graduated from Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law, majoring in Economic Laws. He
had served as a deputy general manager and general manger in
A) and FEEMEETRZ
‘A A]. He joined the Group in June 2015 and is currently responsible

renowned companies such as TR EEM A

for the operation and management and new project development of
Guangzhou Company of the Group.

Zhou Xian Jun

Zhou Xian Jun, aged 49, is an assistant to president of the Group. He
obtained a Bachelor degree from Zhongnan University of Economics
and Law. He had previously been worked in Guangdong Yonghua
Law Firm, Global Kingway Law Firm and Guangdong Baike Law
Firm. He joined the Group in December 2010, and is now mainly
responsible for land development, legal risk control of the Group and

investment and management of overseas projects.

Gao Xiang Dong

Gao Xiang Dong, aged 41, is an assistant to president and the chief
architect of the Group. He obtained his Master degree from South
China University of Technology. He has extensive experience in
design management. He joined the Group in April 2012, and is now
mainly responsible for the research and design for the real estate

development of the Group.
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Profile of Senior Management and Company Secretary (continued)

AR BN B B w) B E A

Senior Management (continued)

Chen Zhi bin

Chen Zhi bin, aged 35, is an assistant to president of the Group and
director of finance centre. He graduated from Sun Yat-sen University
with a Bachelor Degree in Finance. He had served as an audit
manager and general manager of finance in renowned companies
such as Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Limited and Fantasia
Holdings Group Co., Limited etc. He joined the Group in August 2014,
and is now mainly responsible for the financial management of the

Group.

Cheng Yao

Cheng Yao, aged 42, is an assistant to president of the Group. He
graduated from Chongging University with a Bachelor Degree in
Business Administration. He had served as the general manager
and general manager of investment in renowned companies such
as Songcheng Group (K3 % &) and Wanda Cultural Tourism Group
(BENKEE), etc. He joined the Group in August 2016, and is
now mainly responsible for the management of cultural and tourism

company of the Group.

Company Secretary

Kuok Yew Lee

Kuok Yew Lee, aged 40, is the Company Secretary. She is an
associate member of both The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries (“HKICS"), and a holder of the Practitioner’s
Endorsement issued by HKICS. She also holds a Master of Business
Administration in International Management from the University of
London.
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» Land Bank
-+ Hbfik 5

Domestic Land bank

Project Name Location Product Type (thousand sq.m)
1 Guangzhou Nanguo Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou Integrated residential community 149.5
2 Guangzhou Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 22.2
3. Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou Integrated residential community 52.0
4 Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan Nansha, Guangzhou Integrated residential community 42.1
B Guangzhou Guo Ao Investment Nansha, Guangzhou Hotel, commercial properties, offices 46.5

Development Centre and high-rise apartments
6. Guangzhou Aoyuan Hai Jing Cheng Nansha, Guangzhou Commercial properties, offices and high-rise apartments 7.3
7. Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 158.5
8. Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 9.9
9. Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 45
10.  Guangzhou Aoyuan International Center  Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 248.1
11.  Guangzhou Aoyuan Spring Garden Huangpu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 9.3
12.  Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 47.1
13.  Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza Zengcheng, Guangdong  High-rise apartments, commercial properties 293.7
14.  Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza Huangpu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 241.7
15.  Guangzhou Aoyuan Lianfeng State Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 280.8
16.  Guangzhou Aoyuan Glorious Mansion Zengcheng, Guangdong  Integrated residential community 138.3
17.  Shenzhen Aoyuan Jade Bay Pingshan New District, High-rise apartments, commercial properties 217.8
Shenzhen
18.  Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza Zhuhai, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 270.8
19.  Foshan Aoyuan The Prime Palace Foshan, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 116.2
20.  Nanhai Aoyuan Foshan, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 182.4
21.  Foshan Aoyuan Central Parkview Foshan, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 182.1
22. Foshan Aoyuan Peach Clty Foshan, Guangdong Integrated residential community 157.9
23.  Huizhou Aoyuan Yushan Lake Huizhou, Guangdong Integrated residential community, commercial properties 339.3
24.  Zhongshan Aoyuan Garden Life Zhongshan, Guangdong ~ High-rise apartments, commercial properties 44.8
25.  Zhongshan Aoyuan Zhongshan, Guangdong  Integrated residential community 453
26.  Zhongshan Aoyuan Jinyu Zhongshan, Guangdong  High-rise apartments, commercial properties 91.9
27.  Jiangmen Aoyuan Jiangmen, Guangdong Integrated residential community 8.3
28.  Jiangmen Aoyuan Waitan Jiangmen, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 1133
29.  Meizhou Aoyuan Peninsula View Meizhou, Guangdong Integrated residential community 279.8
30.  Jiaoling Aoyuan Plaza Meizhou, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 50.9
31.  Wuhua Aoyuan Plaza Meizhou, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 127.6
32.  Meizhou Aoyuan Meizhou, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 256.0
33.  Wuhua Aoyuan Park Alley Meizhou, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 25.2
34.  Aoyuan Cultural Tourism City Shaoguan, Guangdong Integrated residential community 678.7
Shaoguan Lingnan Impression

35.  Yangjiang Aoyuan Central Parkview Yangjiang, Guangdong Integrated residential community 313.0
36. Fogang Aoyuan Qingyuan, Guangdong Low-density residential, commercial properties 383.3

46 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]



© 0 N o g bk N =

W W W W WWWNRNDNRNDNDNDNNDNRNRN= = = S o s s s
0 A WN = O 00N AEWN= O 000NN = O

ENEERE
EMRE

ENEBRE
RN RE

N BRI E R L

ENRE SR
BN R E 5
EMNRERLES
FEMREBEA
FEM R E B
ENREFS
ENMBER TR
EMREERES
BN R EES
EMREEEESR
BN R E e
RYREFRRE

WEREES
GNES R
FERE
HILRE AR5
3B 1L B[R A 1M =
N R EZ LA
I REFEEE
LR E

L BE S
IFIRE
TPIRESNE
WINRE+LE—5%
EERERES
FEREES
N RETIRE
REARFLEE
BB L hR b R

BTREAE %
GEESE

IR %R

EMNTmEER
EMTERR
EMTERR
BN E
BN
BEMTELE
BEMNmEER
BEMHERRR
BEMHERRR
BEMNHERRR
BN EER
BENHERRER
ERERHE
BN AR
BEMTERRE
BN TS
RN
EREIREN
BERE LT
ERE LT
ERE LT
BREGL™T
BERAEEMT
BERAEHR LT
BEREHRWUT
BEREHRWUT
EREIM™
EREIM™
BEREMEMNT
BEREMMNH
EREEME
EREEMT
BERAEMMNT
ERERED
EREBGTIH
EREFEN

BE RFBLREAE

BELK -

B

I R I R S

ST e g g | g

2

~
=
-

I

L g e T e

~
=
—

E

~
=
~

23

it
>

i 2
™

NS
Sit
<
=
e

Tt
>

Ei

HHBEEBEDEENEDEEBEEEEESEEEE N

s e

B0

B

3

3F 2F
B 0> 0> m i 08 1 D) i 0> I D) o 0> 0> o 08 08 m o 0> 8 me) ol o6 D8 D8

~
=
-
D,
im0|

.

NSES

[GES

NSES
NSES
NS
NS
NE
N
NE
NE

NS
NE S
SES
N
NE

NE
NE

NS
NE
NE
NE

NE
NE S

REEEE 8%

Land Bank (continued)

+ o fit it ()

149.5
22.2
52.0
421
46.5
71.3

158.5

9.8
4.5
248.1
9.3
471

28187

241.7

280.8

138.3

217.8

270.8

116.2

182.4

182.1

157.9

BEONS
44.8
45.3
91.©

8.3

113.3

279.8
50.9

127.6

256.0
25.2

678.7

313.0

383.3

Annual Report 2016 —R—N4E4EHR

|-I
B

47



Land Bank (continued)

+ o ft it (%)

37.  Qingyuan Aoyuan Qingyuan, Guangdong Low-density residential, commercial properties 101.9
38.  Xinhua Town, Yingde Aoyuan Qingyuan, Guangdong Integrated residential community 756.5
International Resort
39.  Yunfu Aoyuan City Plaza Yunfu, Guangdong Integrated residential community 255.3
40.  Chongaing Aoyuan City of Health Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 57.6
41.  Chongging Aoyuan Jinyu Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 1.2
42.  Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 17.9
43.  Chongging Aoyuan Shuiyunjian Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 40.9
44.  Chongaing Aoyuan City Plaza Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 167.0
45.  Chongging Aoyuan Beyond Era Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 369.2
46.  Chongaing Aoyuan Panlong Yihao Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 354.7
47.  Liuyang Aoyuan Plaza Changsha, Hunan High-rise apartments, commercial properties 148.9
48.  Zhuzhou Aoyuan Edinburgh Zhuzhou, Hunan Integrated residential community 12.7
49.  Zhuzhou Aoyuan Shennong Health City  Zhuzhou, Hunan Integrated residential community, commercial properties 306.5
50.  Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza Zhuzhou, Hunan Integrated residential community, commercial properties 378.3
51.  Jiangxi Aoyuan Ganzhou, Jiangxi Integrated residential community 216.6
52.  Ningdu Aoyuan Plaza Ganzhou, Jiangxi High-rise apartments, commercial properties 125.9
53.  Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis Shenyang, Liaoning Integrated residential community 1,007.2
54.  Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza Shenyang, Liaoning Integrated residential community 563.5
55.  Nanning Aoyuan Shangzhu Nanning, Guangxi Integrated residential community 74.3
56.  Nanning Aoyuan MingMen Nanning, Guangxi Integrated residential community 142.9
57.  Nanning Aoyuan Langting Nanning, Guangxi Integrated residential community 67.1
58.  Nanning Aoyuan Hande Xuefu Nanning, Guangxi High-rise apartments, commercial properties 2074
59.  Nanning Aoyuan Yonghe Mansion Nanning, Guangxi High-rise apartments, commercial properties 127.6
60.  Nanning Aoyuan Yuanzhu Nanning, Guangxi High-rise apartments, commercial properties 153.9
61.  Yulin Aoyuan Yulin, Guangxi Integrated residential community 396.7
62.  Yulin Aoyuan City of Health Yulin, Guangxi Integrated residential community 647.5
63.  Yulin Aoyuan Plaza Yulin, Guangxi High-rise apartments, commercial properties 404.4
64.  Kunshan Aoyuan Suzhou, Jiangsu High-rise apartments, commercial properties 77.3
65.  Yangzhou Aoyuan Dream House Yangzhou, Jiangsu Low-rise residentials 36.5
66. Jiaxing Aoyuan Gold Coast Jiaxing, Zhejiang High-rise apartments, commercial properties 202.3
67. Ningbo Aoyuan Project Ningho, Zhejiang High-rise apartments, commercial properties 240.5
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Land Bank (continued)
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Land Bank (continued)

ki (7))

Anhui Province

68.  Bengbu Aoyuan Washington Park Bengbu, Anhui High-rise apartments, commercial properties 190.7

69. Bengbu Aoyuan Ginza Bengbu, Anhui High-rise apartments, commercial properties 477.3
Sichuan Province

70.  Chengdu Chenghua Aoyuan Plaza Chengdu, Sichuan High-rise apartments, commercial properties 578.1
Australia

71.  0ne30 Hyde Park Sydney Sydney, Australia High-rise apartments 15.0

72.  Maison 188 Maroubra Sydney Sydney, Australia Mid and high-rise apartments 5.8

73.  Mirabell Turramurra Sydney Sydney, Australia Mid and high-rise apartments 6.7

74.  Altessa 888 Gordon Sydney Sydney, Australia Mid and high-rise apartments 12.8

50 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited 58 5[5 b 75 45 [8 B A R ]
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Major Projects

HHE H

o

L2

il
)l
Sic F-
-
ongagi F-
L~
HE
Hunan
B
5
S~
s &
- G angﬁu
| i =53 . =
Guangxi  yynff = |l Y
™ ang

L2

e
ZH
Anhui

!ﬁ
PN
Jiangxi

=}

huhai

| 2

e

JLER

Jiangsu

2

e
AT
Zhejiang

52 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited o[22 [52] 1 2 45 [ 4 A R 23 )

Major Projects:
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Project Summary @

JH H e %

GUANGZHOU AOYUAN INTERNATIONAL CENTER
= B B R AR

Artists impressions for referencel

GUANGZHOU AOYUAN INTERNATIONAL E M. - 3== DI
CENTER

Guangzhou Aoyuan International Center is located at the heart of EMNEREEERANMIAEMNEERREER
Wanbo CBD, Guangzhou. Wanbo is a key integrated CBD designated SEOHEE c BEERTESITENEGA
by the government, which will become the core region attracting REKE BRKAEBEFHRTHMN  BETEH
people with high income in Zhujiang New Town, Panyu, Nansha and B Y EREEEEAOBNZELRE -
surrounding regions.

The project has a GFA of approximately 250,000 sg.m., consisting of EHAREMBEN2BELHK  RERRE

grade A offices, boutique apartments, star-rated hotels, and a themed FTE -RBRAE EREE FEREEE
commercial street, etc. The project boasts convenient transportation. ZiEERE HEMERIRBER  FEHN
It takes only around 10 minutes by newly built Metro Line #7 to the 7SR BEEED  E4100EEEMNT
city centre of Guangzhou. =aPTNE
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 (4)

Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza

EMeErREES

GUANGZHOU LUOGANG AOYUAN PLAZA

Located at the junction of Kaichuang Road and Kailuo Road in
Huangpu district, Guangzhou, Luogang Aoyuan Plaza is close to the
Huangpu municipality, Guangzhou International Sports Arena, and
well-known schools such as Yulan Secondary School and Xiangxue
Primary School. It is the administrative, economic, cultural and
business hub of new Huangpu.

With GFA of approximately 330,000 sg.m., the project comprises a
large shopping centre, a themed shopping street, grade A offices,
apartments, etc.. It is the only property above the Xiangxue Station
of Metro Line #6, with two metro exits connecting to the themed
shopping street and the grade A office building. It takes 10 minutes
from the project to Huangpu, and 20 minutes to Tianhe District,
Guangzhou and Guangzhou Baiyun Internation Airport.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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One30 Hyde Park Sydney

e EAE 1305

ONE30 HYDE PARK SYDNEY

One30 Hyde Park Sydney is the first overseas project Aoyuan has
developed under the strategy of parallel development in domestic
and overseas markets. It is well-located in the heart of the Sydney
CBD, and at the junction of Liverpool Street and Elizabeth Street.
The design is a 38-storey building with approximately 140 luxury
residential apartments.

One30 Hyde Park Sydney looks north over nearly 200,000 sg.m.
green area of Hyde Park to the Opera House and Sydney Harbour,
enjoying a stunning 280-degree view. It is in close proximity to
the Sydney Tower, the landmark, the Chinatown, the major tourist
destination, Australian Museum, the oldest museum in Australia,
and Royal Botanic Gardens. Furthermore, the project enjoys mature
facilities on its peripheral area, with the heritage listed Museum
Station directly connected to the project.

Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 (4)

ArtistsMmpressions for referencel
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 (4)

Altessa 888 Gordon Sydney

eI E 888 5%

ALTESSA 888 GORDON SYDNEY

Altessa 888 Gordon Sydney is well located in the heart of northern
shore area of Sydney, Australia with a GFA of approximately 13,000
sqg.m.. The project, including three elegant premises and an aggregate
of 144 boutique residential apartments, was designed by Nettleton
Tribe, a famous Australian architect.

Boasting convenient transportation, Altessa 888 Gordon Sydney is
only 5-minute walk from the nearby railway station, and only 30-minute
drive from downtown of Sydney. The northern shore area of Sydney
is a local high-end residential area with lovely and comfortable living
environment. The project is also close to various elite schools, such as
Pymble Ladies College, Gordon East Public School and Knox Grammar
School. It only takes 15-minute drive from the project to internationally
renowned universities, namely Macquarie University and University of
Technology Sydney Lindfield Campus.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B [5] 3 2 45 5] e 4 A B A 7]
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Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza
REREES

ZHUHAI AOYUAN PLAZA

Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza is well situated in Xiangzhou district, the new
administrative center of Zhuhai, Guangdong. The project has quick
access to Hong Kong, Macau, Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Zhongshan and
Foshan within an hour.

With GFA of approximately 270,000 sg.m., the project is an
international urban complex comprising a large shopping mall,
a themed shopping street, grade A office buildings, boutique
apartments and a star-rated hotel, etc.. The project is in close
proximity to a number of government facilities such as the Xiangzhou
municipality and the intermediate court. In addition, it is surrounded
by three famous attractions with beautiful views, namely the Meixi
Scenic Area, Agricultural Science Wonder and Putuo Temple.
Enjoying quality education resources, it is also close to elite schools
such as Zhuhai No. 1 Secondary School, Zhuhai No. 15 Primary
School, Beijing Normal University, Zhuhai.

The project has been awarded successively as “China’s Exemplary
Pilot Residential Project” by the Zhuhai Municipal People's
Government Office, “Project with Most Investment Value in
Guangdong, Hong Kong, Macau by China (Macau) Financial Entities”
and “Urban Renovation Contribution Award for 2016 by MallChina”.

Project Summary (continued)
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Project Summary (continued)
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Foshan Aoyuan The Prime Palace

1711 B E — R

FOSHAN AOYUAN THE PRIME PALACE

Foshan Aoyuan the Prime Palace is well located in Guangdong
Financial Hi Tech Service Zone in Foshan, Guangdong, benefiting
from urban integration between Guangzhou and Foshan. With a GFA
of approximately 120,000 sqg.m., the project consists of boutique
apartments ranging from 97 to 146 sg.m.. The sports and health-
themed apartments integrate intelligent home service, which is a
perfect blend of urban health and internationalized quality.

The project is in close proximity to the Financial Hi-Tech Zone
station of Foshan Metro Line no. 1, which connects to the
Guangzhou Metro. It is only a 20-minute drive from the project
to Guangzhou Railway South Station, the largest railway hub in
South China, a 40-minute drive to Guangzhou Baiyun International
Airport, and a 35-minute drive to central areas of Guangzhou,
including Zhujiang New Town and North Tianhe. The project is
close to Qiandeng Lake Park, the landmark of Nanhai District,
and possesses extensive auxiliary facilities, including well-known
schools, large scale shopping centres, and five-star hotels, etc.
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Project Summary (continued)
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Foshan Aoyuan Central Parkview
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FOSHAN AOYUAN CENTRAL PARKVIEW

Foshan Aoyuan Central Parkview is located in Nanhai district of
Foshan, Guangdong. Spreading along the side of Xiaode Lake with
three large parks surrounded, the project boasts to be an “urban
oasis” and a “natural oxygen bar”. It is a rare high quality lakeside
community in Nanhai district and even in Foshan and Guangzhou.

With GFA of approximately 290,000 sg.m., the project consists of
high quality residences and a lakeside commercial street. It has
convenient access to the Luocun Station and Foshan West Station
of Guangzhou-Foshan Metro Line #3 and the Foshan Shadi Airport.
The district has rich cultural, medical and educational resources.

With its unique landscape and ingenious design, Foshan Aoyuan
Central Parkview was awarded as the “Best Residential Project”
and the “Best Livable Project for 2016".
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Project Summary (continued)
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Chengdu Chenghua Aoyuan Plaza
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CHENGDU CHENGHUA AOYUAN PLAZA

Chengdu Chenghua Aoyuan Plaza is located at inner East Central,
Chenghua District, Chengdu, a property above metro station. It has
a full range of ancillary facilities in transportation, education and
community.

With a GFA of approximately 640,000 sg.m., the project comprises
urban luxury residence, large leisure commercial street, high-end
offices and boutique hotels, etc.. It is surrounded by a river and three
parks, offering a charming natural landscape in Chengdu.

The project is Aoyuan's first project in Chengdu. Since its launch in
2016, it won various awards, such as “Project with Most Investment
Value in Commercial Property for 2016 in West China”, and “2016
Consumer Favorable Project List in Chengdu”.
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Project Summary (continued)
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Chongqging Aoyuan Panlong Yihao
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CHONGQING AOYUAN PANLONG YIHAO

Chongging Aoyuan Panlong Yihao is located in Panlong New Town,
Jiulongpo District, Chongging, which is a well-developed residential,
business and commercial area. With GFA of approximately 460,000
sg.m., the project will become a new center of Jiulongpo District
which integrates residential apartments, a shopping mall, a themed
shopping street, boutique hotels and grade A offices.

Enjoying convenient transportation networks, the project has quick
access to Lines #2 and #5 of the light rail, the city ring expressway
and about 70 bus routes. It takes 10 minutes to the business district
of Nanping and 20 minutes to Jiefangbei CBD. In addition, the project
is also adjacent to a full range of ancillary facilities including schools,
healthcare institutions and parks.
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Project Summary (continued)
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Jiaxing Aoyuan Gold Coast
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JIAXING AOYUAN GOLD COAST

Jiaxing Aoyuan Gold Coast is located in the eastern segment of the
Jiaxing, Zhejiang which is a key developing area designated by the
government. The project has quick access to main roads, including
Chengdong Road and Zhonghuan East Road. The project enjoys
convenient transportation, it is also adjacent to the Jiaxing Railway
Station and High-speed Rail station, residents can reach Shanghai,
Hangzhou, Suzhou and Ningbo etc. within an hour.

The project has a GFA of approximately 200,000 sg.m., consisting
of high-rise apartments and a commercial street. It boasts an
alluring natural setting which commands a 1.6 km waterfront
along the Changxian River. The project is in close proximity to an
extensive range of educational and living facilities. The prestigious
Tanghui Experiential School is within walking distance, and there
are a community medical service center and a series of community
commercial services within the project.

The project offers a modern French style landscape and a wide
variety of sports facilities, such as basketball courts, tennis courts,
playground, and recreational areas for senior citizens, every of
which embodies Aoyuan's brand philosophy of “Building a Healthy
Lifestyle”.
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Bengbu Aoyuan Washington Park
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BENGBU AOYUAN WASHINGTON PARK U 52 B T
Bengbu Aoyuan Washington Park is situated at the side of Longzi Lake, ISR EENUNZHEETERLIASRE

a national 4A scenic area in Bengbu, Anhui, commanding the stunning FOARE - EELSE - BEEmMBELNIEF
scenery. With GFA of approximately 330,000 sg.m., the project consists FoK o RERIE - EEMEEMEISHED -

of low density residences, lake-side apartments and a themed shopping

street.

Aiming to create an ecological habitat environment, the project features SABBRARERABIES  HIRBEEREFEMNGED
a fusion of the Mediterranean royal style and the charming view of BEREERBEEFHNBRRE R A —

Longzi Lake. It is close to the civil square, elite schools, starrated hotels, Mo IgE EERmETEE  BRTMRES - Tl
recreational and business centers, grade A offices and high-end clubs, 2R BEOAE - KBEESL BHEET
enjoying rich auxiliaries. - 2memsE o

The project was awarded as “the Most Influential Project Brand in BB SGARERR [ FESENDEEDTE] LA
Bengbu” and “the Most Popular High-end Project in Bengbu™. EIREARSIHELRE] -
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Investor Relations

P& B R

The Group has always attached importance to and maintained a long-
term stable relationship with shareholders and investors. The Group
timely disseminated true and accurate information about the Group to
investors through a variety of channels, strived to maintain a smooth
and effective mutual communication with investors, with a view to
enhance the investors’ understanding and recognition of the Group's
business development, so as to consolidate and expand the investor
base, which will help the Group to diversify its financing channels,

reduce its borrowing costs and optimize its debt structure.

During the year under review, the Group actively communicated with
investors, organized and participated in an aggregate of 283 investor
relations activities, including results announcement presentation,
management meetings, roadshows and investor conferences held in
places such as Hong Kong, Shanghai, Beijing, Singapore, London and
Sydney as well as project site visit. The Group met with more than
800 representatives from various investment institutions with a view
to enhance investor’s awareness of the Group's latest development
in business performance, operating conditions and development

strategies, etc.
The Group regularly disseminated the latest information through

announcements, press releases, monthly newsletter and corporate

website in a proactive and timely manner.
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Investor Relations (continued)

B BlR ()

Investor relations activities in 2016 Investment institutions by region

2016 FREERBTHER

Investors
Presentations
Investors and Press

Roadshows and nQOerre/rlceS
Conferences IRAEHNER
BEAERE EEme
Rigg 4 times)X
17 timesiX

Site Visits
HE2H

16 timesi&

Management
Meeting
Tele/Video ﬁﬁg@;\%
Conferences 198 times/X
BRI R
48 times X

REMBERBES

North America
ik
17%

PRC and
Hong Kong
B
Europe 42%
BOM

19%

Asia Pacific (excluding
PRC and Hong Kong)
TRBHE)
22%

Note: Asia pacific (excluding PRC and Hong Kong) includes Singapore, Taiwan, Japan, Malaysia and Australia; North America includes United States and Canada
it EX (BFE) BN BE - A BRAEREN  ALFEEEEERNEAX

The Group is committed to maintain professional and effective
investor relations management. We will continue to optimize investor
relations operations, and maintain mutual communications with
investors to effectively enhance the investors’ understanding of the
Group. Meanwhile, we will uphold an open and frank attitude to listen
to the views from the capital market and maintain the Group's high

transparency, fostering the sustainable development of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) recognizes the importance of maintaining
a high standard of corporate governance to protect and enhance the
benefits of shareholders. The Board and Senior Management of the
Company recognized their responsibility to maintain the interest of
the shareholders and to enhance their value. The Board also believes
a deliberate policy of corporate governance can facilitate a company
in rapid growth under a healthy governance structure and strengthen
the confidence of shareholders and investors.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Board periodically reviews the corporate governance practices
of the Company to ensure that the practices continue to meet the
requirements of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
The Company has applied the principles of the CG Code. For the
year ended 31 December 2016, the Company has complied with the
provisions of the CG Code.
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Corporate Governance Structure
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Upon specific enquiry by the
Company, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2016.

Board of Directors

The board of the Company currently comprises four executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors, providing leadership and guiding the
management. Independent non-executive Directors represent one-
third of the Board. The Company fully complied with the requirements
in relation to independent non-executive directors set out in Rule
3.10 of Listing Rules. The biographical details of each Directors are
set out on pages 33 to 41. Our Board possesses a balance of skills
and experience appropriate for the requirements of the Company's
business. The Directors of the Company possess management,
finance and accounting professional qualifications with extensive
experience in diversified business.

The Board members up to the date of the annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer)
Ms. Zhong Ping (chief financial officer)

Mr. Ma Jun (chief operating officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Zhong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to
determine overall strategic direction and objectives, approve interim
and annual results, and discuss other significant matters on the
businesses and operations of the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2016, a total of 7 Board meetings were held. Details of
the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings are set out under

“Directors’/Committee Members' Attendance at Meetings” below.

The Board is responsible to the shareholders for providing effective
leadership, and ensuring transparency and accountability of the
Group’s operations. It sets the Company’s values and aims at
enhancing shareholders’ value. It formulates the Group's overall
strategy and policies and sets corporate and management targets,
key operational initiatives as well as policies on risk management
pursuant to the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration
and operations of the Group’s business to the management of the
relevant segments and divisions. The management is responsible for
the implementation and adoption of the Company’s strategies and
policies. The delegated functions and tasks are periodically reviewed
by the Board.

There is no relationship among members of the Board except that Mr.
Guo Zi Wen is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Ning.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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Directors’/Committee Members’ Attendance at
Meetings

EE ZEEREHESEBR

Meeting Attended/Held During the Year Ended
31 December 2016
B2-2-RE+-A=1-RLEBHE /ST8ENE

Board
Bxpg Bz
Executive Directors (“ED") BITES
Mr. Guo Zi Wen PEXEE i
Mr. Guo Zi Ning PRELE i
Ms. Zhong Ping B¥at Vi
Mr. Ma Jun SELE M
Non-Executive Director (“NED")  F#{TEE
Mr. Yang Zhong BALE i
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors (“INED")

Mr. Tsui King Fai GEBLE n
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung REJE A i
Mr. Hu Jiang i i

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Guo Zi Wen is the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Guo Zi Ning
is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Chairman of the
Board is responsible for the overall strategic development of the
Group’s operation. The Chief Executive Officer, on the other hand, is

principally responsible for the overall management of the Group.
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Committee Committee
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Non-executive Directors

Each of the existing independent non-executive Directors and non-
executive Director has been appointed for a term of one year, subject
to the provision of retirement and rotation of directors under the

Articles of Association of the Company.

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors.
Two of the independent non-executive Directors have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial

management expertise.

The Company has received confirmations of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-

executive Directors and considers them to be independent.

Under code provision A.4.3 of the CG Code, for independent non-
executive Director who has served the Company for more than
9 years, his/her further appointment will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the shareholders at the general meeting
and the papers to the shareholders accompanying that resolution will
include the reasons that the Board believes he/she is still independent
and should be re-elected.

Mr. Tsui King Fai who has been serving as independent non-executive
Director of the Company for more than 9 years, has confirmed his
independence with reference to the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers Mr. Tsui King Fai is still
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules and will continue to bring valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its

efficient and effective functioning.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contributions of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group’'s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the

success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control

and risk management systems are in place.

Directors of the Board take decisions objectively in the interests of
the Company. The Board has delegated to the senior management
the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of

Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

During the year, the Chairman of the Board held a meeting with all
the non-executive Directors without the presence of the executive
Directors. Details of their attendance record are set out in the

following table:
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Number of Meeting Attended/
Number of Meeting Held
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Mr. Guo Zi Wen PR S
Mr. Yang Zhong BB E
Mr. Tsui King Fai RRIERAE
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung SREIGR A
Mr. Hu Jiang T %A
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board Committees
(@) Audit Committee (“AC”)

The AC was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. It consists of three members
with all independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Keung (as chairman), Mr. Tsui King Fai and Mr.
Hu Jiang. Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, the chairman of AC, has
appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and related
financial management expertise, with appropriate professional
qualification as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the AC are mainly to make recommendation
to the Board on the appointment and removal of external
auditor; review the financial statements and material advice in
respect of financial reporting; and oversee financial reporting
system and internal control procedures of the Company. The
terms of reference of AC are available and accessible at the
websites of the Company (www.aoyuan.com.cn) and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)

(Wwww.hkexnews.hk).

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the AC held 2 meetings.
Details of the committee members’ attendance at the AC
meetings are set out under “Directors’/Committee Members’
Attendance at Meetings” above.

The summary of the work of the AC during the year ended 31
December 2016 is set out below:

- reviewed the announcement of annual results and
annual report of the Group for the financial year ended
31 December 2015 before submission to the Board for

adoption and publication;

- reviewed the announcement of interim results and interim
report of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2016

before submission to the Board for adoption and publication;
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- met with the auditors to discuss the accounting and
audit issues of the Group and reviewed their findings,

recommendations and representations;

- reviewed the Group's internal control and risk

management system; and

- reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group's accounting and financial

reporting function and their training programmes.

(b) Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

The RC was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. It consists of three members with
all independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Tsui King

Fai (as chairman), Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Hu Jiang.

The primary duties of the RC are mainly to make recommendation
to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure
relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group;
review remuneration proposals of the management with
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives; and
ensure none of the Directors or any of their associates determine
their own remuneration. The terms of reference of RC are
available and accessible at the websites of the Company (www.

aoyuan.com.cn) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the RC held 2 meetings.
Details of the committee members’ attendance at the RC
meetings are set out under “Directors’/Committee Members’

Attendance at Meetings” above.

The summary of the work of the RC during the year ended 31
December 2016 is set out below:

- reviewed the existing policy and structure of the
remuneration of the executive Directors;

- reviewed the existing remuneration package of the non-

executive and independent non-executive Directors;
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

- reviewed the existing policy and structure of the
remuneration of management of the Group;

- made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and management of

the Group; and

- assessed performance of the executive Directors.

(c) Nomination Committee (“NC”)

The NC was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. It consists of four members with
one executive Director, namely Mr. Guo Zi Wen (as chairman)
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Tsui King Fai, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Hu Jiang.

The primary duties of the NC are to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and make recommendations to
the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board.
The terms of reference of NC are available and accessible at the
websites of the Company (www.aoyuan.com.cn) and the Stock

Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Accordingly,
selection of candidates to the Board is based on a range of
measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience
and qualifications, skills, knowledge and length of service, having
due regard to the Company’s own business model and specific
needs from time to time. With the existing Board members
coming from a variety of business and professional background
and one out of the eight Board members being woman, the
Company considers that the Board possesses a balance of skills,
experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives appropriate

to the requirements of the Company’s business.

(c)

SEE O ()

- FBEASEEEEZRAHFHEEK
&I

- BAKRERITESNEEE R
FBERAEFERMEREZSZ &

- HERTEFHER -

REZRE(REEEE))
AAFEKIRAEES  HEERE
BEFEEEEGTH - HhHERE
B BIE—ARTES (BB EE
(/%) RER2BIFRTES (DHRR
YBSEE © REISRSEE REDT L) -

REZBEENIEREAETEESSH
B RERABSMHEK  WHAEHES
EERNEREATRESSREHERER
HoRELZEENBERENNART
43 34 (www.aoyuan.com.cn) K B 22 BT 48
Uh (www.hkexnews.hk) Z5 R o

EZSCRMEFEREFS S TILL
TENEFEEZTEEER - Eilt - K58
EEEARAAGHNEBEAR K2
FEFE BREEFIREZEANIE
RIREEE  BRETNRRMER - Fi
XERFBEES FELRRER K
BE - MBKFERRGFEH REEFS
KREXRBZEEHBREXER BN\A
BEEeXBRAE—RARME Bt K
RAIRR RHARBEEFTEMSB
EEMRE - K EREBEHGAAZ
ZEmE  EFEEETE -

Annual Report 2016 —&R—X4E4EHR 75



76

Corporate Governance Report (continued)
ERE R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the NC held 1 meeting.
Details of the committee members’ attendance are set
out under “Directors’/Committee Members' Attendance at

Meetings"” above.

The summary of the work of the NC during the year ended 31

December 2016 is set out below:

- made recommendations to the Board on the re-election
of Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of

the Company;

- assessed the independence of independent non-

executive Directors; and

- reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties and has adopted the CG Code as its corporate governance

code of practices.

The Board has, among other things, reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of Directors, the Company's
compliance with the respective code provisions of the CG Code for
the year ended 31 December 2016 and disclosure in this Corporate

Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Directors have
participated in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant and ensure they keep
updated on the changes in the applicable laws and regulations and the

overall development of the operations of the Group.

A briefing session was organised for all newly appointed Directors for
their appointment to ensure that they have adequate understanding

of the businesses and operations of the Group and directors’ duties.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company's strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The AC assists the Board in leading the management and overseeing
their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation
by key business processes and office functions.

All divisions conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and
various aspects including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security.

The management, in coordination with division heads, assessed the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans, and monitor
the risk management progress, and reported to the AC and the Board
on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has reported to the Board and the AC on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems. The Internal Audit
Department examined key issues in relation to the accounting
practices and all material controls and provided its findings and

recommendations for improvement to the AC.
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The Board, as supported by the AC as well as the management
report and the internal audit findings, reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems, including the financial, operational and
compliance controls, for the year ended 31 December 2016, and
considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual
review also covered the financial reporting, internal audit function,

and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company's Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to

enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

Accountability and Audit

(@) Accountability
The Board is accountable to the shareholders while the
management is accountable to the Board. The Board endeavors
to ensure that the announcements of annual and interim
results and the annual and interim reports of the Group present
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's
position and prospects. The Board embraces openness and
transparency in the conduct of the Company’s affairs, whilst
preserving the commercial interests of the Company. Financial
and other information are disseminated to shareholders through
announcements via the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.

hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.aoyuan.com.cn).

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016 and confirm that the financial statements
contained herein give a true and fair view of the results and
state of affairs of the Group for the year under review. The
Directors consider that the financial statements have been
prepared in conformity with the statutory requirements and the

applicable accounting standards.
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(b) Auditors’ Remuneration
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016
were audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu of which the term of
office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The AC has recommended to the Board that Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu be nominated for appointment as the auditor of the

Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

There have been no changes of auditor of the Company in the

past three years.

It is the auditor’s responsibility to form an independent opinion,
based on their audit, on those financial statements and to report
their opinion solely to the Company and for no other purpose. They
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 117 to 126.

During the year under review, details of the professional fees paid/

payable to the Company’'s independent auditor, Deloitte Touche
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Tohmatsu are set out as follows: T~
RMB'000
AREEFTT
Audit services EET RS 4,380
Non-audit services T ARTE
— Interim review — R ERR B 1,230
— Major transaction for acquisition —EAR S (WHERAF]) 1,600
of a subsidiary
— Proposed issue of — BT EESERAES 1,050
asset-backed securities
— Issue of senior notes —BITEERE 1,130
— Provision of advisory services — BT EERAEFEER S RARRE 450
on cash flow of the proposed
issue of asset-backed securities
— Initial public offerings of spin-off group —SESF LT 3,980
— Provision of advisory services on tax reform — — & % UL ET A AR 350
- Others —Hfth 20
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Continuous Professional Development of
Directors

According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to

the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director is provided with an induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure that he/she has
adequate understanding of the businesses and operations of the
Group. The Directors are also kept informed on a timely basis of their
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules, as well as
other relevant statutory or regulatory requirements. The Company
also encourages its Directors to participate in other continuous

professional development programmes for directors.

The Company has arranged and funded suitable training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a listed
company director. The Company Secretarial Department of the
Company would provide relevant reading materials to the Directors to
ensure that they are apprised of the latest changes in the commercial,
legal and regulatory requirements in relation to the Company’s
businesses, and to refresh their knowledge and skills. In addition, all
Directors are encouraged to attend external forum, or training course
on relevant topics. During the year, the Directors of the Company had
provided their records of continuous professional development to the
Company. The Board has reviewed and monitored the continuous

professional development of the Directors.

The Directors’ knowledge and skills are continuously developed and

refreshed by, inter alia, the following means:

(1) Reading memoranda issued or materials provided from time to
time by the Company to Directors, and as applicable, briefings
and reports by the Company Secretary, as regards legal and
regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the Directors
in the discharge of their duties with the latest developments
in laws, rules and regulations relating to the duties and

responsibilities of directors and corporate governance; and
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(2) Reading news/journal/magazine/other reading materials as
regards real estate, legal and regulatory changes and matters of
relevance to the Directors in the discharge of their duties.

Records of the Directors’ training during 2016 are as follows:

Members of the Board

SEE O ()

(2) MIERRME EFERREEE UK
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EER T R"EEARIEIIZEENT

Training received

EEEGRE BEZ 2
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Guo Zi Wen SREX S (1) & (2)
(chairman) (FF) (1) % (2)
Mr. Guo Zi Ning T RAE (1) &(2)
(vice chairman and chief executive officer) (BIFEFTHAEE,) (1 % (2)
Ms. Zhong Ping B+ (1) & (2)
(chief financial officer) (BEHMEE) (1 %(2)
Mr. Ma Jun BEEE (1) & (2)
(chief operating officer) (EE4E%) (1) &(2)
Non-executive Director
FHITES
Mr. Yang Zhong BREAE (1) & (2)
(1) X% (2)
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. Tsui King Fai rEEELE (1) & (2)
(1) X (2)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung SREIR ST A (1) &(2)
(1) X% (2)
Mr. Hu Jiang LI E (1) &(2)
(1) X% (2)

Company Secretary

During the year, Ms. Wong Chi Mei (“Ms. Wong"”), a full-time
employee of the Company, is the company secretary who reports to
the Chairman of the Board and is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and ensuring the Board activities
are efficiently and effectively conducted. Following her resignation on
18 January 2017, Ms. Kuok Yew Lee (“Ms. Kuok"”) and Ms. Lee Mei
Yi (“Ms. Lee") have been appointed as the joint company secretaries

of the Company to take up the duties of the company secretary.
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Ms. Kuok is a full-time employee of the Company and reports to the
Chairman of the Board. Ms. Lee is a Director of Corporate Services
of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services provider
engaged by the Company to assist Ms. Kuok in performing and
discharging the duties of a company secretary under the Listing
Rules. Ms. Kuok is the primary contact of Ms. Lee. All Directors have
access to the advices and services of the joint company secretaries

on corporate governance and board practices and matters.

The resignation of Ms. Wong as the company secretary and the
appointment of Ms. Kuok and Ms. Lee as joint company secretaries
have been approved by the Board by way of written resolution,
through which all Directors have fully considered the proposal and
have not raised any issue of concern that requires further discussion
at a physical meeting. Nevertheless, the Board took opportunity to
review and re-confirm such joint company secretaries arrangement at
its next meeting held on 10 March 2017, on which this annual report

was approved.

Ms. Wong has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional

training for the financial year ended 31 December 2016.

Shareholders’ Rights
The Company recognizes the importance, and takes high priority,
on communication with its shareholders. Certain key information on

shareholders’ rights is provided below:

1. Communication with Shareholders
The general meetings provides a channel for communication
between the Board and the shareholders. The Group makes
great efforts to enhance the communication with shareholders.
The shareholders can visit the website of the Company (www.
aoyuan.com.cn) for updated information of the Group and press

releases are posted on our website in a timely manner.
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Procedures to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Shareholders may request the Company to convene a general
meeting according to the provision as set out in the Company’s
Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. A copy of the Company’s Articles of Association can
be found on the Company's website. The procedures for
shareholders to nominate a person for election as a director of
the Company is available on the Company’s website with title
“Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election

as a Director of the Company”.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director of the Company
The Company also adopted a set of procedures for putting

forward proposals by the shareholders at general meetings.

Subject to the provisions of the Company's Articles of
Association, the Company may from time to time in general
meeting by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director

either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a
Director of the Company for election as a Director at a general
meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board of Directors and Company Secretary.
The period for lodgment of such written notice shall commence
on the day after the despatch of the notice of general meeting
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general

meeting.

In order for the Company to inform shareholders of that
proposal, the written notice must state the full name of the
person proposed for election as a Director, including the
person’s biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules, and be signed by the shareholder concerned and
that person indicating his/her willingness to be elected.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
ERE IR ()

In order to allow the shareholders have sufficient time to
receive and consider the proposal of election of the proposed
person as a director of the Company, Shareholders are
encouraged to submit and lodge the written notice as early as

practicable.

4. Procedures to send enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board of the Company by addressing them to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Units 1901-2, 19th
Floor, One Peking, No. 1 Peking Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,

Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Investor Relations
The Company’'s website (www.aoyuan.com.cn) provides

comprehensive and accessible news and information of the Company
to the shareholders, other stakeholders and investors. The Company
will also update the website information from time to time to inform

shareholders and investors of the latest development of the Company.

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of transparency
and timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.
To achieve this, the Company maintains a website at http://www.
aoyuan.com.cn, where up-to-date information and updates on
the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information

are posted.

The general meetings of the Company also provide good opportunity
for exchange of views between the Board and the shareholders. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the NC, RC and AC or,
in their absence, other members of the respective committees and,
where applicable, the chairman of the independent Board committee,

are available to answer questions at shareholders’ meetings.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The 2017 Annual General Meeting (2017 AGM") will be held on 26
May 2017. The notice of 2017 AGM wiill be sent to shareholders at
least 20 clear business days before the 2017 AGM.

The Board believes effective investor relations can contribute
towards lowering cost of capital, improving market liquidity for the
Company's stock and building a more stable shareholder base.
Therefore, the Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate transparency and following a policy of disclosing relevant
information to shareholders, investors, analysts and bankers. Keeping
the shareholders aware of our corporate strategies and business

operations is one of the key missions of our investor relations team.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. An up to date version of the
Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the Company's

website and the Stock Exchange's website.
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China Aoyuan Property Group Limited (“Aoyuan”, the “Group” or
“we") emphasizes corporate social responsibilities and makes active
contributions to environmental protection and the society to create a

better living environment for stakeholders and the public.

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
is issued by Aoyuan in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide in
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. It discloses major policies
and management measures of the Group’s environmental, social and
governance matters related to the property development business
from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016 (the “2016 Financial
Year"”). Major internal stakeholders of the Group participated in the
preparation of the Report to identify and assess the importance and
relevance of all environmental, social and governance matters and

include the material issues in the Report.

A. Environmental
A1 Emissions
The Group adheres to the philosophy of building a low-carbon and healthy lifestyle. It

implements the following low-carbon and green policies in its business and tries to

reduce the negative effects of its operating activities on the environment:

e |t devotes itself to the target of sustainable development and includes the

environment in the factors considered in making business decisions.

e |t strictly complies with relevant regulations and standards on environment and
emission. It shall handle and report immediately if it exceeds the limits or violates

the regulations.
e [t seeks the sources of greenhouse gases, air pollutants, sewage and wastes and

adopts the best environmental approaches to improve the emissions of the Group,

including the introduction of leading environmental technologies.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

e |t requires contractors adopting low-emission construction technologies and
materials, and consistently monitors the emission of greenhouse gases, air

pollutants, sewage and wastes by contractors in property projects.

e [t actively promotes its commercial partners, suppliers and customers to perform

their obligations on environmental protection with the influence of the Group.

e |t raises the awareness of the employees on environmental protection and
advocates the ideas and policies of the Group on environmental protection and
requires them keeping consistent with the environmental protection policies of the

Group in performing their functions.

During the 2016 Financial Year, the Group has no significant matters in violation of laws

and regulations relevant to environment.

A2 Use of Resources
In order to earnestly perform the responsibilities in environmental protection, the

Group consistently discusses on how to use resources in the most efficient way in
property development and office environment. In terms of property development, the
Group endeavours to provide customers with highly comfortable green constructions
with low energy consumption and renewable energy, including the introduction of
energy-saving construction technologies, reducing the water uses and the energy
required in the lighting, air-conditioning and ventilation system during the construction
process. In addition, the Group actively adopts environmental construction designs and
reduces the energy consumption in the routine operation of buildings from external
walls, window shades, glass windows, cold and hot water systems, lighting systems,
air-conditioners, landscape irrigation and other aspects. Thanks to the policies on
green buildings, various property projects of the Group met the national standards on
environmental protections buildings. We were awarded the “CAPITAL Outstanding
Environmental Enterprise Awards” presented by Hong Kong Capital Magazine, which

laid the leading position in green buildings of Aoyuan in the national real estate industry.

In terms of office environment, the Group calls for saving water and electricity. It
analyzes and reduces unnecessary use of resources through monitoring the use of
resources by the Group and trains the employees to reduce wastes in work and life,
including displaying environmental protection signs and encouraging the employees to
practise environmental protection concepts in life, such as using stairs more instead
of taking elevators and taking public transportation vehicles instead of driving private
vehicles. In addition, as a model in the industry and the society, the Group actively
participates in various environmental protection activities and promotes its employees

and the public to value resources.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BRI~ Al KRR O (8])

A3 Environment and Natural Resources
The Group attaches great importance to the effects of its operation activities on the

surrounding environment and the ecological system. Therefore, it conducts appraisal
on environmental risks before and after the development of property projects and
tries to reduce the noise and soil pollution to the surrounding environment during
the planning, design, construction and operation of projects. It also considers the
protection of biological diversity and natural habitats. In addition, the Group sets
environmental indicators for each project and monitors, reports and evaluates the
environmental protection performance of projects to reduce the environmental risks of

projects to the controllable level.

B. Society
B1 Employment
The Group values employees as the most precious asset and devotes itself to creating

an open and enjoyable working environment encouraging self-realization. It also strives
to attract first-class talents to join the Group. The Group regularly reviews remuneration
and benefits of its employees according to the relevant market practice and individual
performance of the employees to maintain the competitiveness of human capitals.
Besides the contributions to social insurance of the China and contribution to the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme of Hong Kong for eligible employees, the Group
also set up a share option scheme and a partnership system so that participants can
share the profits and development results of the enterprise and it can encourage

employees to make more contributions to the development of the enterprise.

Meanwhile, the Group supports a work-life balance. As a result, we arranges
appropriate working hours and provides sufficient leaves, paid annual leaves and
statutory holidays, which not only benefit the physical and mental health of employees

but also help them improve their working efficiency.

In addition, the Group advocates a fair and harmonious working environment and
equally treats people with different cultural backgrounds, sexes, religions and martial
conditions. Our employment is based on the experiences of the candidates and their
performance at the interview. We offer a reasonable remuneration package and fair
opportunities for career advancement based on employees’ performance. The Group
respects the relationship with employees. Any termination of employment relationship
will be provided appropriate notification periods and the Group will communicate with

employees about the reasons. It never dismisses employees without reasons.

During the 2016 Financial Year, the Group has no significant matters in violation with

any laws and regulations related to employment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

B2 Health and Safety
The Group strictly follows laws, regulations and rules about occupational health. It

established the safety management system and relevant governance structure of
the Group based on internationally recognized standards and regularly identifies and
appraises the safety risks of the working place. For areas with high risks, such as
construction sites, it introduces various measures on the prevention and controlling
of risks, such as ensuring sufficient emergency equipment and tools on construction
sites, the preparation of safety guidance and processes of the handling of accidents as
well as providing safety trainings on new employees and regular trainings on current
employees, to ensure that the Group and contractors have sufficient safety awareness

to prevent the happening of accidents.

In addition, the Group has established a provisional party branch at certain construction
sites and prepared the “Work Guideline on Temporary Construction Sites” since
2014. It is the first temporary party branch jointly established by developers with
the construction company, the supervision company and local party organizations
in Guangdong Province. It visits construction sites to promote the safety of the
constructions sites and establishes a regular and joint routing inspection system on
projects to coordinate and monitor the safety of projects. Meanwhile, the branch
closely concerns about the life of employees. It established cultural activities rooms at
construction sites to improve the physical and mental health of employees and monitor

and guide the “safety construction and civilized construction”.

During the 2016 Financial Year, the Group has no significant matters in violation with

any laws and regulations related to employees' health and safety.

B3 Development and Training
The Group encourages employees to constantly learn and conduct innovations.

Therefore, we provide employees with all-around learning and training opportunities
covering management knowledge and professional skills. During the process, we
provide on-the-job trainings and various courses provided by professional institutes to
promote the personal growth of employees. We introduced the “Takeoff Plan” in 2016
and established all-around training plans for employees with development potentials.
The plan will provide sufficient management talents and establish a talent team to the
rapid development of the Company. Besides the trainings provided by us, employees
can participate in trainings or professional courses related to the work out of the
Company if they have interest. The Group can provide employees with paid leaves
and even financial subsidies after approval to ensure that employees can grasp every

opportunity to develop and improve their potential.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BRI~ Al KRR O (8])

The Group attaches equal importance to the growth of new employees. It provides
new employees with induction guidance and training to help them understand the
corporate culture of the Group and the requirements of their positions as soon as
possible. It arranges their immediate supervisors as their tutors to actively share
experience with new employees and provide precious suggestions to their careers and
difficulties in their work.

B4 Labour Standards
We strictly abide by laws and regulations on prevention of child labours or forced

labours and prohibit the Group and all subsidiaries under it recruiting employees below
the minimum legal working age and never allow forcing employees to work through
illegal or immoral methods. All employees shall sign the employment contract with the
Group on a willing basis according to laws and shall hold valid identification certification
documents. Employees can report to us if they find that the Group employs child
labours and forced labours as well as other illicit conditions during the recruitment and

operation processes.

During the 2016 Financial Year, the Group has no significant matters in violation with

any laws and regulations related to child or forced labours.

B5 Supply Chain Management
The Group believes that suppliers (including contractors and supply chain services

providers) play important roles in building quality property projects and providing cross-
border commodities with quality guarantee. As a result, the Group attaches great
importance to whether suppliers can meet the requirements of the Group on quality,
environmental protection and social responsibilities. It sets strict appraisal criteria
and conducts appraisal on the past experiences on projects, professional knowledge,
environmental protection policies and measures, the records of work-related injuries
and accidents, whether they used child labours and forced labours and community
participation of suppliers. It also requires suppliers obtaining certifications on quality,
environmental protection and social responsibilities from independent third-party
institutes, such as 1IS09001, 1ISO14001 and other relevant national and overseas

certifications on social responsibilities.

The Group tolerates no illegal and immoral activities during the supply chain
management. It conducts a fair and open bid inviting mechanism in a practical way,
including inviting sufficient number of companies to participate in bidding, separating
different positions during the bidding process such as identifying suppliers and
reviewing bidding documents, ensuring the confidentiality of bidding documents as
well as regularly reviewing the bid inviting mechanism in order to reduce risks on
bribery and malpractices due to control loopholes and ensure that the Group can select

suppliers based on the current appraisal criteria.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

In addition, the Group will conduct continuous monitoring on the construction
conditions of suppliers, the products or services supplied by them, conduct appraisal
on key performance indicators of suppliers and regularly review the list of suppliers
and arranging field reviews. If there are failures, it will require suppliers conducting
improvement immediately and even consider suspending the engagement with
the supplier to ensure that all of the current suppliers of the Group meet our quality

requirements and the criteria on social responsibilities.

B6 Product Responsibility
The Group devotes itself to improving the quality of the property projects under it.

It continues strengthening the quality from design to projects, marketing, after-sale
services and other processes to improve the operation efficiency of the company and
the satisfaction of customers. The Group sets internal inspection systems based on the
best quality standards of national and international projects and regularly updates and
explains them to relevant employees. While negotiating with suppliers on contracts,
we will require suppliers complying with such standards and include such standards
in the clauses of relevant contracts. During the construction of projects, the Group
has internal responsible institutes to regularly inspect the quality of projects based on
such standards. For the main works of buildings, it will appoint professional third-party
institutes to conduct regular inspections. All projects strictly comply with national legal
requirements and are inspected and accepted by relevant governmental authorities
to ensure that the projects meet the standards. Upon the delivery of properties, we
will arrange special responsible groups to conduct inspection processes for potential
proprietors and has established the customer services department responsible for
handling the suggestions from customers during the sale and acceptance processes

and will follow up in time to improve the satisfaction of customers.

In terms of marketing, the Group established relevant systems on the selling,
pricing, positioning and other aspects and implemented the principle of integrity. It
prohibits any untruthful statements in sales advertisements and brochures misleading
consumers. In addition, the Group respects the privacy of customers. Any individual
information collected during the sales process shall be stored and handled on a
confidential basis. Unrelated persons are prohibited from having access to individual

information about customers.

During the 2016 Financial Year, the Group has no significant matters in violation with

any laws and regulations related to the quality of products and services.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

A. BREE A RO ()

B7 Anti-corruption
The Group adheres to the corporate spirit of “efficiency, integrity and responsibility”

and became the first non-public enterprise with a discipline inspection committee in
Guangzhou in 2012. It actively promotes the corporate integrity cultural construction of

the enterprise and adheres to the following policies:

e Strictly following the listing rules of the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, advancing standard and transparent management, paying taxes
according to laws and ensuring legal governance and integrity operation of the

enterprise.

¢ Highlighting the construction of the internal integrity mechanism of the enterprise,
strictly implementing the “Ordinance on the Letters, Visits and Discipline
Inspection Work the Discipline Inspection Committee of Aoyuan” combining
economic activities, regulating the responsibilities of various working positions
and the approval authorities of various positions and implementing the “integrity
indicators” responsibility system to improve the integrity performance of the
subsidiaries and employees under the regulation of the informationized system in

a practical way.

e Raising the integrity awareness of the employees and conducting trainings on
the history of the party, current politics, integrity education, laws, regulations
and the prevention of risks. It explained the “eight major regulations of Aoyuan”
to the employees and required the employees following professional ethics
and performing their duties with a responsible and uncorrupted attitude so that

employees can achieve individual value under the principles of integrity.

e Strictly preventing commercial briberies and prohibiting any bribery or other
activities in violation of commercial ethics between employees and suppliers. It
also included integrity clauses and reporting channels in contracts to restrict the

suppliers.

e Actively establishing a joint mechanism on the prevention of commercial crimes
with law enforcement agencies and through three defences, namely “Cultural
anticorruption”, “Internal management and control” and “External joint defence”.
It also advances the integrity cultural construction with the proprietors, suppliers,

commercial partners and law enforcement agencies.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

The Group is highly recognized by the government and the society for its operation
principles of credit and integrity and was named “Guangdong Province Enterprises of
Observing Contract and Valuing Credit” by Guangzhou Administration for Industry and
Commerce and Guangzhou Enterprise Credit Promotion Association for 17 consecutive

years.

During the 2016 Financial Year, the Group has no significant matters in violation with
any laws and regulations related to anti-corruption, blackmail, deception and anti-

money laundering.

B8 Community Investment
While being devoted to providing the society with quality residential and commercial

buildings, the Group never forgot actively performing the missions of an enterprise
resident to return the society. It was awarded as "Outstanding Enterprises in
China on Corporate Social Responsibility” by Xinhuanet.com. In 2016, Aoyuan
Charity Foundation was established and registered through Bureau of Civil Affairs
of Guangdong Municipality to provide further supports to the development of local

education, sports, poverty alleviation, charity and other public welfare careers.

During the financial year, the Group focused on the health and education of
youngsters, including being concerned about the entrepreneurship and employment
of university graduates and holding the “Super New Generation"—the first talents
and entrepreneurship competition of university students in Guangdong and providing

practical platforms for students moving from universities to the society.

In addition, the Group also held the “Aoyuan Dream Building 2016" charitable activities.
The program aims at facilitating all-rounded and balanced development of teenagers
through promoting sports, reading, art and social services. Meanwhile, the Group
called for more supports from the society to the balanced development of youngsters,
child in mountainous areas in particular. The “Aoyuan Dream Building 2016" charitable
activities include:

e Aoyuan, in collaboration with the charity organization Lions Clubs, donated a
batch of sports equipment, including table tennis tables, fixed basketball stands,
badminton nets and stands, and horizontal and parallel bars to four primary schools
in mountainous areas of Yunfu, Guangdong. The activity aims at upgrading the
sports facilities of schools in remote areas and spreading Aoyuan’s branding

philosophy of “Building a Healthy Lifestyle".

B~ A R AR ()

BMBFHE  RENEXLERUXIBANLEZR
BERN BEETFRERMNDIBOHERR  BEM
CRERRESREN [ERETARBERLR KR -

R2016FHRFE - AREYBHREH R 9%
RERAREBR O RERNERNERSFE °

B8 HERE
AEEEBNAHEREBENEEREENRE - 17
TREEEATCEARNEAEELS  SRENERER
MIHEEERNME SR - RER2016 FLEREHE
MBERRRERIREAEESE TR
¥E BE HE EEELRTENEE-

il
AUl

RABBFE  GERAAREINF O FNRFEELEH

b BREIABERERR - WEITBRHER]
BERABLEETAIAE  AABEREUBRIMEN
EBTaR-

b EETEN 2016 RE[E B RFED - BEEES
LPEREED  EBEME LiER HeERS #th
RELFANZARE AR SEZLTELEESIF
MEABRRTEATESHOXE  LEARHIUERENE
8- 2016 REI [£] 2RIIEFBHE:

o ERRALZEBERMTE RMERTIMEMRE
BILENERE MEE S BRERNE - &3
m\ﬂ%ﬁ% g% EENELERENES

Wit BEKE [BERELL HEEET -

Annual Report 2016 —&R—X4E4EHR 93



94

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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e Aoyuan made donation to the “5A Guiding Program” of Jinan University in
Guangzhou to support outstanding students gaining practical experience. It will

allow students to implement their theoretical knowledge into practical working.

e Aoyuan actively launched the poverty alleviation charity project of “Double
10 schools, 100
families and 100 students every year. It helped Leizhou, Yingde, Jiaoling, Wuhua,

Tens, Double Hundreds", which targets to support 10 villages,
Yangchun, Ningdu, Lianjiang, Tibet and other areas. It established health stations in
poor rural areas, provided stationery and sporting items and electronic products to
schools in need, issued subsidies to students in need and condolence payments to
poor families to improve the education, medical treatment and living environment

in poor areas.

e Aoyuan donated 10,000 books to six primary schools in mountainous areas of
Shaoguan, Guangdong and held art education activities there in collaboration with
the charity organization Guangdong Lions Club. Teachers from Guangzhou Arts
School were invited to be guides for and cooperate with members of volunteer
families and local art enthusiasts in painting the campus art wall so as to foster the

interest of youngsters in art.

Besides the health, education and development of youngsters, we never forget
the construction of community culture. The Panyu Community Party Committee
of the Group devotes itself to improve the sense of belonging of citizens to this
community. For example, it held five major activities, namely the Aged Day, the
Neighbourhood's Day, the Children’s Day, the Volunteers' Day and the Cultural and
Art Festival. The Panyu Community was awarded as “Demonstration Community”,
“Happy Community” and “Harmonious Community”. In addition, the Group holds
various cultural activities, including public welfare, harmonious communities and
sports activities, at all communities every month. For example, it held “activities caring
the empty-nester and facilitating residents at communities”, the sports meeting of
proprietors and green lectures on “rational garbage classification and enjoy low-carbon
life". It also held theme activities on significant festivals, such as the big get-together
“celebrating the Mid-Autumn Day and Embracing the National Day"” and the New Year

gala, to enrich the community life.
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Report of the Directors

The board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) herein present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 50 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2016 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on page 127.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMB9.7 cents (2015: RMB8.8 cents) per ordinary share (“Proposed
Final Dividend”) and a special dividend of RMB5.3 cents (2015:
RMB1.8 cents in respect of the interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2015) per ordinary share (“Proposed Special
Dividend"”) to shareholders of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2016 (collectively, the “Proposed Dividends”). The
Proposed Dividends will be paid to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday,
7 June 2017, of which the aggregate amounts of the Proposed
Final Dividend and the Proposed Special Dividend are approximately
RMB259,142,421 and RMB141,593,281 respectively, if the Proposal
Final Dividend and the Proposed Special Dividend are approved by
the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (2017 AGM").

BUSINESS REVIEW

In accordance with Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance
of Hong Kong, a fair review of the Group’s business during the
year, a discussion on the prospect of the Group’s future business
development, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing are provided in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 12 to 15 and the Management Discussion and

Analysis on pages 17 to 32 of this Annual Report.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
The particulars of significant events affecting the Group that have
occurred subsequent to the reporting date are set out in note 51 to

the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 12 to 15, Financial Highlights on pages 6 to 7 and Five Years

Financial Summary on page 320 of this Annual Report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

As a socially responsible corporation, the Group has endeavoured to
strictly comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and the Group has adopted the ecotechnology to ensure
our project output meets the standards and ethics in respect of

environmental protection.

The Company recognizes the importance of environmental protection.
The Company is committed to providing an eco-friendly energy
environment for our staff and has developed energy conservation
and carbon reduction policy so as to minimize negative environmental

impacts.

Details of the Group’s environmental policies are contained in the
section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on
pages 86 to 94 of this Annual Report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the financial year, as far as the Company is aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by our Group that has a significant impact on the business

and operations of the Group.

Relationship with Stakeholders

We fully understand that employees, customers and suppliers
and other (together “stakeholders”) are the key to our sustainable
and stable development. We are committed to maintaining a good
relationship with our stakeholders so as to ensure our continuing

development.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

The Group regarded our staff as the most valuable assets of the
Company. The Group is providing a fair and harmonious workplace
where individuals with diverse cultural backgrounds are treated equally.
We offer a reasonable remuneration package and fair opportunities for
career advancement based on employees’ performance. The Group
also provides our staff with different trainings, including on-the-job
training and training courses provided by professional organisations in

order to enhance our staffs’ career progression.

The Group believes that our vendors (including contractors) are
equally important in building high-quality property projects. We
proactively communicate with our vendors to ensure they are

committed to delivering high-quality and sustainable output.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for each of the last five financial years is set out in the Five Years
Financial Summary on page 320 of this Annual Report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated

financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out below, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the
year ended 31 December 2016.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the

year are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis

to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

On 23 November 2015 and 11 February 2016, the Company redeemed
an aggregate principal amount of US$225,000,000 (“Notes"),
representing all its outstanding senior notes due 2017 at the
redemption price equal to 106.93750% of the principal amount plus
accrued and unpaid interest.

All the redeemed Notes had been delisted from The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company repurchased
a total of 112,274,000 shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange
for enhancing net asset value and earnings per share of the Company.
All the repurchased shares were cancelled. Details of the repurchases

of shares are as follows:

BE BOREEXAF LHES

R_E—EHF+—A-_+=ZBEZ-_ZF—X
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106.93750% 5 M FEFH A A FI S 9 B 2 B B [E]
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Aggregate

Number of shares Purchase consideration consideration

Month repurchased per share paid
A& BERONEE BRBERE ERERRE
(before

Highest Lowest expenses)

&= HIK (B E % AT)

HK$ HK$ HK$

BIT BT BIT

May hA 48,475,000 1.70 1.54 79,362,088
June 7~H 34,483,000 1.70 1.50 56,085,560
August J\H 8,486,000 1.79 1.71 14,851,980
September A 8,305,000 1.86 1.75 15,099,640
October +H 10,523,000 1.87 1.76 19,125,840
November +—A 2,002,000 1.86 1.82 3,696,560
112,274,000 188,221,668

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2016,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 52 to the consolidated financial

statements of this Annual Report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the total sales of the Group for the
year. Purchases from five largest suppliers accounted for less than
30% of the Group's total purchases for the year.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Details of the bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2016 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial

statements of this Annual Report.

SENIOR NOTES AND BONDS

Details of senior notes and corporate bonds of the Company are set
out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
announcements dated 8 November 2012, 15 November 2012, 21
January 2013, 22 January 2013, 10 January 2014, 1 April 2015, 18
May 2015, 25 November 2015, 5 February 2016, 15 February 2016,
23 February 2016, 18 April 2016, 31 May 2016 and 14 October 2016

respectively.

On 31 May 2016, the Company redeemed an aggregate principal
amount of US$100,000,000, representing all its outstanding 9.25%
senior notes due 2018 at the redemption price equal to 102.95% of

the principal amount plus all accrued and unpaid interest.
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h Report of the Directors (continued)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of

corporate governance practices.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 66
to 85.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The register of members of the Company will be closed during the
following periods:

() from Tuesday, 23 May 2017 to Friday, 26 May 2017, both
days inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2017 AGM which is
scheduled on Friday, 26 May 2017, the register of members of
the Company will be closed. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the 2017 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17™ Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30
p.m. on Monday, 22 May 2017; and

(i)~ from Monday, 5 June 2017 to Wednesday, 7 June 2017, both
days inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’
entitlement to the Proposed Dividends, the register of
members of the Company will be closed. In order to establish
entitlements to the Proposed Dividends, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17™ Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 2 June 2017.

During the periods mentioned in sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, no
transfers of shares will be registered.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS INFORMATION
UNDER RULE 13.51B OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Rules Governing the Listing of

Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”), changes in the

information of Directors required to be disclosed in this report are as

follows:

(1)

Mr. Yang Zhong's has been re-designated from executive
director to non-executive director of the Company for a term of
one year with effect from 5 February 2016 and was entitled to
an emolument of HKD260,000.00 per annum, and his term of

office has subsequently been extended to 4 February 2018.

The Company ensures that the remuneration of its senior
management and directors are commensurate with their duties
and responsibilities held with reference to the remuneration
benchmarks in the industry and prevailing market conditions.
In relation thereto, the Board of the Company had approved,
effective from 1 September 2016, (i) the remuneration
increment of 5% from current remuneration for executive
directors (namely Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Guo Zi Ning, Ms. Zhong
Ping and Mr. Ma Jun), and 15% from current remuneration
for non-executive director (namely Mr. Yang Zhong); and
(i) the director's fee increment of 15% from current fee for
independence non-executive directors (namely Mr. Tsui King
Fai, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Hu Jiang).
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Director

Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer)
Ms. Zhong Ping (chief financial officer)

Mr. Ma Jun (chief operating officer)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Yang Zhong (re-designated from executive director to

non-executive director on 5 February 2016)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

According to the Articles of Association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general

meeting at least once every three years.

In accordance with Article 87 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Guo
ZiWen, Mr. Yang Zhong and Mr. Tsui King Fai shall retire at the 2017
AGM. Mr. Yang Zhong has informed the Board that he will not stand
for re-election due to his other personal commitments which require
more of his time and accordingly will retire as non-executive Director
after the conclusion of the 2017 AGM. Save for Mr. Yang Zhong,
the other retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the 2017 AGM. Their proposed re-election will be

considered by separate resolutions.

Mr. Yang Zhong confirmed that he had no disagreement with
the Board. The Board and he confirmed that there was no matter
regarding his retirement that needed to be brought to the attention of

the shareholders of the Company.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all independent Non-Executive Directors, and still considers

them to be independent as at the date of this report.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
Biographical details of the existing Directors of the Company are set
out on pages 33 to 41 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Promoting good corporate governance and managing enterprise-
wide risk is a priority of the Company. The Company convinced that
corporate governance and Directors and Officers Liability Insurance
(the “D&O Insurance”) complement each other. The Company has
arranged appropriate D&O Insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against directors and
senior management arising out from corporate activities. The D&O

Insurance will be reviewed and renewed annually.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the existing executive Directors has been appointed for a
term of three years subject to the provision of retirement and rotation

of directors under the Articles of Association of the Company.

Each of the existing non-executive Directors has been appointed for a
term of one year subject to the provision of retirement and rotation of

directors under the Articles of Association of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been appointed
for a term of one year at an annual remuneration set out in their
appointment letters and other discretionary bonuses as may be
determined by the Board according to the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company subject to the provision of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed above, no other Directors have entered into service
agreements with the Company which are not determined by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other

than statutory compensation.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance, to which the Company, its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, was a party and in which a Director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end

of the year or at any time during the year.

There is no transactions, arrangements and contract of significance
to the business of the Group between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, or a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
during the year. During the year, no transactions, arrangements and
contract of significance for the provision of services to the Group by a

controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was made.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were

entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Company’s Articles of Association provide that the Directors shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty in their respective offices, provided that this
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or

dishonesty which may attach to any Director.

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance to
protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from

claims brought against the Directors.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2016, the interests or short positions of the
directors of the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which
were to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or
which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code") of the
Listing Rules were as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares under
equity derivatives of the Company:
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Number of
underlying shares
Personal Corporate held under equity
Name of director interest interest derivatives Total Percentage
(note i)
REBR A
TETARE
Expg fAARE TERE  WHEBRGHE @t BAl
(H1izi)
Mr. Guo Zi Wen PR - 1,392,201,062 - 1392201,062 52.11%
- (notefiyztii)
Mr. Yang Zhong BR%E 1,650,000 - - 1,650,000 0.062%
Ms. Zhong Ping BYut 50,000 - - 50,000 0.002%
Mr. Guo Zi Ning (note ii) PRERE (Hatiii)
Notes: Wit -

i. The interests in the underlying shares represented share options granted by the
Company to these directors as beneficial owners, the details of which are set out
in the section below headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME " if any.

ii. These 1,392,201,062 ordinary shares are registered in the name of Ace Rise
Profits Limited. Ace Rise Profits Limited is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific
Group Limited (which in turn is wholly owned by Sturgeon Limited) and as to
10% by Hopka Investments Limited. Sturgeon Limited is wholly owned by Asia
Square Holdings Ltd., as nominee and trustee for J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company
(Singapore) Ltd. as the trustee holding such interests on trust for the beneficiaries
of The Golden Jade Trust. The Golden Jade Trust is a discretionary family trust
established under the laws and regulations of Singapore. The settlors of The
Golden Jade Trust are Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang Miner.

i RIGEIR G H B IEA R AR TR EEE (IF
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& —£5 (WE) -

i % £1,392,201,062 /% & #8 fig L Ace Rise Profits
Limited .2 % £ &40 < Ace Rise Profits Limited £ Joy
Pacific Group Limited ( # Sturgeon Limited 2 & #F
B)REZREBRAR TS FNFFH90% R 10% iz
171 Sturgeon Limited A 7 Asia Square Holdings Ltd.
2 EFH - #Z . Safra Sarasin Trust Company
(Singapore) Ltd. Z K EAR LA + UAZFEAGHE
The Golden Jade Trust B Za A FE 1551 © The
Golden Jade Trust ZiRIEFT IR AERZMR T2 2
EZE(ZFE ° The Golden Jade TrustZ 81 E# FA A
X EERTHSEL S -
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jii. Since April 2013, upon completion of a share transfer, Ace Rise Profits Limited
is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited (which in turn is wholly owned
by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka Investments Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Su Chaomei who is the wife of Mr. Guo Zi Ning, a director
of the Company. As a result, Mr. Guo Zi Ning has a deemed effective interest of
about 5.2% of the shares of the Company. Since Ace Rise Profits Limited is not a
controlled corporation of Mr. Guo Zi Ning or Ms. Su Chaomei under the SFO, no
notice has been filed under the SFO by Mr. Guo Zi Ning in respect his deemed
interest in Ace Rise Profits Limited.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register which were required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the Share Option Scheme, none of the
Directors of the Company or their spouses or children under the age
of 18, had been granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations, or
had exercised any such right for the year ended 31 December 2016.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

In order to eliminate competing business with the Group, on 20
September 2007, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Guo Zi Ning and Ms. Jiang
Miner, spouse of Mr. Guo Zi Wen, entered into a deed of non-

competition with the Company.

In compliance with the deed of non-competition signed on 20
September 2007, each of Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Guo Zi Ning and Ms.
Jiang Miner has made an annual declaration on his/her compliance

with the non-competition undertaking.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had an interest in
any business which competes or may compete with the business in

which the Group is engaged.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

The following information is disclosed by the Company pursuant to
Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.

(i)

On 25 August 2015, the Company as borrower, and Nanyang
Commercial Bank, Limited (“NCB") as lender entered into a
non-committed term loan facility agreement in relation to a term
loan facility of US$100 million (2015 Loan Agreement”), which
includes a term imposing specific performance obligation on the
controlling shareholders of the Company. Pursuant to the 2015

Loan Agreement, the Company shall procure that:

(@ Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang Miner (“Guo Family")
will beneficially own the Company as single majority
shareholder and the Company shall remain at all times

under the control of Guo Family; and

(b)  Mr. Guo Zi Wen will continue to act as the chairman of the

board of directors of the Company.

The maturity date of all outstanding amounts and interest
accrued under the 2015 Loan Agreement will be the date falling
three (3) years from the first drawdown date or earlier, if the
facility is terminated by the NCB in accordance with the terms
of the 2015 Loan Agreement.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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(ii)

On 29 January 2016, the Company as borrower and NCB,
Nanyang Commercial Bank (China) Limited and Bank of China
Limited, Macau Branch as lenders entered into a term loan
facility agreement (the “2016 Loan Agreement”), pursuant to
which a banking facility relating to a secured term loan facility
of US$180 million was granted by the lenders to the Company
which contains the specific performance obligations on the
controlling shareholder of the Company, consisting of the
tranche A facility of USD100 million and the tranche B facility
of USD80 million. Unless the facility is terminated earlier by
the lenders in accordance with the terms of the 2016 Loan
Agreement, the tranche A facility will mature on 27 August 2018
and the tranche B facility will mature on the date falling thirty-
six (36) months from the first drawdown date of the tranche B
facility.

As long as any part of the loan under the 2016 Loan Agreement

remains outstanding, the Company shall procure that:

(@ Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang Miner (“Guo Family"”)
will beneficially own the Company as single majority
shareholder and the Company shall remain at all times

under the control of Guo Family; and

(b)  Mr. Guo Zi Wen will continue to act as the chairman of the

board of directors of the Company

A breach of any of the said specific performance obligations will
constitute an event of default under the 2016 Loan Agreement
whereupon, the lenders will have the power to declare the
commitment under the 2016 Loan Agreement to be cancelled
and/or declare all outstanding amounts together with interest
accrued and all other sums payable by the Company to be

forthwith due and payable.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

On 25 January 2017, the Company as borrower and a group of
financial institutions as lenders entered into a loan agreement
(the "2017 Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which a banking
facility relating to secured dual currency term loan facilities of
approximately HK$1.5 billion was granted by the Lenders to the
Company which contains the specific performance obligations

on the controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr. Guo Zi Wen.

As long as any part of the loan under the 2017 Loan Agreement

remains outstanding, the Company shall procure that:

(@ Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Mr. Guo Zi Ning shall at all times
collectively maintain, directly or indirectly, at least 40%
of beneficial shareholding in the Company, collectively
remain as the single largest shareholder of the Company
and/or maintain management control over the Company;

and

(b)  Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Mr. Guo Zi Ning shall remain as the
chairman and the vice chairman of the board of directors
of the Company respectively and collectively maintain

control over the management and business of the Group.

Such banking facility will mature on the date falling thirty-six
(36) months/three (3) years from the date of the 2017 Loan
Agreement.

A breach of any of the said specific performance obligations
will constitute an event of default under the Loan Agreement
whereupon, the lenders will have the power to declare the
commitment under the 2017 Loan Agreement to be cancelled
and/or declare all outstanding amounts together with interest
accrued and all other sums payable by the Company to be

forthwith due and payable.
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GROUP’S EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company’s policy on determining the emolument payable to
Directors are based on the skill, knowledge, involvement in the
Company's affairs and the performance of each Director, together
with reference to the profitability of the Company, remuneration
benchmarks in the industry, and prevailing market conditions. To
enable the Remuneration Committee to give better advice on the
Group’s future remuneration policy and related strategies, the
Remuneration Committee has been advised of the Group’s existing
remuneration policy and succession plan, such as guidelines on
designing employees’ remuneration packages and related market
trends and information.

The details of the Directors’ emoluments and senior management’s
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2016, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following entities, not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Long position in shares of the Company

Name of shareholder

BRERERE

Ace Rise Profits Limited Mote 1) (1)

Joy Pacific Group Limited MNete 101

Sturgeon Limited ®ete 10 1)

Asia Square Holdings Ltd. Note 101

J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company
(Singapore) Ltd. ot 10iE1)

Ms. Jiang Miner Mote 7)

TR L

Cathay Sino Property Ltd. (Note 2/(#iz2)

Capacity

512

Beneficial owner

EmBEAA

Interest of controlled
corporation

SRS QAR

Interest of controlled
corporation

SN AR

Interest of controlled
corporation

e /NGl 32

Trustee
ZFEA

Settlor of

The Golden Jade Trust
The Golden Jade Trust
ZHERTA

Beneficial owner

EmBEAA

Number of shares

B AP
1,392,201,062

1,392,201,062

1,392,201,062

1,392,201,062

1,392,201,062

1,392,201,062

284,819,563
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Approximate
percentage of the
issued share capital
HEBITRAE
BHABES

52.11%

52.11%

52.11%

52.11%

52.11%

52.11%

10.66%
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Name of shareholder

BEREM

Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. o2
(W2)

Cathay Master GP, Ltd. Nete 2/(#22)

Paloma Partners Advisors LP.
(Notes 2&3) (it 2 % 3)

Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky
{% & ® 5E%gﬁ§?ﬁﬂi(Noles 2) (W1:#2)

Mr. Selwyn Donald Sussman Netes 283)
Selwyn Donald Sussman 7t 4 (#2423

Hopka Investments Limited

é}%?ﬁﬁﬁ[ﬁﬁ@ =l (Note) (Wit 1)

Capacity

)

Interest of controlled
corporation

SRS QAR

Interest of controlled
corporation

SRS QAR

Interest of controlled
corporation

SESI QAR

Trustee
ZEEA

Interest of controlled
corporation/Beneficial owner
ZEHIATS

BaEE AER
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Number of shares
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284,819,563

284,819,563

284,819,563

284,819,563

334,800,563

Approximate
percentage of the
issued share capital
HEBRITRE
BRBED T

10.66%

10.66%

10.66%

10.66%

12.53%
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Report of the Directors (continued)

The 1,392,201,062 shares are registered in the name of Ace Rise Profits Limited.
Ace Rise Profits Limited is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited
(which in turn is wholly owned by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka
Investments Limited. Sturgeon Limited is wholly owned by Asia Square Holdings
Ltd., as nominee and trustee for J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company (Singapore) Ltd.
as the trustee holding such interests on trust for the beneficiaries of The Golden
Jade Trust. The Golden Jade Trust is a discretionary family trust established under
the laws and regulations of Singapore. The settlors of The Golden Jade Trust are
Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang Miner.

Since April 2013, upon completion of a share transfer, Ace Rise Profits Limited
is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited (which in turn is wholly owned
by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka Investments Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Su Chaomei who is the wife of Mr. Guo Zi Ning, a director
of the Company. As a result, Mr. Guo Zi Ning has a deemed effective interest of
about 5.2% of the Company. Since Ace Rise Profits Limited is not a controlled
corporation of Mr. Guo Zi Ning or Ms. Su Chaomei under the SFO, no notice has
been filed under the SFO by Mr. Guo Zi Ning in respect of his deemed interest in
Ace Rise Profits Limited.

The 284,819,563 shares are registered in the name of Cathay Sino Property Ltd.
which is wholly-owned by Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. Cathay Capital Holdings,
L.P. is managed by its general partner, Cathay Master GP, Ltd. which in turn is
owned as to 45% by Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky as trustee and 45% by Paloma
Partners Advisors LP. Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P., Cathay Master GP Ltd., Mr.
Paul Steven Wolansky and Paloma Partners Advisors LP. are all deemed to be
interested in the 284,819,563 shares under the SFO.

As Mr. Selwyn Donald Sussman (“Mr. Sussman”) is holding 99% interest in
Paloma Partners Advisors LP. Mr. Sussman is deemed to be interested in the
284,819,563 shares held by Cathay Sino Property Ltd. The remaining 49,981,000
shares are held by Mr. Sussman as his personal interests.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, according to

the register of interests required to be kept by the Company under

Section 336 of the SFO, there was no person who had any interest

or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company

which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 13 September 2007, the shareholders of the Company approved

the adoption of the share option scheme (the “Scheme”). The
purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
participants thereunder for their contribution to the Group and/or
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and

attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.

Eligible participants of the Scheme include any full-time or part-time
employees, executives or officers (including executive, non-executive
and independent non-executive directors) of the Group and any
suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisors who, in the
sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to the
Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted under the Scheme is 220,000,000
shares of the Company (representing approximately 10.00% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of listing of shares
of the Company on the Stock Exchange).

The maximum number of shares issuable under the share options
granted to each eligible participant pursuant to the Scheme within
any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of offer. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, save that the period commences on the
date on which the offer is made and ends on a date which is not later
than 10 years from the date of the offer of the share options subject to
any provisions of the Scheme determining the rights of the grantees.
The offer of a grant of share option may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
Directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the
offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a share
of the Company.

The Scheme became effective on 13 September 2007 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

Details of movements in the options under the Scheme during the
year and options outstanding as at the beginning and end of the year
are set out below:
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Number of shares subject to options

BRERERNEA
Name or category Asat  Granted during  Cancelled/ lapsed Exercised Asat
of participant Dateof grant ~ Exercise price  Exercise period 1 January 2016 theyear  during the year  during the year 31 December 2016
HKS
HoB—E e
PEELLHET RiAE fTiE {78 —-A-H Rl EMEE/ 5N FRfE TZA=1-H
AT
Employees in aggregate: 12-12-2016 1778 124122016 t0 - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
Mr. Chan Ka Yeung Jacky 31122017
Mr. Chen Yong
BAAH
REhtE 11201810 - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
RELE 3112:2018
- 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
The closing price of the shares immediately before 12 December BOREE "S- EF+ A+ -H (BEEE

2016 on which the options were granted was HK$1.78 per share.

The total number of shares of the Company issuable upon exercise
of all options granted (i.e. 10,000,000) and may be granted (i.e.
91,571,000) under the Scheme is 101,571,000 shares, representing
3.8% of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this

annual report.

Rz AR L) TR ERER1.78/8 7T -

FARIE 23R 1 (B 10,000,000 A% ) K A 4E1%
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, there is sufficient public float of
not less than 25% of the Company'’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the

Group are set out in note 51 to the consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016
have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. It is the
auditor’s responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on
their audit, on those financial statements and to report their opinion
solely to the Company and for no other purpose. They do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of the independent auditor’s report.

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire as auditor of the
Company and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment
at the 2017 AGM.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 117 to 126.

On behalf of the Board
GUO Zi Wen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 10 March 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte.

TOTHE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA AOYUAN PROPERTY GROUP
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 127 to 319,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPAs Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

FRREZEE

BAREZEHEEREBERMOBE A - HAH

MR EMBRENEZRAEENSEIE - 5L
FHEAERMEZERBGSMBRERRELAER
AEETRIER - RN T SIS LEIRIEMHEE
BHER °

How our audit addressed the
Key audit matters key audit matters

afERENm
BRELETE RERRENEE

Valuation of investment
properties

We identified the valuation of ~ Our procedures in relation to assessing the
investment properties as a key audit ~ appropriateness of the carrying values of the
matter due to the significance of the  investment properties included:

balance to the consolidated financial

statements as a whole, combined o Understanding and evaluating the
with the estimates associated with management’s assessment process for
determining the fair value. As disclosed reviewing the work of the Valuer,

in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, the investment properties Assessing the competence, capabilities and

of the Group mainly represent retail objectivity of the Valuer;

shops, commercial buildings and

office located in the People’s Republic @ Discussing with the Valuer the valuation
of China (the “"PRC") and carried at process (including any limitations of scope
RMBb,424,507000 as at 31 December imposed by the management) to understand
2016, including completed investment the performance of the property markets,
properties of RMB2,598,978,000 significant assumptions adopted, critical
and investment properties under judgemental areas and data used in the
construction of RMB2,825,529,000, valuations;

which represents 8.2% of the
Group's total assets. Change in fair
value of investment properties of
RMB309,527000 was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income
for the year then ended.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

RENFHGE

AMERERGSY AMEEIERENENEEESRE
ERRTEHESE TREFRE:
MEEERLTER
BRfEar - ARIRE
NENBEABRE o TREBENERHEMNT
BEE - BmAE (ERBR b ERFLETHE
BREMWF 165 B
B EEENREM o HEREMBART AR
%Exhum¢$A RHAL

RAME ([RE )
B BEAERE o AiEATHEERR(AEE
TR RZT-RF BERNOTASERT) - 9
TZA=+-BEA EMENRR - MRANEAR

F #5,424,507,000 R BRAFAERGER
mﬂJ( EE % FROEE
IRENEARE
25989780007 &
ERERENMEARE
2,825,529, 0007‘c K
BEEEREEN
m%°&§%%%
NFEEHARE
309,527,0007C 1 &
EEALFEGA
BRREME AR
KR -



All of the Group's investment
properties are stated at fair value
based on valuations performed
by a qualified external valuer not
connected with the Group (the
“Valuer"). Details of the valuation
techniques and key inputs used in the
valuations are disclosed in note 16 in
the consolidated financial statements.
The valuations of the completed
investment properties are dependent
on certain key inputs, including term
yield, reversionary yield, unit rent
and adjustment made to account for
differences in location and level. The
valuations of investment properties
under construction are dependent on
gross development value, expected
developer’s profit, marketing costs,
construction costs to completion,
comparable land price and floor-area
ratio.

Valuation of properties for sale

We identified the valuation of
the Group's stock of properties
as a key audit matter due to the
significant estimates involved in the
determination of net realisable value
(the “NRV") of these properties.
As disclosed in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements,
the Group had properties under
development of RMB35,293,399,000
and completed properties of
RMB8,193,175,000 (the “properties
for sale”) as at 31 December 2016,
which are situated in the PRC and
Australia.

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
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o Evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation
techniques, assumptions and key inputs
adopted by the management of the Group and
the Valuer to entity-specific information and
market data to assess the appropriateness of
these judgements and estimations; and

° Evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by
the management on the key inputs to evaluate
the magnitude of their impacts on the fair
values and assessing the appropriateness of
the disclosures relating to these sensitivities.

Our procedures in relation to assessing management’s
assessment of the NRV of the properties for sale
included:

o Assessing management's process of
reviewing the budgeted revenue and cost of
the properties for sales and the determination
of the NRV of the properties for sale;

° Comparing the unit budgeted cost of the
properties under development to their
estimated selling prices which take into
account the estimated costs to completion,
estimated marketing expense and estimated
sales-related taxes;
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
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As disclosed in note 4 to the o
consolidated financial statements, the
management of the Group determined

the NRV of the properties for sale by
reference to the estimated selling
prices of the properties for sale, which
takes into account a number of factors
including recent prices achieved for
similar property types in the same
project or by similar properties, and

the prevailing and forecasted real
estate market conditions in the PRC

and Australia, estimated future costs

to completion, estimated marketing
expense and the estimated sale-
related taxes. Based on management's
analysis of the NRV of the properties

for sale, no write-downs were
considered to be necessary in the
consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December
2016. Accumulated write-downs of
RMB13,433,000 as at 31 December

2016 had been made in prior years.

Comparing the unit budget cost of the
completed properties to their estimated selling
prices which take into account the estimated
sales-related taxes;

Assessing the appropriateness of the
estimated selling prices used by management
with reference to market prices achieved in the
same projects or by comparable properties,
including an evaluation of the appropriateness
of the comparable properties used by
management of the Group based on our
knowledge of the Group's business and real
estate industry in the PRC and Australia; and

Evaluating the reasonableness of the
assessment performed by the management
of the Group on the key inputs to evaluate the
magnitude of their impact of the market value
and adequacy of impairment being made.
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Revenue recognised from sales of
properties

We identified revenue recognition as a
key audit matter as the revenue from
sales of properties is quantitatively
significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and there is
judgment involved in determining the
appropriate point at which to recognise
revenue from sales of properties.

Revenue from sales of properties
in the PRC is recognised when the
properties are delivered and titles
have been passed to buyers and
when all five criteria disclosed in
Note 3 “Revenue recognition” to the
consolidated financial statements
are satisfied. The Group recognised
revenue of RMB11,239,878,000 from
its property development segment for
the year ended 31 December 2016,
which is disclosed in note 5 in the
consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

T8 S A% Bl R S ()

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognised from
the property development segment included:

o Assessing management's process and control
over the point of time at which revenue from
sales of properties is recognised; and

o Evaluating the terms set out in the sales and
purchase agreements, on a sample basis,
and obtaining evidence regarding the delivery
of properties, including, where relevant,
completion certificates and delivery notices,
to assess whether the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the properties have
been transferred to the purchasers.
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Accuracy of land appreciation tax
calculations

We identified the accuracy of land
appreciation tax (“LAT") calculations
in the PRC as a key audit matter since
significant judgment is required in o
estimating the amount of LAT to be

paid by the Group within each of the
property development projects.

LAT is prepaid when properties are
pre-sold to the buyers and is provided
when properties are delivered to the
buyers and revenue is recognised.
As disclosed in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements,
LAT amounting to RMB420,931,000
was recognised in the consolidated o
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 December 2016. The LAT
calculations are highly dependent
on the appropriateness of the rates
used, which are determined by the
appreciation of land value. The amount
of the land appreciation is determined
with reference to proceeds of the
sales of properties less the estimated
deductible expenditures, including the
cost of land use rights and all property
development expenditures.

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the accuracy of
management’s LAT calculations included:

Assessing the reasonableness of the related
deductible expenditure used in the LAT
calculations;

Engaging our tax specialists in the PRC to
assess the accuracy of the land appreciation
amount calculations, and to assess the
appropriateness of the LAT rate used for
each of the property development projects by
comparing it to the LAT rate announced by the
State Administration of Taxation in the PRC;
and

Assessing the estimates adopted by the
management in estimating the amount of the
land appreciation charge rate by comparing
estimates made in previous periods to actual
results as well as current year's estimates.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

T S A% B ol (4D

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

T S A% B ol (4D

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Li Man Kei.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

10 March 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

%A@ﬁ&ﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ%

For the year ended 31 December 2016 g2 —ZF—

NFEFZHA=1—HILLFE

2016 2015
—EB-RF —FRF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Kz ARET T ARETTT
Revenue ERE 5 11,827,268 9,672,424
Cost of sales HEKAR (8,550,184) (6,926,148)
Gross profit ESl 3,277,084 2,646,276
Other income, gains and losses HAWA ~ W R E1E 7 (230,817) (130,973)
Change in fair value of HEMERNTEES)
investment properties 16 309,527 356,073
Gain (loss) on disposal of & — R B A R s
a subsidiary (E18) 42 385 (33,112)
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RO (592,275) (488,511)
Administrative expenses THAX (489,359) (401,710)
Share of results of joint ventures JEI5E SR EER (32,137) 27,802
Finance costs RMEKAK 8 (157,419) (91,451)
Profit before tax ERA AT A 9 2,084,989 1,884,394
Income tax expense FTiSfiA > 10 (1,078,381) (976,901)
Profit for the year F A 1,006,608 907,493
Other comprehensive income (expense) Hib 2 mEW s (EH)
Item that may be reclassified A GEEFT 57 48 2315 A9 7E B
to profit or loss
Net fair value gain on available- AEHERERNATE
for-sale investments, net of e F8E - HIBRFTISHR
income tax 2,803 -
Exchange differences on HMEGINETSHIE 5 =58
translating foreign operations 26,911 (2,551)
29,714 (2,551)
Profit and total comprehensive income  FREH M2 (BH) 258
(expense) for the year 1,036,322 904,942
Profit for the year attributable to: LA AT E(EFE AR
— Owners of the Company VNI 2PN 880,962 812,160
— Non-controlling interests — I e e 125,646 95,333
1,006,608 907,493
Profit and total comprehensive income  BAN AL FE(G R A
(expense) for the year ReEWam (BR) 285 -
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company . VNGIEZ =N 902,664 810,170
— Non-controlling interests — IR R s 133,658 94,772
1,036,322 904,942
Earnings per share BAR&R
Basic (RMB cents) EXR(AR%ES) 13 32.30 29.17
Diluted (RMB cents) e (ARED) 13 32.30 29.17
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

i T B IR DL AR

At 31 December 2016 R—F—NF+—-H=+—H

2016 2015
—E-RE —T-hF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR¥ET T ARETTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS SEMBNEE
Property, plant and equipment ) E RN L 14 505,983 493,882
Prepaid lease payments AT EFIE 15 14,939 15,374
Investment properties KEME 16 5,424,507 4,504,545
Goodwill B 17 1,602 =
Intangible assets B EE 18 2,956 -
Interests in joint ventures RE SRR 19 163,790 216,966
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 20 9,707 75,000
Deferred tax assets BB E = 21 183,279 171,134
Deposits paid for acquisitions g 1)
of subsidiaries BfETE 22 130,000 =
Amount due from a joint venture JEW —FEl & &b FEFKIE 23 152,009 151,989
6,588,772 5,628,890
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Properties for sale AT SHE M 24 43,486,574 31,792,372
Inventories FE 26,481 =
Trade and other receivables 5 RE MWK 25 3,604,457 1,752,635
Deposits paid for acquisition W Tt FREE TS
of land use rights 26 147,053 -
Amounts due from non-controlling JFE W BT B 2 B FEAERR
shareholders of subsidiaries AR FRIR 27 364,823 26,534
Amounts due from related parties FEUS & R RIS IE 28 98,206 221,992
Amounts due from joint ventures JEUA & FE IR 29 386,350 105,320
Tax recoverable A EH 616,404 263,016
Prepaid lease payments A HEEFRIE 15 435 435
Derivative financial instruments PTESBMITA 30 142,402 -
Restricted bank deposits Z R B ERITIFHK 31 485,578 1,266,632
Bank balances and cash IRITHB MRS 31 10,470,878 7,769,046
59,829,641 43,197,982
CURRENT LIABILITIES ik =N
Trade and other payables B 5 K H AR 32 6,794,500 5,348,139
Deposits received for sale HEMEEWET & 32
of properties 20,523,884 9,823,411
Amounts due to non-controlling AR NGIE = 2
shareholders of subsidiaries [ B FIA 27 163,098 104,728
Amounts due to joint ventures JERE &R HEFIA 33 132,819 1,123,287
Tax liabilities WIEBE 2,592,685 2,202,224
Bank and other borrowings 1T RHABERK 34 2,997,390 2,570,344
Senior notes and bonds BEEBNES 37 1,508,498 =
Provisions BE 35 1,429,723 1,697,451
36,142,597 22,769,584
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

Ao BB R DL AR (A)

At 31 December 2016 R =—ZFE—N#FE+=-H=+—H

2016 2015
—EB—REF —E—RF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR®ET T AREFIT
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENBEFE 23,687,044 20,428,398
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT wEERREAE
LIABILITIES 30,275,816 26,057,288
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEmEaE
Other payable H At pE T ERIE - 300,000
Bank and other borrowings HRITREAMEK 34 3,795,392 4,802,953
Loans from non-controlling D=L NN 22
shareholders of subsidiaries IR E 36 1,187,400 =
Deferred tax liabilities FEFHTEEE 21 582,560 454,100
Senior notes and bonds BRAEENES 37 10,079,171 8,924,378
15,644,523 14,481,431
NET ASSETS HEE 14,631,293 11,575,857
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRI
Share capital (%N 38 25,292 26,355
Reserves T 8,892,801 8,216,420
Equity attributable to owners NATEE AE LR
of the Company 8,918,093 8,242,775
Non-controlling interests el g 5,713,200 3,333,082
14,631,293 11,575,857

The consolidated financial statements on pages 127 to 319 were

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 10

March 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Guo Zi Wen
S
DIRECTOR
EZE

HRE127BEFEIN98 2B MIEHRERE R =
E—t+F=-ATHEESSSHAEREETIE

YHTIALTHRREFTERE -

Guo Zi Ning
e
DIRECTOR
EF
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“ Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Y L

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAERNEL
Capital Share Non-
Share Share redemption ~ Statutory  Special  Translation Revaluation ~option  Retained controling
captdl  premium  reserve  reseve  rfeseve  reserve  reseve  reseve profis  Subdotal  interests Total
e biks

Br  ROER RORR AeRE  GURE ATGR  EMGR BRERE ROEM O EREE &
RVBOOD  RMBOO RMBOOD  RMBODD RVBOOD RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBODD RBODD RMBOOO AMBOOD  AMBOND
ARRTRL ARRTL ARRTT ARMTRL ARMTL ARRTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETL ARETR ARMTR ARRTR

(Note &) (Note b)

At 1 January 2015 N-E-1E-f-H 26305 4343438 - PB49 26891 - 3% 368 2944066 7719452 1314636 9,034,088
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - - - B12I60 812160 %33 90749
Exchange diffrences arising MEREIIRE
intranslaing to presentation ERENER
currency - (1990 (61)  (2.557)
Profitand total comprehensive EREHIREE
expense for te year BRiE - - BI2I60 0170 W A4
Appropriation to Statutory reserve. BEEERRE - - - 16065 - - - - (16069 - - -
Recagniton of equity-settied B RAEENRA
Share-based payments BRI - - - - - - - kl - 31 - 1
Transter of share opfion reserve WERERER
tpon forfeiture of share options EhiEGE - - - - - - - (109 709 - - -
Acquistion of subsidiares (note 41) ~ WEEHBAA(H41) - - - - - - - - - - BT 0501
Deemed disposalof partil nterestsin -~ & ALEHBAFNTA
subsidaries withoutloss of control T EXAFERE - - - - 1% - - - - B1% 1194864 1200000
Derecognisation of noncontroling B AHEHBAFEK |
interests upon deemed disposd EHERER
of subsidiaries note 421d) (Hit42) - - - - - - - - - - sy 0y
Disposalof asubsiday ote 42 & —FHEAA itz - - - - - - - - - - (13800 (1380
Dividend recognised as istrbution ~~ EAAAEARS (FE12)
[note 12) = = = = = = - - (292304 (29230 - (293
Dividend paid to non-controling AHBAARHERRR
shareholders of subsidiries Efke - - - - - - - - - - (B35 (35E)
Aequistion of non-contiolinginterests  FINBATEFHERRR
fromnon-controling shareholders  WESFERER
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - 05 (953
Capital contribution from FERERIR
non-ontrolling interests - - - - - - - - - - 0781 70787
At31 Decerber 2015 N-E-1F

TZR=1+-H 26355 4343438 - 14564 24117 (1990  377% - 3448556 8242775 3333082 11575857
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

Aok T W 2 ) A (A)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 &2 —FE—NF+ - H=+—HI-FF

Attributable to owners of the Company

LG LN
Capital Share Non-
Share  Share redemption Statutory  Special Translation Revaluation option  Retained controlling
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  Subfotal interests Total
e o
Bx  ROEE BERE iERE  HARRE  ARBR  EHER BRERE  REEA N EhER i
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTR ARETT ARETn ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTn ARMIR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR
{No fe a) (Note b)
uuﬁ/ \/”7)7.’7?\ /!
Profitfor the year EmgT - - - - - - - - 880962 880,962 125646 1,006,608
Exchange differences arisingin ErES L
translaing topresentationcureney  ZEH A - - - - - 18899 - - - 1889 802 269N
Net fir vaue gain on AFS investments, AT HEREAFENE
net of ncome tax A8 fIRAEH - - - - - -8 - - -
Profit and total comprehensive income FREHIRZEl A EE
for the year - - - - - 18899 2803 - 880962 902,664 133658 1,036,322
Appropriation to Statutoryreserve. BEEER TR - - - 19501 - - - - (1950 - - -
Staresrepuchased ondcanceled - EEE R (106 (159013 1,063 - - - - .33 (15691) - [155691)
Recogniton of equity-setted ANRAESRD
Share-based payments EERAAR - - - - - - - 36 - 36 - 376
Acquistions of subsidries hote 1) WEBAA (Fizk41) - - - - - - - - - - 04800 994800
Disposal of parta interests n HE-FHERRNESS
 sUbsidiary without loss of ERmuERE R
control (note 4200 LiRZH0) - - - - 175 - - - - 51399225 1400000
Deemed disposal of partil nterests ~ EAHERBA TS
in subsidaries wihot loss of R e LA
control (note 42(c) (Fik420) - - - - 5% - - - - 509 686904 632000
Disposel of a subsidary ote 426) 2 E—TAHBAE (et 42le) - - - - - - - - - - () (1)
Dividend recognised as distioution R ARRATRE
fnote 12 (it 12) - - - - - - - - (agm8) (244978 S
Dividend paid o non-controling AHEAAEARRR
shargholdersof subsidares ke - - - - - - - - - - (326954 (326954)
Decrease in capital contrbutonbya ~ ~EHEBATH—BAIE
former non-ontroling shareholder of ~ SEARREEH Y
asubsidary (note 41l (GiRZN) - - - - - - - - - - (126000 (126000)
Acquistions of non-controling interests - FHE R MEHERRE
from non-contoling shareholders of  WEEFFERiER
subsdres note 41() (34111 - - - - 167076 - - - - 167076 (381738 (214662
Capital contribution from FRER A
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - 300 300
At31 December 2016 KZE-1E
+ZA=t-A 25292 4184425 1063 134065 447,064 16909 40538 376 4068361 8918093 5713200 14631293
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)
AR RESR A B A% (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

Notes:

The statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit for the
year of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
(based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial statements) in accordance with
the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve cannot be reduced except either
in setting off the accumulated losses or increasing capital.

Revaluation reserve include (i) during the year ended 31 December 2007,
revaluation surplus arising from transfer of owner-occupied properties to
investment properties at the date of change in use amounted to RMB50,313,000
net of related deferred tax liability of RMB12,578,000 was credited to property
revaluation reserve; and (ii) fair value gain of RMB2,803,000 (2015: nil) on
available-for-sale investments, net of income tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under revaluation reserve during year
ended 31 December 2016.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A Blaiiag

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

2016 2015
AL “Z-hf
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000
HaF ARET T ARET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEH
Profit before tax BRBADER 2,084,989 1,884,394
Adjustments for: BT5IE
Change in fair value of investment properties REMEATEE (309,527) (356,073)
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments MTESRTANTEES (142,402) =
Finance costs REMA 157,419 91,451
Share of results of joint ventures BlHAELEXE 32,137 (27,802)
(Gain) loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HRBAR (Ka) B (385) 33,112
Share-based payments MR BERERF 376 321
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment mE - BERRENTE 41,670 34,329
Release of prepaid lease payments BNRERZED 435 435
Amortisation of intangible assets ERBESE 129 =
Bank interest income BITHFSHA (54,458) (71,739)
Other interest income HAnFIBMA (4,313) (29,260)
Dividend income from available-for-sale investments A HERENREBA - (2,500)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments HE AT ERE R (11,919) =
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HENE - BEREEBR
plant and equipment (W) 1,102 (6,870)
Unrealised foreign exchange losses RETINEFE 472,358 277,509
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital &2 &E4EHFMNELHELTE 2,267,611 1,827,307
Increase in inventories FEEM (26,481) -
Increase in properties for sale A SHE I (1,676,325) (4,908,334)
Increase in deposits paid for acquisition of land use rights BB T3 ERER [T 12 (147,053) =
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 R At MR (3 n) R (1,704,913) 54,195
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables B 5 RAMERFRORD) (364,933) 206,983
Increase in deposits received for sale of properties HEMEEMETSEM 10,011,703 1,477,538
Cash used in operations REMARE 8,359,609 (1,342,311)
Income taxes paid BRETEH (879,734) (479,806)
Interest paid ERHE (1,535,005) (1,201,282)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETEME (R BHLFE 5,944,870 (3,023,399)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Payments for investment properties REMENR (660,707) (848,738)
Deposits paid for acquisitions of subsidiaries YERBARENE (130,000) =
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash B A 7] Ik s
equivalents acquired) Re kAL EEN) 41 (3,193,702) 234,483
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BENE  BERH (42,521) (35,844)
Advance to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries BlEASERA S (338,289) (5,520)
Advance to joint ventures AARELERT (628,393) =
Repayment from joint ventures BEMPEEN 55,294 103,382
Advance to related parties Bl UNSESA (44,741 (47,928)
Repayment from related parties BERFER 41,628 =
Decrease (increase) in restricted bank deposits XIRHISRITF R (45 m) 781,054 (201,632)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  HEWE - BERRENGIE - 17,123
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HERBMEMSTE 10,813 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

Ao Bl iR AR (4

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

2016 2015
AL “Z-nf
NOTE RMB'000 RMB'000
HaF ARET T ARET T
Disposal of a subsidiary (net of cash and cash & —FHE AR (GOBRAT
equivalents disposed of) HERE KREEEY) 42(a) (4,936) (11)
Interest received BUH S 54,458 79,620
Dividend received from available-for-sale investments At HERERMRSKA - 2,500
Investment in available-for-sale investments REMHEHERE - (50,000)
Proceed from disposal of available-for-sale investments HEMENEREMEHE 30,950 =
Deemed disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries REHENBARMS I ES
resulting in loss of controls (BER AR 42(d) - (171,690)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RERBMARSFE (4,069,092) (924,255)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
New bank and other borrowings raised FIRIRIT R AR 5,244,900 6,005,610
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BRRTREMER (5,915,611) (6,318,418)
Proceeds received from senior notes and bonds, BEZEREFMEFE -
net of issue expenses MRE TS 3,575,488 5,929,955
Redemption of senior notes BRELRE (1,463,066) (768,350)
Advance from (repayment to) non-controlling B8 (BT HBAH
shareholders of subsidiaries B FEFERR AR R 58,370 (38,531)
Loans from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries REME R AIEERR A E K 302,100 -
Repayment of loans from non-controlling shareholders BEREMBLAEER
of subsidiaries BRHME (1,600,000) =
(Repayment to) advance from joint ventures (BRT)BNEE20E (544,588) 977,89
Dividends paid to owners of the Company MARAEEARNRE (244,978) (292,304)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders AR F A RMIEER
of subsidiaries of the Company BRERRE (326,954) (53,552)
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest in a HE—HNBARPEE
subsidiary without loss of control (WK A IR FiS 58 1,400,000 -
Proceeds from deemed disposal of partial interests RANENBARDH Ex
in subsidiaries without loss of controls (WK AR TSR 692,000 1,200,000
Acquisition of non-controlling interests from EENENGEE R E
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries Wi JE i s (214,662) (9,534)
Shares repurchased BERRNO (155,691) =
Contribution from non-controlling shareholders JEERR AR & 300 171,021
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMETHAERSFE 807,608 6,803,792
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BERACEEEINFE 2,683,386 2,856,138
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ExgHze 18,446 60,600
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE REDHWREERBELEEN
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 7,769,046 4,852,308
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE REANEERREZEREY
END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY HRTERRES
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 10,470,878 7,769,046
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NNF+_—_A=+—HIFFZ

General

The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK"). The addresses of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information section to
the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
50.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the

“|ASB") for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 38

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 41

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and IAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs

2012-2014 Cycle
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

2. Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

The application of the above amendments to IFRSs in the
current year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and position for the current and prior years and/or
disclosures set out in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments'

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments’

IFRS 16 Leases?

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration’

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions'

Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?®

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative*
Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for Unrealised Losses*

Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property’

Amendments to IFRSs  Annual Improvements to IFRS
Standards 2014-2016 Cycle®
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 &% = F—~N#E+=H=+—HIFFE

Application of New and Amendments to 2.

International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or

1 January 2018, as appropriate

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general
hedge accounting and impairment requirements of financial
assets.

Key requirements of IFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group are:

° All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose objective
is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that
are held within a business model whose objective is
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms
of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding, are generally
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"). All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair value at
the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition,
under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election
to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an
equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

2. Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Key requirements of IFRS 9: (continued)

° In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9
required an expected credit loss model, as opposed to
an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected
credit loss model required an entity to account for
expected credit losses and changes in those and changes
in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In
other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to
have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

Application of IFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact
on the classification and measurement of the Group'’s financial
assets and financial liabilities. The Group’s available-for-sale
investments will either be measured at fair value through profit
or loss or be designated as FVTOCI (subject to fulfilment of the
designation criteria). In addition, the expected credit loss model
may result in early provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group's financial assets measured
at amortised cost. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 9 until the Group
performs a detailed review.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NNF+_—_A=+—HIFFZ

Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 “Revenue’ IAS

1 “Construction Contracts” and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for goods or
services. Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

2.

R P TR B R B S R 2 AU
¥ QAU EET ([ BIFR B IS 3R 5
28 1) (&)

BB B ERE 155 REEF &1

(continued) B A J(4E)

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with customer F—H: FAEEPIIZHEEL

Step 2:  Identify the performance obligation in the contract FH . HRNEHTHRBRAOEME

Step3:  Determine the transaction price F=F: BTRHE

Step4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance EML: BRIBHEZEHNTHE
obligations in the contract HEAE

Step5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies FRF: REETKBYHEER(H
a performance obligation i) R I 5

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
IFRS 15.

In April 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in relation
to the identification of performance obligations, principal versus
agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

The executive directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of IFRS 15 in the future may result in more
disclosures, however, the executive directors of the Company
do not anticipate that the application of IFRS 15 will have
a material impact on the timing and amounts of revenue
recognised in the respective reporting periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both
lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease
guidance including IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis
of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.
Distinctions of operating leases (off balance sheet) and finance
leases (on balance sheet) are removed for lessee accounting
and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by
lessees (i.e. all on balance sheet) except for short-term leases
and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability
is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact
of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification
of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid
lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold
lands for owned use and those classified as investment
properties while other operating lease payments are presented
as operating cash flows. Under the IFRS 16, lease payments
in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and
an interest portion which will be presented as financing and
operating cash flows respectively.
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

Application of New and Amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Under IAS 17 the Group has already recognised an asset and a
related finance lease liability for finance lease arrangement and
prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group
is a lessee. The application of IFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on whether
the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the
same line item at which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned.

In contract to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of RMB183,117000 as disclosed
in note 44. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under IFRS 16,
and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they
qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the application of
IFRS 16. The new requirement to recognise a right-of-use asset
and a related lease liability is expected to have a significant
impact on the amounts recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements and the executive directors are currently
assessing its potential impact. However, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the
Group performs a detailed review.

Except those mentioned above, the executive directors of
the Company anticipate that the application of other new and
revised IFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the SEHK (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end
of the reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in
use in IAS 36.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

3. FESHBX

REVBRROCREER G EIEZE
SRMBERMEREERNRE - Ut
Sh IR E M BMRBEEBM R AE S
EFRANT EWRR D) REERQBES
PIRE 2 ERRERIR -

BRTXEABRMENBSHRETY
ENEBMTANRFERFEN  HaH
BRRIRE L RANELERS -

FELRA—RERR ZE m MR
BRENRTE -

RFEREMS2EE ZHAETERS
ETZBFR ST HE —REEMKER
EBRIEE-HBEMMNER  EH
ZERERAEMEERMTEREEX
st - EHEERABEAFEEL MG
B AREERMS2EEGETERY
RZEAERRBETEERSEER L
FE - RAGEARUBRETAER &L
BREIAFEOEEEEET  ETE
TEBIRR B 5 RS RIS 2 SR E R A AR
MAEMINNR S - BERESFERIFE
17RBEANEERS - U REBRFE
BOEXFEAFENFE  fINEERE
AHERIE 25 2 AT RRFERER S
R 36 ZEMEE -

HERMEBEZAVEFEDZEREMSZ
HEBBERAEEEZES REEMARE
FHELETHEREES REERR
ZHR—MI52EE - MELMELKEER
mLZBET]

BSh - RETERETE - AFHE 2R
BAFEHEZHABBTBRERER
AFEIEZHABBYABRES
SEBE—F B_MRE=H - I
m -

Annual Report 2016 & — /N4E4ER

143



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %= — =&
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below:
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the

Company:
o has power over the investee;
o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date of the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant components of
equity including reserves and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted after re-attribution
of the relevant equity component, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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‘ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group losses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group has directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specific/permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under IAS 39, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

3.

FESEEA)
meE%E(E)

EEERGEHBLAZIEREZZ
28 (&)

EAEEKE - FMERE 2% -
SRR NERRESSER - W) BEW
REZAFERMEAREEZZ A TE
2B () AR BB AN EZMB A
Al BE(BERBE) RABZAMER
BZEZRAE - TAMBE AR MNE
i 22 T W et W R 2 2 BB SKEE - IR
AEBEEERLENBARMEBEES
BEAR(BIZERBERMEHREER 2
BE/FAUEFOBEEERSERES
—RRpHER) - REEFIEE BAIMEBA
ARBZEFNREZAFERASER
BREZATE  BRRIEERSE
AIFE39RETTEF RIE(WER) - /A
R—EBERARNAERERENT SR
FERIRROBA -

EBEH

WEXBRABELETERE - ¥
BEHBE L RESURTERE &
ST EENEFEAREE RN
BE AEEAERKBENES AN
BE - ARAEEETHRARE DRI
BEMNATENBENE - BRBERH
B AN —RE NI RN IB AR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 /ncome Taxes
and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangement of the acquire or share-based
payment arrangement of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting
policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

Acaquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to the financial assets and
financial liabilities at the respective fair value, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the other
individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their
relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction
does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a
joint venture is described below.

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments in joint ventures (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of joint venture are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint venture used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, investment in a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint
venture. When the Group's share of losses of a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in that joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group's net investment in the joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments in joint ventures (continued)

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
IS necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group's investment in a joint venture. VWhen necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with
its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have joint control over a joint
venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former
joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of IAS 39, the Group measures the retained interest
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the joint venture at the date the equity method was
discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that joint venture on the same basis as
would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments in joint ventures (continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in a joint
venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the
gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the joint venture are
recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that are not
related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances, and
sales-related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group's activities, as described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NF+_-A=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Specifically, revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary
course of business is recognised when the respective
properties have been completed and delivered to the buyers.
Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to
meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leasing (continued)

Leasehold land and building (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the
net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group's interests.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into presentation currency (i.e. RMB)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity (and attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of joint
arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the
loan based on prevailing market interest rates.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans and
state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received
is determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
option reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NF+_-A=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for
such investment properties are measured in accordance with
the above general principles set out in IAS 12 (i.e. based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be recovered).

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land
(classified as finance lease) and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than properties under construction as described
below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than properties under construction) less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NF+_-A=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Buildings under development for future owner occupied
purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for
production, or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of
prepaid lease payments provided during the construction period
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties and/or land held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
construction for such purpose).

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

Investment properties under construction are transferred to
properties for sale when and only when there is a change in use
evidenced by the commencement of development with a view
to sale. The property’s cost for subsequent accounting shall be
its fair value at the date of change.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment losses on tangible assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill (see
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill (see
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)
(continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Properties for sale

Completed properties and properties under development for
sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes the cost of land, development expenditure, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting
policy, and other attributable expenses.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
properties for sale less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

Inventories

Inventories represent trading merchandises are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories
are determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. WWhen a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions for land acquired are based on estimates of required
expenditure on the properties. The Group estimates its liabilities
for land acquired based upon detailed calculations of the
amount and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform
the required work, escalated for inflation, then discounted at a
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability such
that the amount of provision reflects the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions for land acquired are added to the cost of properties
for sale in the period in which the obligation is identified.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into (i) available-
for-sale financial assets and (ii) loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Available-forsale ("AFS”) financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b)
held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as AFS financial assets and are traded in an active market are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial
assets relating to interest income calculated using the
effective interest method are recognised in the profit or loss.
Dividends on AFS equity investments are recognised in the
profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends
is established. Other changes in the carrying amount of AFS
financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of revaluation reserve.
When the investment is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see
the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial
assets below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale (AFS”) financial assets (continued)

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such unquoted equity investments, they are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the
end of the reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect
of impairment of financial assets below).

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including deposits paid for acquisitions of subsidiaries, trade
and other receivables, amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, amounts due from related parties,
amounts due from joint ventures, restricted bank deposits and
bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any impairment (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment of financial assets
below).

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been affected.

For AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to
be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain of financial assets, such as trade receivables, that
are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition,
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the credit period, as well as observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’'s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be
reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the allowance account.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in the equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is
recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including bank and other borrowings,
trade and other payables, amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, amounts due to joint ventures,
loans from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and
senior notes and bonds) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective
as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of
a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at FVTPL. Generally, multiple embedded derivatives
in a single instrument are treated as a single compound
embedded derivative unless those derivatives relate to different
risk exposures and are readily separable and independent of
each other.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a
debt instrument.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

FESEEA)
SRIT A (&)
THEERKEITA (&)
e

PTETERFIITERNE BNERA
FEER ERRBERRRAFEERE
et E - A ELENRSEIBEDNER
BRER RIETETAEERREN
REEHRTR  ERHERT - RERME
R ER TR ERNEEME

A TET A

ERARTETIAFETETIAZT
= HERBERFEEIBENWIERER
BiE - RRFEEEONWFEATEER
BamatEal  FTEEReHzHRAR
METEHERABIHITETR - —&
5 B-—THHRMNZEHKARITEL
BHRABE —EEaHRARITETE - @
EZELTE T BERT R R R &K AL
Brof  BFESSEBL -

HP

HEREA

MBERBODEERTAEARRE
BARERBEES TANRERBHIER]
RN R B BB A 50 T 3R B BSR4 A
AMELAREMNNEH -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (continued)

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and not
designated at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of:

() the amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with |IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises an
associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

EEFTBCR ()
ERTA (&)
2MEARRKETA )
IR ()

REEETUIETAEBASUAT
E5)5E B S IR A SR A TER
o ROSHRE - AEBUTHIRE
EHBUBIERAL

(i REBEEHFERENEETIROS
B AHSBEREBERETERSE
375  AARRERAAREERE
TR

(i) FIFERNEERENIERIER
R REHEESH (WER ) o

R TERR

AEBRAEEEERSRENAOE
NEmk T EREReREENRE
REBD B & @ R R R iR 2 B
E-MRAEERTREZOLIZRE
8RB 10 [ fex K% (O] ¥ 3 A6 A 2 I 4 48 R
BE AASBEEHERZEEL UL
FESLRERRNEREBAG MR
AEERERERSBREEBNI DA
PO AIAEEEERRZTHME
ENERC WSR2 ERER -

Annual Report 2016 & — /N4E4ER

175



176

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Derecognition (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset'’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the executive directors of the Company
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the executive directors
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Joint control over Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye

Note 19 describes that Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye is
accounted for joint ventures of the Group although the Group
owns 85.71% (2015: 60%) and 78.49% (2015: 51.05%) equity
interests in Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye, respectively.
Taking into account that the decisions that relate to the relevant
activities of Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye require
unanimous consent from both the Group and the other joint
ventures partners, the Group has joint control over Zhuzhou
Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the executive directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group's investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than though sale. Therefore, in determining
the Group's deferred taxation on investment properties, the
executive directors have determined that the presumption that
the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not
rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised deferred taxes
of both enterprise income tax and land appreciation tax on
changes in fair value of all investment properties.
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Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development for sale and completed properties for sale

Properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale are stated at the lower of the cost and net
realisable value. Cost of each unit in each phase of development
is determined using the weighted average cost method. The
net realisable value is the estimated selling price (based on
prevailing market conditions in the PRC and Australia) less
estimated costs to completion, estimated selling expenses and
estimated sales-related taxes, which are estimated based on
best available information. \Where there is any decrease in the
estimated selling price arising from any changes to the property
market conditions, there may be written down on the properties
under development for sale and completed properties for sale.

As at 31 December 2016, the carrying amount of properties
under development and completed properties for sale
amounted to approximately RMB43,486,574,000, net of
write-down of RMB13,433,000 (2015: carrying amount of
RMB31,792,372,000, net of write-down of RMB13,433,000) in
the PRC and Australia.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment of hotel assets included in property, plant and
equipment

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
are reviewed annually and adjusted for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 whenever certain events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amount of the assets is the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing fair
value less costs to sell, a combination of the market approach
and depreciated replacement cost approach was adopted in
assessing the land portion and the buildings structures of the
hotel, respectively, taking into account of discount for vacancy
and cost to sell the hotel property. Details of the recoverable
amount calculation for property, plant and equipment are
disclosed in note 14.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. However, the
implementation and settlement of the tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and certain
projects of the Group have not finalised their land appreciation
tax calculations and payments with any local tax authorities
in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgment is required in
determining the amount of land appreciation and its related
income tax provisions. The amount of the land appreciation
is determined with reference to proceeds of the sales of
properties less the estimated deductible expenditures, including
the cost of land use rights and all property development
expenditures. The Group recognised the LAT tax based on
management'’s best estimates. The final tax outcome could
be different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and
these differences will impact the income tax expense and the
related income tax provisions in the periods in which such tax is
finalised with local tax authorities.

RS HE R A THBEE
ENEERE ()

fhEr NRME RN EZRF (&)

BIEEE (BIEYF - MERZE)HE

ME - BERREIREER £%4E5
TEHXBRENL  BRREEREE
AW EE - RIFEER & 5 R E 365K IR
FETREFTZRAE - BEZATKRE
BB RFER & RN B SRR B
BEMEZRSE - RA[IFERD
ERAR - Siat B o KB ERE
WMER D RERTEERFTEEENAN
ENES U RZEEREEEEDE
AT - BT ENE - BFE AR
Bz AR El SR BRH 14 R IEE -

T EEH ([ LB EH )

AEBEAFMHTEZ L HWIBER - R
i - R BB T Y T R R B0 AR IR
BUREXNEMEZER  MASENET
T8 B 1N AP B A 3 5 RS BD P AR AR B
ELEER ZAERIAMN - Bt - B
BTt RESBERERBEREHER
RIZAEHNERHE - LHIREHRSETY
RE2EHEMSFRERMGAHRAX (2
R E AR AR AMEERFM)
RETE AEBEENEEEZ&EME
R LMEREN HKRNTAEERNE
TRRMBIIRZ 2 - MxFERE
FEEMT R APIREXFHAZH
AR Z SR R A RIS TR -

Annual Report 2016 —ZF— /N4E4ER

179



h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NFE+ - H=+—HILFZF

Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2016, a deferred tax asset of
RMB200,396,000 (2015: RMB140,814,000) in relation to
unused tax losses for certain operating subsidiaries has been
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax
losses of RMB578,733,000 (2015: RMB504,181,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of
the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient
future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future. In cases where the actual future taxable profits
generated are less or mote than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which result in revision of future taxable
profits estimation, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period
in which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

The investment properties of the Group are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. The board of directors
of the Company has set up a property valuation team, which
is headed up by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an investment property, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. \Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages qualified
external valuers to perform the valuation. The valuation team
works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
Chief Financial Officer reports the valuation team'’s findings to
the board of directors of the Company half a year to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
(continued)

The Group uses valuation technigues that include inputs that are
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value
of investment properties. Note 16 provides detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of investment
properties.

Provision for land acquired

The provision for land acquired has been determined by
the executive directors based on their best estimates. The
executive directors of the Company estimated this liability for
land acquired based upon detailed calculations of the amount
and timing of future cash flows spending on the properties
development, escalated for inflation, then discounted at a
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability,
such that the provision reflects the present value of the costs
expected to be required to settle the obligation. However, in
so far as the effect on the land and properties development
becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the
associated costs may be subject to change in the near future.
The provision is reviewed regularly such that it properly reflects
the present value of the obligation arising from the development
of the current and past properties. The movement of provisions
for land acquired during the year is set out in note 35.

RS HE R A THBEE
ENEERE ()

fhEr NRME RN EZRF (&)

RFEBRIGEBRE (&)

B ER AR B 5 I IR A Al B S T 5 BUR
REENEABBREANGBER G
KREMENDFE - M 16REBRE
EREVEATFEMANGERDT - @
ABIE M EARBROARER -

B+ 11

Wt EE I RATESREERE
BEEE - ATESREVEFREZKR
KReREFXSERKHEZFAAE
A BBERER  BERRBREEEE
E2RITHSFERABRERR R
RERE  BERERRBPARTA
ERXZBRE  EmEstZEEL
BE- A RERBLHMEYERE
FENARBREESHE - QIAEREK
RZAEEHINA] BE B A R R & « 5%
weEHRs  NEERRERLBE
MERBMELREEZRE - FRARE
THBHEEEFIINHIFESS

Annual Report 2016 —ZF— /N4E4ER

181



182

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

5. Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the property development
and property investment in the PRC. An analysis of the Group's
revenue for the year is as follows:

E -

AEEEERFERENEEERYE
REETE - REERNENSEEIN
T

2016 2015
—EB—REF —E—hF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARET T

Sale of properties SHE W

Rental income WA

Hotel, property management services BIE - MEBERBKA
income and sale of goods MIHEEY

6. Segment Information

Information regularly reported to the Group's chief executive
officer (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses
on the type of operation. The Group’s reportable and operating
segments under IFRS 8 are as follows:

Property development — development and sale of properties
Property investment  — lease of investment properties
Others — hotel operation, provision of

property management services and
sale of goods
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2= —F—NF+ -H=+—HIFFZ

6. Segment Information (continued)

6.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable and operating segments:

2 ERE R ()

AT RANEE LA E M & ED A8 D
M EBMEEDT

Year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_E—ANE+-A=1+—HIEE

Property Property
development investment Others Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR%TR AR¥TR AR%TxR
External segment revenue HME 7 BP & SR 11,239,878 73,013 514,377 11,827,268
Segment profit (loss) DERA (EE) 2,303,043 354,999 (71,295) 2,586,747
Other income, gains and losses EfA -~ Wezs k&1 (230,817)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— B A R 385
Unallocated corporate expenses  ADERERS (81,770)
Share of results of joint ventures ~ BIEAEEFEE (32,137)
Finance costs BERA (157,419)
Profit before tax BRA A A 2,084,989
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %= — =&

—NFTZH=1—HIFFE

6. Segment Information (continued)

6.

7 EPE R ()

Year ended 31 December 2015

BE-F-AFT- A=t ALFE

Property Property
development investment Others Total
b ER S MERE HAh MmEr
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETRT
External segment revenue HME 7 BP & SR 9,294,506 68,800 209,118 9,572,424
Segment profit (loss) S Eb &R (E5HE) 1,828,007 399,539 (46,375) 2,181,171
Other income, gains and losses HfA ~ ez R EIE (130,973)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHBAREE (33,112)
Unallocated corporate expenses  ADERERS (69,043)
Share of results of joint ventures ~ BIEAENEEE 27802
Finance costs BERA (91,451)
Profit before tax BRA A A 1,884,394
The accounting policies of the reportable and operating ARG REED DO ST ER AN ES
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies Frat A& B a5t BURHER - 23 FEEA
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit BEDMAEERFHEE - WARDE

generated or loss incurred by each segment without allocation
of central administration costs including directors’ salaries, head
office operating expenses, other income, gains and losses,
finance costs, share of results of joint ventures and gain (loss)
on disposal of a subsidiary. This is the measure reported to the
Group's chief executive officer for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

hRITHAA (BEEEHS « REEE
B A s RIS A
A A B R EER M E R B
AT (ER)) - W AERDRAE
R T A B TR R S
e

AT RAKBEIZAIRE R LENBHE D
MEERBEDN



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016

BE-—T—NF+—H=1—HIFFZF

Segment Information (continued) DEPER ()
Segment assets TEEE
2016 2015
—E-RF —E—hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Property development VISR 47,750,943 33,723,104
Property investment VISR E 5,459,173 4,535,064
Others Hth 419,596 366,800
Total segment assets DEBEEMRE 53,629,712 38,624,968
Unallocated assets: ROLEE :
Interests in joint ventures REEEENER 163,790 216,966
AFS investments AHEERE 9,707 75,000
Deferred tax assets FIETIIB & 2 183,279 171,134
Amounts due from joint ventures PRI A & B EEFRIE 538,359 257,309
Tax recoverable AT E R & 616,404 263,016
Derivative financial instruments PTESRIA 142,402 =
Restricted bank deposits IR HIRITIER 485,578 1,266,632
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRNIIRS 10,470,878 7769,046
Others Hh 178,304 182,801
Consolidated assets FaBE 66,418,413 48,826,872
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. DIER(E)

Segment liabilities SEEE
2016 2015
—EB-RE —ZT—hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Property development VISR 29,754,635 16,945,364
Property investment VISR E 73,383 60,147
Others EAh 270,587 164,368
Total segment liabilities DEPE EEEE 30,098,605 17.169,879

Unallocated liabilities: ROLETE :

Bank and other borrowings IRIT R H MBS 6,792,782 7373,297
Senior notes and bonds BEEBRKES 11,587,669 8,924,378
Amounts due to joint ventures & ERFERIE 132,819 1,123,287
Tax liabilities MIEBE 2,592,685 2,202,224
Deferred tax liabilities BERHIBAE 582,560 454,100
Others =i} - 3,850
Consolidated liabilities mEBE 51,787,120 37251,015
For the purposes monitoring segment performances and MERDHEERED B HE D B E R

allocating resources among segments:

° all assets are allocated to reportable and operating
segments other than interests in joint ventures, AFS
investments, deferred tax assets, amounts due from joint
ventures, tax recoverable, derivative financial instruments,
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash and
other assets not attributable to respective segment.

o all liabilities are allocated to reportable and operating
segments other than amounts due to joint ventures,
tax liabilities, bank and other borrowings, senior notes
and bonds, deferred tax liabilities and other liabilities not
attributable to respective segment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2= —F—NF+ -H=+—HIFFZ

Segment Information (continued)

Other segment information

6.

2 ERE R ()
Hitbo BE R

Year ended 31 December 2016

BE-2-"FtZA=t-HLEE

Property Property
development investment Others Unallocated Total
WERRE  NERE Hith AOE @t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TR AR%Tn AR®TR AR%Tn
Amounts included in the measure BRGEA SR FIR SRS
of segment profit or loss or DHEEFTAN R
segment assets:
Additions of property, plant mE - BERRERE
and equipment 15,241 - 25,054 2,226 42,521
Additions of investment properties REMERE - 660,707 - - 660,707
Depreciation of property, MmE - BERRETE
plant and equipment 21,801 - 14,529 5,340 41,670
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERE - - 129 - 129
Release of prepaid lease payments BNEENHEE - - 435 - 435
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BELEEESE
plant and equipment 737 - 42 323 1,102
Change in fair value of investment RENMEATEEE
properties - 309,527 - - 309,527
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

6. Segment Information (continued)

Other information (continued)

6.

2EBE R (&)
Hi& ¥ (&)

Year ended 31 December 2015

HE-Z-RFT-A=+—HILEE

Property Property
development  investment Others  Unallocated Total
MEEE  WERE Hith AP st
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT
Amounts included in the measure ERGTER SIS E#ES
of segment profit or loss or DHEEFTAN R
segment assets:
Additions of property, plant mE - BERRERE
and equipment 15,240 - 19,470 1,134 35,844
Additions of investment properties REMERE - 848738 - - 848738
Depreciation of property, ME - BERRETE 14,681 - 12,808 6,840 34,329
plant and equipment
Release of prepaid lease payments BNEENFEE - - 435 - 435
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HEMR - BE R 695 - (7566) - (6,870)
plant and equipment RBEERE ()
Change in fair value of investment RENFATERZS
properties - 356,073 - - 356,073
Geographical information HEZH

The Group's operation and location of non-current assets are

substantially in the PRC.

Information about major customers

There is no individual customer who contributed over 10%

of the total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31

December 2016 and 2015.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

Other Income, Gains and Losses

HWA -~ WsmRkER

2016 2015
—B-AE —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREBTIT
Other income, gains and losses HMUWA - W REIE R
comprises of:
Exchange losses bE H E5i8 (472,358) (277,509)
Gain on change in fair value of derivative ~ #T4 & @l T A A (EE
financial instruments (note 30) (M$5E30) 142,402 -
Gain on disposal of AFS investments & Al i S 18 e
(note 20) (KtzE20) 11,919 -
Bank interest income RITABUA 54,458 71,739
Dividend income from AFS investments A &R B SURA - 2,500
Other interest income H At FIEHA 4,313 29,260
Government subsidy TR # B 7500 7500
Others (note) HoAth, (P7E) 20,949 35,637
(230,817) (130,973)

Note: Others mainly represent the forfeited deposits from customers.

BRE - EtbEZIERETER
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

Finance Costs 8. MEMK
2016 2015
—B-AE —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Interest on: AR B IBRFIE
Bank and other borrowings BR1T R H Ab{E K 670,224 639,770
Loan from non-controlling shareholders PYELN NG E 225
of subsidiaries (note 36) AR A E R (BT 5E36) 111,856 =
Senior notes and bonds (note 37) BAEZBRES (M15E37) 942,256 753,432
Loss on early redemptions of senior RRERELZER
notes and private notes LEREREE 47,103 =
Total borrowing costs EERABTE 1,771,439 1,393,202
Less: amounts capitalised to properties i : 2Rt Al S EERE
under development for sale L E =Nt (1,602,043) (1,301,751)
amounts capitalised to investment EMEREEMESR
properties under construction MeHE 5 (11,977) =
157,419 91,451

Interest capitalised arose on the general borrowing pool of

the Group was calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of

approximately 8.49% (2015: 9.03%) per annum to expenditure

on the qualifying assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Profit Before Tax 9. BRBLANGEF
2016 2015
—EB-RF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Profit before tax has been arrived FRA AR A TIRHIRR (GEA)
at after charging (crediting): AR & I8& =
Auditors’ remuneration Z A & 4,380 3,990
Directors’ emoluments =T 13,004 11,557
Staff salaries ETH® 402,028 358,662
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  ERiR@EFIEHEI R 21,664 18,500
Share-based payments LARSAD A BRI 5 50 376 321
Total staff costs B T 4E5E 437,072 389,040
Less: amounts capitalised to properties & : DA EEEZYE
under development for sale BEMEHEEE (86,404) (72,830)
350,668 316,210
Cost of inventories recognised ERAERAZHEFEKA
as an expense 8,305,628 6,785,773
Release of prepaid lease payments TEREENFEE 435 435
Depreciation of property, plant Y%~ BEMERETE
and equipment 41,670 34,329
Amortisation of intangible assets BT B S 129 =
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, LEYE  BEK
plant and equipment FiEEE (W) 1,102 (6,870)
Rental expenses in respect of rented BELEHEE B
premises under operating leases EFHeRX 34,087 8,233
Gross rental income in respect of B BB AR AESIA
investment properties (73,013) (68,800)
Less: direct operating expenses from B R FEREERSIRAR
investment properties that WEMFENEELERX
generated rental income
during the year 21,406 19,700
(51,607) (49,100)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

10.

Income Tax Expense 10. FTEBIREX
2016 2015
—E-XF —E—hE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETFIT
Income tax expense recognised ERRSHAZ8E
comprises of:
Current tax: BIEARR IR :
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") EMEH (RS 515,117 506,286
LAT THIRER 420,931 371,800
936,048 878,086
Deferred tax (note 21) EIEFRIA (FisE21) 142,333 98,815
Income tax expense for the year FRERAYS 1,078,381 976,901

Under the Law of the People's Republic of China on EIT (the
“EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

Under the Provisional Regulations of the People’s Republic
of China on LAT (the “LAT Provisional Regulations”) and
Implementation Regulation of the LAT Provisional Regulations,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is levied at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including cost of land use rights and all property
development expenditures.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group's income
neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong.

Under Australian tax law, the tax rate used for the year is
30% (2015: 30%) on taxable profits on Australian incorporated
entities. No tax provision has been made in the consolidated
financial statements as there is no assessable profit arises in
Australia for both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AR A B R I RE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NNF+_—_A=+—HIFFZ

10. Income Tax Expense (continued) 10. FRiEHiRAX (&)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the FANMEHAZEGEEERAME
profit before tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss and EWEEANOBR AR SR T ¢

other comprehensive income as follows:

2016 2015
—EB—REF —ET—hF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARET T

Profit before tax BRI A& A 2,084,989 1,884,394
Tax charge at domestic tax rate of 25% AR R 25% 5T E MFTE S 1 521,247 471,099
Tax effect of share of results of EIEEE EEFEENT BT E

joint ventures 8,034 (6,951)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible LA ok 7

for tax purpose 162,284 175,855
Tax effect of income that are not taxable ~ HERFRA T 2

for tax purpose (2,267) (201)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTIBEENR S 2 50,274 34,589
Utilisation of tax losses previously &) R ST BT AR MERR B TR B 18

not recognised (14,559) (9,465)
LAT provision TR ERREAS 420,931 371,800
Tax effect of LAT THIEERN G E (105,233) (92,950)
Deferred tax effect of LAT on revaluation — EfHi&EYEH L HIEERH

of investment properties FEETIRR & 38,920 33,660
Effect of different tax rate of T B fth Al AR [ AR R R TS HY

subsidiaries operating M A EIER TR R 2

in other jurisdictions (1,250) (535)
Income tax expense for the year FANFTSTHRAS 1,078,381 976,901
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B RE (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016

11.

Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’

Remuneration

m = E— N = A= —HIFFE

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,

disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and

Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

3

1M1. EE - FETBRAERESH

FREENTETHRABNHM(KRE
R EMARA R A REBIREE) AT

Salaries and Performance Share-based

Fees allowances related bonus  payments Total
BRBRH NRHH
we HeREE WAL Bz &it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%Tn ARETT AR%Tn ARETx
(note)
(K
Year ended 31 December 2016 BE-Z-~"ET-A=t-HLEE
Executive directors: BITEE
Guo ZiWen X - 2,554 623 - 31717
Guo Zi Ning D= - 2,378 791 - 3,169
Yang Zhong ot - 43 - - 43
(resigned on 5 February 2016) (A= E-ARAEE)
Zhong Ping &T - 2,057 461 - 2,518
Ma Jun 5E - 2,540 502 - 3,042
Non-executive director: FHTES
Yang Zhong ot - 223 - - 223
(appointed on 5 February 2016) (R=E—F-ARARZH)
Independent non-executive directors: BV FHTES :
Tsui King Fai e 300 - - - 300
Cheung Kwok Keung KBl 296 - - - 296
Hu Jiang T 236 - - - 236
832 9,795 2,317 - 13,044
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’

1. EE - FETHAERESMH

Remuneration (continued) £ (88)
Salaries and  Performance  Share-based
Fees allowances related bonus ~ payments Total
BERREM WARRIA &
e HekEl MEL  BRZEH =
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
(note)
(Ftzx)
Year ended 31 December 2015 HE_Z-nFt-p=t-HIt5E
Executive directors: WITES
Guo ZiWen X - 2,292 300 - 2,592
Guo Zi Ning Ellypae - 2,134 400 - 2,534
Yang Zhong B - 1,976 395 = 2,371
Zhong Ping & - 1,778 400 142 2,320
Ma Jun 58
(appointed on 28 August 2015) (R=B2-REN\A=T/\REZH) - 833 200 - 1,033
Non-executive director: HTES
Paul S. Wolansky A o BRATA
(resigned on 28 August 2015) (RZZ—RFNAZT/\BEHT) - 31 - - 31
Independent non-executive directors: B FFH{TES :
Tsui King Fai R 261 - - - 261
Cheung Kwok Keung KRB 257 - - = 257
Hu Jiang L 158 - - - 158
676 9,044 1,695 142 11,657

Note: The performance related bonus is determined as a percentage of the
contract sales of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and
2015.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

ik : BEARBERNEARBEAEEREE_F
—ANERZF-RFT-A=FT—ALLFE
BRESSEEDLEE ©

FRARATESHMOERRAERE

ARRIRAEESEH 2 BBRISmET -

ERFRBIENTEEFM DR
H{ERRATEEFRABBTET -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

EE - FETBAERESH

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’ 11.

Remuneration (continued)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning is also the Chief Executive of the Company and
his remuneration disclosed above includes those for services
rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

No directors waive any emolument during the current year or
the prior year.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, four (2015: four) were executive directors and the Chief
Executive of the Company whose emoluments are included
in the disclosures in this note above. The emoluments of the
remaining one (2015: one) individual was as follows:

% (&)

BEELENRRRRARTHAR - HR
ERAMEEFMEREEERITRAR
P e AR %5 < AR RE T B o

RAFERE—FE BESSHEML
CET

BEME

AEEBREESHMALH  OR(ZF
—hF:OR) BARRRTEERTE
TTHBAR - RENMEEHN A LA
g HBp—R(ZE—AF: —R)A
TEMEIT

2016 2015
—B-KF —ZE—TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREETTT
Salaries and allowances e k2R 3,575 3,500
Share-based payments VARG A7 A B/ 2 3K 188 178
3,763 3,678
The emoluments were within the following bands: e E T

2016 2015
—B-A¥ —E—TF
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEHHE EE&HE

HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7T = 4,500,000 77T

(equivalent to RMB3,578,001 (FEENR AR 3,678,001 ;=
to RMB4,025,000) AR 4,025,0007T) 1 1

During the year, no emolument was paid by the Group to any
of the directors or the five highest paid individuals (including
directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016

Aok B B A M (4D

B E—NEF = = —HIFEE

12. Dividends 12. BE
2016 2015
—E—RE —E—ARF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREBT T
Dividends, recognised as distribution RE - BREBFADIK :
during the year:
2015 final - RMB8.8 cents (2015: 2014 final ZE—AF K-SR ARKE 8.8
dividend RMB8.7 cents) per share —E—RF: T —UF
NREAREST7 D) 244,978 242,195
2015 special dividend - RMB1.8 cents T -RFRERIRE -
per share AR#1.85 - 50,109
244,978 292,304
During the year ended 31 December 2016, a final dividend REEZZT—R"EF+A=+—HItHF
of RMB8.8 cents per share in respect of the year ended 31 E ERARAEEATEREE_ZS

December 2015 (2015: RMB8.7 cents per share in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2014) was declared to the owners
of the Company. The aggregate amount of the final dividend
declared in the interim period amounting to RMB244,978,000
(2015: RMB242,195,000).

A special dividend of RMB1.8 cents per ordinary share was
declared by the Board of Directors on 11 August 2015. This
special dividend, amounting to RMB50,109,000, has been paid
during the year ended 31 December 2015.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of
RMB9.7 cents per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount
of RMB259,142,000, and a special dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2016 of RMB5.3 cents per ordinary
share, in an aggregate amount of RMB141,593,000, taking
into account the 2,671,571,354 ordinary shares in issue
at the reporting date, have been proposed by the Board of
Directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders of the
Company in the forthcoming annual general meeting. The final
dividend and special dividend proposed after the end of the
reporting period have not been recognised as liabilities in these
consolidated financial statements.

—AF+-_A=1+—BIEFENRER
EERARKSSH (ZT—HF : fiHZE
—E-—ME+-A=+—HIEFESTK
BRARES7H) - RHPHHIMETIRA
HRNR B 42 % A AR5 244,978,000 T (=
T—FF : AR% 242,195,000 7T) °

RZZE—RFNA+—H EFLEK
FREBERARE 18D ZHERIKRS - 3Z
BRI B &% A AR 50,109,000 7T
EREE-_ZT—RFt+-A=+—H81t
FEIRFT o

RREEERE st ERRFEBHE
2K1TH2,671,671,304 L@A% - E=E R
FREE—_T—RNE+-_A=+—HIL
FERNRARESREBBRARKEIT
D (A AR 259,142,0007T) Mt ==
—NFt+-A=+—BIEFERMEF
BB ARES 3D (AEARE
141,593,0007T) * HEEFAD A RER
FEEREAFRGHEFTEEE - RS
HR %2 HRRN R E R ERRE
WERALRE MR EERAAE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

13. Earnings Per Share 13. EREBF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share AKRARHEAARGEREARRESZF
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following TR &8sst E
data:
2016 2015
—EB-RF —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
Earnings R AR¥T T ARETIT
Earnings for the purposes of basic PEREARREERFM S OEF -
and diluted earnings per share, BV R RS A (G s A
being profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company 880,962 812,160
2016 2015
ZE-RF —E—hEF
‘000 ‘000
Number of shares BB T A% T
Weighted average number of ordinary PERERREERF M S A
shares for the purpose of basic Sl Bk
and diluted earnings per share 2,727,595 2,783,845
Those share options granted have no impact on the ZEERLBRESRAEEE_F
computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 —NER_FE-AFt_A=1+—HBLt
December 2016 and 2015, as the exercise price of the options FEZSREFRANBRETAZE &
was higher than the average market price of the Company's REREITEERRNARRRD M FS
shares. miE e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

E—E—NFF - H=1+—HIFFE

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

For the year ended 31 December 2016

14. Y% - BEKRRE

Hotel under Office Motor Leasehold
Buildings development  equipment vehicles improvements Total
B®  BRPEE PR RE  HENEEE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTR ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

cost A
At 1 January 2015 RZZ-n§-H-A 493,934 100,289 72,886 51,185 62,867 781,161
Exchange realignment AR - - 3 - 3 6
Additions HE 621 366 16,933 3,194 14,730 35,844
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 41)  WEEMBAR (Fiz41) - - 851 1,103 - 1,954
Disposals e - - (4,044) (158) (9,465) (13,667)
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries RALENBATF

(note 42(c) (PzE42(a) - - (155) (1,068) - (1,23)
At 31 December 2015 RZE-hF+-A=1-H 494,555 100,655 86,474 54,256 68,135 804,075
Exchange realignment EiEE - - 16 4 2% 4
Additions HE - 366 30,518 3229 8,408 42,521
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 41)  WERMBAR (Fizt41) - - 648 185 1477 12,310
Disposals e - - (825) (1,191) (335) (2,351)
At 31 December 2016 R=E—7E+-A=t—H 494,555 101,021 116,831 56,483 87709 856,599
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT & EiE
At 1 January 2015 RZZ-1F-A-A 169,321 - 46,219 21,261 42,914 279,715
Provided for the year FENRE 8,258 - 13,083 8,520 4,468 34,329
Eliminated on disposals HERH - - 2,827) (148) 439) (3,414)
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries RALENBAT

(note 42(a) (FrsEd2) = = (103) (334) = (437)
At 31 December 2015 RZE-hF+-A=1-H 177579 - 56,372 29,299 46,943 310,193
Exchange realignment BiEE - - 1 - 1 2
Provided for the year FratE 8,343 - 13,744 6,480 13,103 41,670
Eliminated on disposals ER - - (412) (830) (7 (1,249)
At 31 December 2016 RIZ—AETZA=T-R 185,922 - 69,705 34,949 60,040 350,616
CARRYING VALUES iR
At 31 December 2016 RZE-~ETZA=1-H 308,633 101,021 47126 21534 27,669 505,983
At 31 December 2015 RZB-RFT-A=+-H 316,976 100,655 30,102 24,957 21,192 493,882
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 14. ¥  BERRZRE (&)

The above items of property, plant and equipment except hotel
under development are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings Over the shorter of the relevant
lease term or 3%-5% per

annum
Office equipment 3 to b years
Motor vehicles 3 to b years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of relevant lease
term or 3 to b years

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the management
of the Group performed a valuation on a hotel property which
is included in “Buildings"” category of property, plant and
equipment, and impairment loss of RMB125,000,000 has
been made according to the excess of the aggregate carrying
amounts of the hotel property over the recoverable amount
which is determined as the fair value less costs to sell of this
hotel property. The fair value of the hotel property was arrived
at using a combination of land portion of the hotel which was
assessed by the market approach, and buildings and structures
portion which was assessed by depreciated replacement
cost approach (“DRC"). The market value of land portion was
referenced to the comparable land transactions in Guangzhou,
the PRC. The DRC approach considers the current cost of
replacement (reproduction) of the buildings and improvements
less deductions for physical deterioration and all relevant
forms of obsolescence and optimisation. The DRC approach
generally furnishes the most reliable indication of value for the
hotel property in the absence of a known market based on
comparable sales. With reference to the valuation of the hotel
property as at 31 December 2016 and financial results during
the year 31 December 2016, in the opinion of the management
of the Group, the carrying amount of hotel property
approximates to its recoverable amount and no impairment loss
was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2016 and
2015.
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14.

15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

As at 31 December 2016, buildings of RMB99,290,000 (2015:
RMB254,386,000) were pledged for certain banking facilities
granted to the Group. All the buildings of the Group are situated
on leasehold land in the PRC under medium lease term.

Prepaid Lease Payments

The carrying amount of prepaid lease payments represents land
use rights held under medium-term lease in the PRC is analysed

14.

15.

M ~ B R (&)

HE-Z—RE+-_A=+—0 B
AEEFMERE TRITEEMERETF
THE A ARK 99,290,000t (=ZF—H
F: AR#254,386,0007T) © AN&E B Ft
B AR REAE T HEFY P EHE
EHREER °

FRAHEEN

BENHAEFAREEEN T EREHH
MERANLERE - DT

as follows:
2016 2015
—EB—REF —ET—hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFTT
Non-current asset EmENEE 14,939 15,374
Current asset MENEE 435 435
15,374 15,809
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B RE (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

Note: The transfer from investment properties under construction to properties
under development was made since there was a change in use as
evidenced by commencement of development with a view to sale.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

16. Investment Properties 16. BREYXE
Completed Investment
investment properties under
properties construction Total
BRIREYE HEREME &%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR¥ETT ARETRT
At 1 January 2015 RZE—RF—H—H 1,952,499 775,447 2,727946
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 41)  WEKIB AR (FFr41) - 571,788 571,788
Additions NE 4,056 844,682 848,738
Transfer upon completion of REZTI2R TiREH
construction work 282,805 (282,805) =
Net change in fair value recognised ~ ER4rAB& &Lt 2 EMEER
in the consolidated statement MR AT EEEFE
of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income 148,779 207294 356,073
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-RF+-A=1—H 2,388,139 2,116,406 4,504,545
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 41)  WEEKTB A=) (HizE41) - 169,497 169,497
Additions NE - 660,707 660,707
Transfer upon completion of RER TR THERE
construction work 191,106 (191,106) -
Transfer to properties under R HEETEE (M)
development for sale (note) - (208,956) (208,956)
Disposals & (10,813) - (10,813)
Net change in fair value recognised ~ ER&G& Bz KEMEZEANEER
in the consolidated statement AR AT EZE)THE
of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income 30,546 278,981 309,527
At 31 December 2016 - RF+A=t—H 2,598,978 2,825,529 5,424,507

et : MRAEEHEZHERRRBE L AGE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

16. Investment Properties (continued)

All of the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

At 31 December 2016, investment properties of
RMB1,223,253,000 (2015: RMB747924,000) were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

The fair values of investment properties under construction
and completed investment properties were determined by
reference to valuations carried out by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, an qualified external
valuer which is not connected with the Group. The fair values
of the investment properties were determined by the qualified
external valuer on the following basis:

16. REY= (K)

BASERKEHERERIES X
BREABENMERES  DERAQYF
ERVAEL D BRARISRENS

RZBE—XNE+-_A=+—H  £5E
B A R#1,223,253,000T(ZE—H
F . NR#747,924,00070 ) K E W)
¥ UESETFASENETRIIEE -

ERREMENCRIREMENRT
B DH2EEAEEREENHEH
TEFERFERAEGR AR (SERINED
fR{EAD) WIS EMERE - 4 BRINBMEE
BRI O R EEEREMEN A TE -
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Completed investment
properties

Investment properties
under construction

16. Investment Properties (continued)

by reference to capitalised
income to be derived from the
existing tenancies and the
reversionary income potential
of the properties or, where
appropriate, by reference to
market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties
in the same locations and
conditions

by reference to the current or
recent prices of investment
properties and estimated
costs to completion based on
construction budget, committed
contracts, allowances for
contingencies as well as
developer’s profit margin, which
reflect the risks associated
with the completion of the
development of the properties
and in achieving the anticipated
income or capital appreciation on
the date of valuation

The following tables give information about how the fair values

of these investment properties are determined (in particular,

the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair

value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are

categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the

highest and best use of the investment properties is their

current use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

16. REY= (K)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

16. Investment Properties (continued)

Aok T B 285 A P

For the year ended 31 December 2016 g2 —ZF—

16. REY= (K)

(#)

NFEFZHA=1—HILLFE

At 31 December 2016 R-ZB-XR"E+=ZA=+—8
Investment properties Farvale ~ Fairvalue Significant unobservable inputs [relationship Range
held by the Group RMB'000 higrarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs of unobservable inputs to fair value) (weighted average)

AT ERATEREAGS i Sensiiviy
FEERANRANZ NRETT  ATESR GERDRIZEAGE (FTEERASERE A TENER) (WEvsE) R
Completed investment 2247509 Level 3 Income capitalisation method - income 1. Temyield {the higher the term yield, the ~ 25%-6% Aslight increase in term yield
properties, including retai capitaisation of the net income and made lower the fair value) would not result in significant
shops and commercial provisions for reversionary income potential decrease in fair valug, and vice
buldings Versa.

2. Reversionary yield (the higher the 3%-6.5% Aslight increase in reversionary
reversionary yield, the lower the fair yield would not result in
value) significant decrease in fair

value, and vice versa.

3. Unitrent (RMB/sommonth) (the higher 4173 A significant increase |/
the unit rent, the higher the fair value) decrease in unit rent would not

result in significant increase /
decrease in fair value.
BRTRENZ (AERER £3%  WARRE-SUARMAEAL URESR 1 EEMR(CHMEER ATEEE)  25%6% ERNREANT TR
HEAR) NENfERE - TEAERD - R
2 ERIE(RYRHR ATEEE)  3%65% EERRENENTEIHA
TEAERD - R

3 EBE(ARE/ThA/R)(ELR  4m EifigAB LA/ THTE

5 AT{EER) SIHATEAREN/ B -
Completed investment 31,469 Level3  Direct comparison method - hased on market  Adjustment made to account for differencesin -~ N/A N/A
properties, including retai observable transactions of similar properties and  location and level
shaps, commercial buidings adjusted to reflect the conditions of the Subject
and office property.
BRTHENE (BHAE £ ERUBE-BEENNENTAURERS ¥ AMERERER{EE TR TR
BEAERHLR) et B RMB RIS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B RE (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

16. REY= (K)

16. Investment Properties (continued)

206

At 31 December 2016 (continued)

R-ZB-AF+ZA=1t—H(#)

Investment properties Farvale ~ Fairvalue Significant unobservable inputs [relationship Range
held by the Group RMB'000 higrarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs of unobservable inputs to fair value) (weighted average)

AT EAATEREAGS i Sensiiviy
REERANRANZ NRETT  ATEER GERNRIZEAGE (FTEER GRS TENER) (WEvsE) R
Investment properties under 2,341,800 Level 3 Residual method - based on gross development 1. Gross development valug (RMB000)on  225900-1,068415 A significant increase /
construction, including value and taken into account the construction costs completion basis (the higher the gross decrease n gross development
retail shops and commercial o completion, developer's profit, marketing costs. development value, the higher the fair Value would result in significant
buldings valug) increase | decrease in fair

value.

2. Developer's profit the higher the 8%-15% A significant increase in
developer s profit, the lower the far developer's profit would not
valug) result in significant decrease in

fair value, and vice versa.

3. Marketing costs the higher the 4% A slight increase in marketing
marketing costs, the lower the fair value) costs would not result in

significant decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.

4. Construction costs to completion (the N/A A significant increase in
higher the future construction costs for construction costs to completion
completion, the lower the fai value) would not result in significant

decrease in fair valug, and vice
Versa.
RRRENE (BRHAR £30 AEE-BREUREEMNRAREMEIE 1 RAIEETENEERBE(\RET 2500010845 HEREEAEAN/H)E
EEW) R EHEN 2HER - T EERERELS  ATEER) SRATEAREM B -

2 LRERN(ERERTMER ATEE  e%I5% EREANARENT S
) NYERERS  RZWA -

3 EHER(ZHERER LAVREEE) EHERENENTEIHA

FEAERD R
4, THRENETIERAFMIAKE  TER ERRRNETIERN AR

IEfiR ATEEE)

ok
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2016 (continued)

16. REY= (K)

R-ZB-AF+ZA=1t—H(#)

Investment properties Farvale ~ Fairvalue Significant unobservable inputs (relationship Range
held by the Group RMB'000 higrarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs of unobservable inputs to fair value) (weighted average)
N ERNIEREALE il Sensiiviy
REERANRANZ NRETT  ATEER GERNRIZEAGE (FTEER GRS TENER) (WEvsE) R
Investment properties under 483,729 Level3  Direct comparison method - based on market 1. Comparable land price (RMBJsqm) (the 4382498 Asignificant increase/decrease
construction, including observable transactions of similar lands and higher the land price, the higher the fair in comparable and price would
undeveloped land for retall adjusted to reflect the conditions of the subject value) result in significant increase/
shops and commercial [ands. decrease In fair valug.
bulding
2. Floorarearatio (the higher the floorarea 175 Aslight increase / decrease n
ratio costs for completion, the higher the floorarea ratio would result in
fair value) significant increase | decrease
infair value.
RERENZ (REAER E ERURE-BRENDONMATEERS U 1 WARBLMER(STARARE)L  43824%8 VA AHHERARL
BERENRRE ) fE AR AR LA - WEkis ATRER) #t/ThesBATEARS
WD
2 PEE(TRRENARENAER D 175 RERAN L/ TR
Tieiz) NHERREN/HD -
5424507
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 25 A Fi

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %= — =&

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2015

Investrent properties Fair value:
held by the Group RMB'000
14

IEERENRRDE  ARETR

Valuation techniques and key inuts

fEROREERASE

—NFTZH=1—HIFFE

Significant unobservable inputs [relationship
of unobservable inputs to fair value)

(MBEBAIERHATENRE)

16. REY= (K)

—RE+=A=+—8

Range

(weighted average)  Sensitivty

il

(TR

GG

Complsted investment 2072439
properties, incluing retai
shops and commercial
buldings

ERTRANR (RERER
ERAR)

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

Income capitalisation method - income

capitalisation of the net income and
made provisions for reversionary
Income potential.

HARRIE-BRARBARRL - ERERAA
BNt

Term yield {the higher the term yield, the

Reversionary yield (the higher the
reversionary yield, the lower the fai value)

Unit rent (RMB/sqm/month) (the higher
the unit rent, the higher the fair value)

2%-6%

25%6.5%

B-

=
=

2%6%

25%-6.5%

B-

10

A slight increase in term yield
would not result in significant
decrease in fair value, and vice
Versa.

Aslight increase in reversionary
yield would not result in
significant decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.

A significant increase |/
decrease in unit rent would not
result in significant increase |
decrease in far value.

Fd LGt L b N
PEREHS R

EBURENENA S5
PEREHS R

EfifeRE LA/ THTE
SATEABEN B -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2015 (continued)

BE-—T—NF+—H=1—HIFFZF

16. REY= (K)

RZZE-—RAF+-_A=+—RH(#&)

Investment properties Farvalue ~ Fairvalue Significant unobservable inputs (relationship Range
held by the Group RMB000 higrarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs of unobservable inputs to fair value) (weighted average)  Sensitivity
YT ENNEREADR e
REERANRANZ ARETR  ATESR AERDREEEAZE (FIEERASERE A TENER) (WiErsE) R
Complsted investment 315,700 Level3  Direct comparison method - based on market  Adjustment made to account for differences N/A N/A
properties, incluing retai observable transactions of similar properties and  inlocation and level
shops, commercial buildings adjusted to reflect the conditions of the Subject
and office property.
BRTHREN: (AHEfE £ ERMAE-BERNDRNTAURERS ¥ SMBREREEEEE Zcli Zcli
BERERHAR) fEd A RS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

16. Investment Properties (continued)

16. REY= (K)

210

At 31 December 2015 (continued)

RZZE-—RAF+-_A=+—RH(#&)

Investment properties Farvale ~ Fairvalue Significant unobservable inputs [relationship Range
held by the Group RMB'000 higrarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs of unobservable inputs to fair value) (weighted average) ~ Sensitvity

ATH ENNEREADE e
REERANRANZ NRETT  ATEER GERDRIZEAGE (TTEEE GRS TENER) (ErsE)  ER
Investment properties nder 526,800 Level 3 Residual methocHbased on gross developmentvalue 1. Gross development velue (RMB'000)on 47700556978 Asgnificant increase/decrease
construction, including retall and taken into account the construction costs completion basis (the higher the gross in gross development value
shops and commercial o completion, developer's profit and development valug, the higher the fair would result in significant
buldings marketing costs. valug) Increase|decrease in fair value.

2. Developer's profit (the higher the — 13%-24% A significant increase in
developer's profit, the lower the fair developer's profit would ot
value) result in significant decrease in

fair value, and vice versa.

3. Marketing costs (the higher the 4% Aslight increase in markefing
marketing costs, the lower the fair value) costs would not result in

significant decrease in fair
value, and vice vers.

4. Construction costs to completion (the  N/A A significant increase in
higher the construction costs, the lower construction costs to completion
the fair value) would not result in significant

decrease in fair valug, and vice
Versa.
FERENE (BERER £3%  BEE-BECERER UZERMRROML 1 BRIERGENELRRE(ARET  on0%e9m  BERREABENHIES
BERE) R AEHANRESER )EEREREES  ATRER) HATEABEN ) -

2 ARERVIERERAME ATEE  13%2% BEREANAEENT
£) NHERRED RZMA -

3 HHER(SMEREZ ATEEE) 4% EHEREMENTEIHA

FEAERD R
L TRRENEIZR(RIERES 1 TaR SRR IERNAGE

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H [ 5 [ 3 78 45 B k43 A R A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2015 (continued)

16. REY= (K)

RZZE-—RAF+-_A=+—RH(#&)

Investment properties Farvalue  Fairvalue Significant unobservable inputs (relationship Range
held by the Group RMB'000 higrarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs of unobservable inputs to fair value) (weighted average)  Sensitivity
NYE ENTEREADE LB

FEERANRANZ NRBTT  ATESR GERNRIZEAGE (FTBERASERE A TENER) (WErsE) 4R

Investment properties under 1,590,606 Level3  Direct comparison method-based on market 1. Comparable land price (RMBfsqm) the  376:6,000 A significant increase [
construction, including observable transactions of similar lands and higher the land price, the higher the fair decrease in comparable and
undeveloped fand for retall adjusted to reflect the conditions of the subject value) price would resut n significant
shops and commercial [ands. increase | decrease in fair
bulding value.

2. Floorarea ratio (the higher the floor-area 164 Aslight increase / decrease in
ratio costs for completion, the higher the floorarea ratio would result in
fair value) significant increase / decrease

infair value.
RRRENZ (REEER £} ERMRE-BEENCAOTATEERS U 1 TEMRMER(ETARARE) (L 3766500 TERRIHERARL
BEARNRRE ) et R RBRA AR - YRR - ATEHR) ft/TReIHATAARH

4,504,545

1 RREEARRNSEENALS 2
FEiR)

=

&5

REEENLT/TREIN
AFERRENRS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+ - H=+—HIFFZ

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group acquired
T ZEIRTE AR A BlAnhui Hanlin Property Management
Co., Ltd. ("Anhui Hanlin”) from an independent third party,
which is engaged in providing property management services
in Bengbu, Anhui Province, the PRC. Detail of the related
acquisition is disclosed in note 41(b).

Goodwill acquired in business combinations is allocated, at
acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs") — property
management service that are expected to benefit from those
business combinations.

The management of the Group determined that there is no
impairment of its CGU containing goodwill for the acquisition of
business during the year.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 5] 4 A B A 7]

17. Goodwill 17. BE
RMB'000
AREFIT
COST AND CARRYING AMOUNTS AR R BREE
Arising on acquisition of business B At s 2 765 n 2= A (PR 41(b)) &2
(note 41(b)) and at 31 December 2016

RZE—ARF+_A=+—H 1,602

RBEE-_T—A"F+-_A=+—HLF
B AEER—BBIE=HFRBELH
BRI EREER AR ([ZREM])
ZAREFEZHAE BN EIRED
EEBIRE - HEANESENFBEEE
M EE41(b) °

EBAmTRENEERNKRERET
BHRZEEFAHMIaNREES
B ([REeELENM ] -PREERS

AEEEEERR 2ARBEHNR
BRSEABNFALERE -



18.

19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Intangible Assets

Aok T B 285 A P

For the year ended 31 December 2016 g2 —ZF—

18. B EE

(#)

NFEFZHA=1—HILFE

License for Property
Parallel-import Management
of Vehicle Contracts Total
FATENRERR NEEEEH @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBTR ARBTR
COST AR
Arising on acquisitions of subsidiaries R B A AlmEE (feEa1)
(note 41) and at 31 December 2016 BRRZE—RETZA=1—H 990 2,095 3,085
AMORTISATION By
Charge for the year and at FERMBRERAZE—RF
31 December 2016 +ZA=1+—AH (25) (104) (129)
CARRYING AMOUNTS RHE
At 31 December 2016 RZE—"E+-A=1+—H 965 1,991 2,956

The licence for parallel-import of vehicle is amortised on a
straight-line basis over a term of five years based on the

executive director’s best estimate.

The intangible assets in related to property management
contracts have finite useful lives and are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the remaining term of five years.

Interests in Joint Ventures

MEBEFITEORRRIEATEFTHNRE
AR AFHRRESEHRE -

HYEERANARNETLEEARE
RAEREH R TEFHRRER

19. REBLENRE

2016 2015

—E—RF —hHE

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T AREEFTT

Unlisted cost of investment FEETREA 219,110 219,110
Share of post acquisition loss and other  FE(L LB 12 518

comprehensive expense REMEERZ (34,281) (2,144)

Unrealised profit (note) RER R A (FizE) (21,039) -

163,790 216,966

Note: The unrealised profit related to the Group's attributable interest income
from the amounts due from Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye. Such
interest expenses were capitalised in properties for sale of Zhuzhou
Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye and were not sold at 31 December 2016.

BYRE « AR 23R i ) B 7 £ (8 4 2 B e MR vkoM B2 (B
M EERENFBRAGHE - ZEF L
A ERRMBRE RN S E AT HEED
EHERMEERR —E—R"E+_-_A=+—H

WHHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NF+ - H=+—HILFZF

19. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

Details of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

19.

REEEENIRE (A)

Rips AR A EEE T A S8
BRI

Place of
incorporation/ Proportion of
principal place registered capital/ Registered capital
Name of entity of operation held by the Group RMB'000 Principal activity
ML rEEfEERMES/ HER
ERER TEEE WY RE-LSI AR TEEH
2016 2015 2016 2015
8K —T-nF ZB-RE _—T-IF
Guangzhou Baoao Real Estate PRC 50% 50% 10,000 10,000 Property development
Development Limited i MEER
("Guangzhou Baoao”)
ENREEHEREARAR
( [EMRE] )
Zhuzhou Aoyuan Property PRC 85.71% 60% 140,000 240,000 Property development
Development Company Limited M (note) (note) YMEER
(“Zhuzhou Aoyuan”) (FizE) (PiH3E)
WNEER N EREERAA
( [HRNER] )
Zhuzhou Jinye Property Development PRC 78.49% 51.05% 93,000 143,000 Property development
Company Limited (“Zhuzhou Jinye”) (note) (note) MEER
N XRHEREERAF (FFzt) (Pi3E)
([HEMez] )
Note: B3 -

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the registered capital of Zhuzhou
Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye were decreased by RMB100,000,000 and
RMB50,000,000 and refunded to RA{EFEARAE], Minsheng Trust Co., Ltd.
(“Minsheng Trust”), a former shareholder of Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye,
the equity interest in Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye held by the Group was
then increased from 60% and 51.05% to 85.71% and 78.49%, respectively.
These transactions were accounted for deemed acquisition of additional equity
interest in joint ventures by the Group, and no gain or loss was recognised to
profit or loss as there is no difference between the registered capital returned to
Minsheng Trust and the attributable share of the net assets by the Group on this
deemed acquisition. According to the Articles of Association of Zhuzhou Aoyuan
and Zhuzhou Jinye, two out of four directors were appointed by the Group, and
the boards of directors are responsible for all operating and financing decisions of
Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye that, unanimous consent of the directors is
required on making decisions on relevant activities. Each of the investors cannot
direct the activities without consensus of the other joint ventures, and each
party cannot individually control Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye. Therefore,
Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye are continuously accounted for as joint
ventures of the Group.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 5] 4 A B A 7]

REBE—Z—AF+_A=1t—RHLFE  HRNRE
Rkl & 28 & AR5 Bl 2 AR 100,000,000
JC N AR#50,000,0007T @ 3R E FARIMNEE KR AKMN
SEMNIRREREFEARAR ([RERGED @ &
REBRFEOKRNRE RIEMNE ZERED BB 60%
J251.06% EINZE85.71% K% 78.49% ° 2SR H1EH
RAAEERESECENEIINREMALR » RITE&
PRIBRP RN EESEE - HENEETRARTN
M EANERARE BRI IER ER R R EEFEZ
RIS - RIBVRN R E Rk & ERAE =2
Al AEBAEINENEEETNREESERESS
HURNRBERIGENE ENFTALE RIMEREAE -
BB EEEEREEEEE AR - REHAM
BETERE  EREETHIERNEE  BE—HE
SRR RE KNS - Bt - SRR E &
NS REBEERANEBNAEEENE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

19. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
interests in joint ventures are set out below:

19. REELENRE (&)

AEBARGECENRS 2 BRMBE
FHtaian T :

Guangzhou Baoao 2016 2015
BEMRE —E-REF —T—hHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Current assets MENEE 21,905 24,881
Non-current assets BN E E 358,500 347300
Current liabilities nBEE 319,489 322,416
Non-current liabilities EREEE 12,729 9,941
Profit and total comprehensive income FRmH R EE WS BEE
for the year 8,363 4,099
Zhuzhou Aoyuan 2016 2015
wNEE —E—REF —ZT—hHEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Current assets MENEEE 2,641,671 2,559,645
Non-current assets IEMEEE 28,572 15,777
Current liabilities mBBE 1,931,447 2,181,885
Non-current liabilities EmEAE 600,000 140,000
Loss and total comprehensive expense FREEREEEAERE
for the year (38,681) (20,366)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

19. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

20.

19. B

BELENRE (&)

Zhuzhou Jinye 2016 2015
BN e m m e
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETIT
Current assets MENEE 2,066,679 1,463,315
Non-current assets IERBNEE 15,531 14,262
Current liabilities mERE 1,478,998 1,039,560
Non-current liabilities JERBEE 550,000 350,000
Loss and total comprehensive expense FHEIEREEEABRE
for the year (4,031) (9,474)
Available-For-Sale investments 20. AJHHERE
2016 2015
—E-RF —E—hE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
HiaE AR®T T AREFIT
Unlisted investments REMEE
Shanshui — 7K (a) 9,707 25,000
Zhunhao -Bx (b) - 50,000
9,707 75,000
Notes: B eE
(a) On 1 July 2016, the Group disposed 727% of equity interest in LL7KESH ST (a) R-ZE—ARFELtA—H AEEUREBAR
{LEXABBR AT (“Shanshui”) for a consideration of RMB30,950,000, #30,950,000 7T 1 & LU KR E L EE B R
which had been carried cost less impairment before disposal. A gain on ARV 7K ]) B 7.27% BEAE + ToiRpk AN
disposal of RMB11,919,000 has been recognised in profit or loss in current ERIREAR - &z AR 11,919,000
year. TERAREEIBEHER
The remaining carrying amount of AFS investment represents 2.28% A SR AR T REEER LK (—EE
(2015: 9.55%) of equity interest in an unlisted entity established in the REI S MIE ETEERE) M2.28% (ZF—H
PRC, Shanshui, amounting to RMB9,707,000 (2015: RMB25,000,000), F :9.55%) ik AR 19,707,000 L (==
which is measured at fair value (2015: cost less impairment) at the end of —F4F : ARM25,000,0007T) @ REBE R
the reporting period. BAFE(ZE—AF  RARERE)NE °
(b)  On 20 December 2016, the Group disposed its AFS investment in J& I Z ) RZZE-—R"F+TZA=+H TEEEBHK

SR BIEAR AR (“Zhunhao”) through the disposal of the entire equity
interests of its holding company to an independent third party with detail
disclosed in note 42(a).

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

HEERARNEHBRELET —BBYLE=
7 BEERFITER@ERRERAR]
(MBx])MAHEERE - FERERNE
42(a) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

21. Deferred Taxation

Aok T B 285 e B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NF+_-A=+—HIFFZ

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement

of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities

have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred

tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

21. ELERIE

IR

VERAMBIMARF 2R ETEL

MEEERBEDEN - PSS HERE
R & IR IBAR TR ¢

2016 2015
—E-RF —ET—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

BIETIRE B
EEFRARE

The deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised by the Group and

(183,279) (171,134)
582,560 454,100
399,281 282,966

AEERANVELEHA(EE) AERE

movements thereon during the year are as follows: RERMEZNT -
Change in Undistributed
fair value of Revaluation eamings Other
investment of of PRC temporary
properties properties Tax losses subsidiaries differences Total
REMSE el | Hith
ATEREY WEER  HEER A2KEA ENEH @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2015 RZE-HF—f 293,722 33671 (141,964) 30,000 (25,647) 189,782
Acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 41) = EUNS R ) - - (26643 - - (26643
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries (note 42(d)) B &R EMBA (R 42(d) - - 21,012 - = 21,012
Charge (credit) to profit or loss REEER
for the year note 10) Rt (A (it 10) 122,679 - 6,781 - (30645 98815
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-RE+-A=+-H 416,401 33671 (140,814) 30,000 (56,292) 282,966
Acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 41) WeEE AR (fHEa1) - - (27477 - 524 (26953)
Charge (credit) to profit or loss REEBR
for the year (note 10) Rt (GHA) (Rt 10) 116,301 - (32105) - 58137 142,333
Charged to other comprehensive income ~ REM2E RS E - - - - 935 935
At 31 December 2016 RZE—R"E+-A=1—-H 532,702 33671  (200,396) 30,000 3304 399,281
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

21. Deferred Taxation (continued) 21. EEFRIE ()

218

Other temporary differences mainly include the deductible
temporary differences in respect of the land appreciation
tax provision amounting to RMB36,758,000 (2015:
RMB68,586,000) and taxable temporary differences in respect
of the gain on change in fair value of derivative financial
instruments amounting to RMB26,336,000 (2015: nil).

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had unused tax losses
of RMB1,380,317,000 (2015: RMB1,067,436,000) available
to offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of RMB801,584,000 (2015:
RMB563,255,000) of such tax losses. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses
of RMB578,733,000 (2015: RMB504,181,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams. The unrecognised tax
losses will expire in the follow years:

HMEREZBEETELFEE @1 i
ERBEENATNREREEARE
36,758,000( — T —HF: AR
68,586,0007T) R EEITE M T AR
FEEH WD Z ERRGEREZAARE
26,336,000 7T (ZZE— 14 : ) o

RZE—RFF+ZA=Z+—H ' K
SEEBRAENADARBEBEBEAR
#1,380,317,000c( = — A F: A
R #1,067,436,0007C ) * A] FA {E K 8
A& EREHIBEEEF AR
801,584,000t( —E —HF: AR
563,255,000 7T ) ERIELET IHE E © [
PN A] TEORI R 2 A 3% - B B R B AR
T AR#578,733,000 (=T — A4 :
AR # 504,181,000 70 ) B i 18 5 18 #E 7R
BEFITRE E o RERBIBEE G IA
TEREIE

2016 2015
—E-RE —T—hHF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T AREFIT

2016 —E—REF - 95,642
2017 —E—+F 131,626 140,572
2018 —E-)N\F 51,260 63,728
2019 —E-NF 59,816 65,883
2020 —E T 134,935 138,356
2021 —E- 4 201,096 -
578,733 504,181

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for both years in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to RMB8,107,921,000 (2015: RMB5,785,825,000)
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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BEFBRGEMSHRE B2 N\F
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AN £ B A o I B ET B A A 2 B T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

Deposits Paid for Acquisitions of
Subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had made deposits
of RMB50,000,000 and RMB80,000,000 in relation to the
acquisition of parcels of land in Foshan and Zhejiang, the PRC
through acquisition of equity interests in LI T F & 1= B3
%8GR 2 7] Foshan Nanhai Hengde Shengjia Property Company
Limited, ) @B AT E E % H PR A 7] Ningbo Disai Qianfeng Real
Estate Company Limited, 2858 & %GR 2 7 Ningbo Haituo
Real Estate Company Limited and ZER KK BEABR A 7
Ningbo Tianpai Real Estate Company Limited from independent
third parties.

Amount due from a Joint Venture — Non-
Current

The balance of RMB152,009,000 (2015: RMB151,989,000)
is due from a joint venture, Guangzhou Baoao, an entity
established in the PRC, which is jointly controlled by the Group
and ERRFIFEHEMZEER AR Guangdong Poly Real Estate
Development Limited.

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and used for the joint
venture's properties development, so it will not be repaid within
one year.

22.

23.

WIEH B AR E N =

RZE—R"F+=-A=+—H ' ~5H
HBBEBILFE=HWEGFILTEEE
EHEEEXERAR  BRAENEE
¥XERAE - BREHREEBRAFR
BRRNKEFBRA AR ARE - KB
B L ROFI et B IE 5T & A R
50,000,000 7t &2 A E&.# 80,000,000 7T ©

W —RB&EbERIE-F
5

B —EEErEBRMNRRARE LA
K% 152,009,000t (ZZE—HF+=A
=+—H: AR¥151,989,0007T) ° &
MRBARFREKL - AAREERERR
MEHEREBRA R HEREES o

ZHREYEER RS MARAERE
MMEERRE BTN —FREE -

&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NF+ - H=+—HILFZF

24. Properties for Sale

24. A[RAEEMSE

2016 2015
—E—XRF —E—hE
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR¥ETT

Properties for sale comprise of: AESHEMEBIE
Completed properties BIER
Properties under development BERPYIE

Included in the amount are properties under development for
sale of RMB7,133,778,000 (2015: RMB4,262,576,000) in relation
to property development projects that are expected to complete
after one year from the end of the reporting periods.

At 31 December 2016, certain of the Group’'s properties
for sale with carrying value of RMB4,142,315,000 (2015:
RMB7175,562,000) were pledged for certain banking facilities
granted to the Group.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 5] 4 A B A 7]

8,193,175 6,951,186
35,293,399 24,841,186
43,486,574 31,792,372

HEABEIREEERETWEARE
7.133,778,000L( —E— 4% : AR
4,262,576,000 7T ) TE AR AR ERAE SR —
FIBTEK °

R_ZE—XNE+-_A=+—H A&£H
BREEAARKA4142,315000 (=&
—F4F : AR¥7,175,5662,0007T) V& T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

25. Trade and other Receivables 25. ESREMEWK
2016 2015
—EBE-RE —ZT—-hfF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Hiat AR¥T AREBFT
Trade receivables B SN (a) 244,018 154,648
Deferred rental receivables AL © FEWGRIR (b) 34,062 29,671
Other receivables H b IR (c) 1,402,205 412,638
Security deposits RS 363,054 184,390
Advances to constructors and suppliers SRR R R KR 213,637 156,259
Deposits paid to respective local AR E TR A
governments and third parties XTI E
for the potential purchase of BRRE=H 2%
land use rights 536,171 391,911
Other tax prepayments H{th B IBTRT K 811,310 423,118
3,604,457 1,752,635
Notes: BifaE -
(a) The following is the aged analysis of trade receivables determined based (@) AT RIREXNMEREERRE AETH
on the date of the properties delivered and sales were recognised: B S REAGREFRER AT :
2016 2015
—EB-RE —T—hHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBFT
0 to 60 days 0£60H 126,437 77820
61 to 180 days 61%2180H 18,302 8,084
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 22,969 16,265
1 to 2 years 1824 34,533 28,156
2 to 3 years 2E34F 19,659 21,668
Over 3 years BB 3 F 22,118 2,655
244,018 154,648
Trade receivables mainly represent receivables amounting to BoRWAREZREEBBMEEROFIEA
RMB171,392,000 (2015: RMB154,648,000) from properties buyers and R%171,392,000t( ZE—HF: AR¥
RMB?72,626,000 (2015: nil) from customers for purchases of goods. 154,648,00070) kiR FEEEMEIRE P
M FIE A R #72,626,0007T (=T — A F ¢
) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NF+ - H=+—HILFZF

25. Trade and other Receivables (continued) 25. ESREMEWF ()
Notes: (continued) BicE - (88)
(a) (continued) (@) (%)
Payments terms with wholesale customer for purchases of goods are FHEBEEYHIRBREEPNRTEREZ AR
mainly on credit. The wholesale customers are allowed a credit period of 0 8 o E%%?tt%"%ﬁi%?ﬂ#\ﬁ BHERHEEO
to 60 days from date of issuance of the invoices. There is no credit period ZE0ORMEER c TEZEWHEREER -

granted for retail customers.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers REEE 5 BNz ATk E R - NEEe
any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit ZEESNELEENH Eﬁti+i$ﬁ%ﬁﬂ7ﬁ
was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. IEEB SR B E Za E (&

As at 31 December 2016, there were RMB75,950,000 (2015: RZZE—ARFE+_A=+—H8 " RKBBE—

RMB52,479,000) receivables aged more than 1 year that were past due F 7 WG A AR 75,950,000t (ZZE—H

but not impaired. The management of the Company is of the opinion that F : ARM52,479,0007T) B i B8 3 R

no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these receivables as B AARERERS  ARZZRBGRE

there has not been a significant change in credit quality and amounts are FEEERWESEANEL - BRBEBELEZ
still considered recoverable based on historical experience. ﬁ%ﬁ%’ﬂ)}%&ﬁﬁ—ﬂﬂz@ » Atk N B Z SR
BRETHRR B B o
The concentration of credit risk in the remaining trade receivables is limited HREPESEAXBY &#EE  WHBEES
due to the customer base being large and unrelated. BRHRZEEESTRBRER -
(b) Rental receivables from tenants are payable on presentation of demand (b) R PR S BRIES N FRMEREZ T -
note.
(c) As at 31 December 2016, the balances mainly include: (c) RIE—RNF+_A=+—"H #HBEITEL
&

(i) Deposits of RMB100,000,000 (2015: RMB100,000,000) paid to (i) MARRMEENBARENERE
BEINTH 22 el [ 22 e T 28 e A [ A8 Bt A 4L (“Luogang Business ERZEERAR([ZREHERME])
Association”) and EMNTEEEEBR AR (“Yijing Investment”) FrEfTYIEEIE B B~ BN EE
for the property project carried out by &M # BEHER AR A HEETEALRLER ST ([EEt
(“Luo Ao Real Estate Development”), a subsidiary indirectly owned RASEB AL REMNTERRES
by the Company, details refer to note 35(b). RAR(TEREE )M ARKE

100,000,000 (=T — R F : AR
100,000,0007T) * wEIEEHKTFE35(0)

(ii) Deposit of RMB645,000,000 (2015: nil) paid for public auction of (ii) BEALA R B N ) — B b 3R R R IR AT
a parcel of land situated in Guangzhou, the PRC. The amount has Btay3 e AR 645,000,000 7T (=
been fully refunded in February 2017 due to the public auction was T—RF : ) - HRAFRRIZREK
unsuccessful. ZREEN =Tt F - ABERE -

26. Deposits Paid for Acquisitions of Land Use 26. Wig+ivfEAEENiRE

Rights

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has made deposits of RZZE—RE+TZA=+—8 ' x&H
RMB147053,000 (2015: nil) in relation to the acquisitions of land E B A = 5 Uk B8 1 {56 B & i & 3%
use rights from third parties. In the opinion of the executive & AR # 147,053,000 c(=F — A F :
directors of the Company, the aforesaid transactions are ) o AARIMITESERA X LR 518
expected to be completed within twelve months from the end HRRERARLE+ —E AN °

of the reporting period.
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27.

28.

29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016

Amounts due from/to Non-Controlling
Shareholders of Subsidiaries

The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand. In the opinion of the executive directors of the
Company, the Group is expected to receive the balance of
amounts due from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
within twelve months from the end of the reporting period, and
therefore the amount is classified as a current asset.

Amounts due from Related Parties

The balances as at 31 December 2016, mainly represent an
amount of RMB88,206,000 (2015: RMB170,364,000) due from
a related party, RN REBF = FEE A PR A AlZhuzhou Tianjun
Properties Development Company Ltd. (“Zhuzhou Tianjun”),
an entity established in the PRC, which is controlled by)#=
fifand#f£3, who are non-controlling shareholders of certain
subsidiaries and partners of certain joint ventures. The amounts
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. In the
opinion of the executive directors of the Company, the Group is
expected to receive the balance of amounts due from related
parties within twelve months from the end of the reporting
period, and therefore the amount is classified as a current asset.

Amounts due from Joint Ventures - Current

The amounts of RMB100,000,000 (2015: nil) and
RMB50,000,000 (2015: RMB55,000,000) are due from Zhuzhou
Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye, joint ventures of the Group,
respectively. The amount is unsecured, carrying interest at rate
of 20% per annum and repayable on demand.

The remaining balances are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. In the opinion of the executive directors
of the Company, the Group is expected to receive the balance
of amounts due from joint ventures within twelve months from
the end of the reporting period, and therefore the amount is
classified as a current asset.

27.

28.

29.

Aok B B A M (4D

BE-_T—NF+—H=1—HIFZF

FEWL B B A B 2 FE = AR AR
RFIE

FREBSELR - R ERANERE
& ARBRTEFERA AKEHE
TR E R AR R+ 8 A A U EUE UL
ERp NGB 22 B0 L 7 - S
EZREDBRRBEE

ik

FEWR BRE A R FIE

R-ZE—RNFE+-_A=+—HB2Z2&HT
TR — M RE R RSN T REBEH
ERZEARAR(HRMNKER] - —HEF
Bl H)E B8 ) ;UIE A KR 88,206,000 7T
—ZT—HF : AR¥170,364,0007T) °
RN RED RS R AE R AR 12 4l - TS =
ERHBAS THEARKIEERRR
RETEERENERA c ZEHIAE
i REREREKRKEE  AQF
BITEERA  AKBEEARHREHR
RBAET 1 =1 A P U ER fE Uk B8 E A B 508
BIEREE - A RIED B RREEE o

W E

AER# 100,000,000t (ZZ—AEF : )
M AR# 50,000,000t (=ZF—HF : A
R #55,000,0007T) i 5 Rl EM AL E &
EEERMEEREMNEE - ZFERIE
EEA - 1R20% 2 FMEFERERE
KEFEE o

& RE — AAR

HfpHEHRERR  2ERAREBRKE
B ARATTESR R - AKBEER
REEIRES T @A AREERS
LEEFENSRE  AUZFBEIER
RBEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

30. Derivative Financial Instruments

30. fTEEMIA

Current
BN EA

2016 2015

—B-RF —E—TF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT ARETTT
Derivative financial instruments not W ARIETE BEHHY
designated as hedging instruments: MESHMIE :

Foreign currency forward contracts SN IR HA S 4 142,402 =

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group entered REEZZT—R"F+A=+—HItF
into foreign currency forward contracts to reduce the risk of [§ - AEBFIIMNERMEL - UEE
currency exchange fluctuation of the Group’s USD senior notes. N £ (B 35 TT B 5L R IR K HNE R B R B

At 31 December 2016, the Group has the following foreign RZE—R"F+ZA=+—H '  ~5H
currency forward contracts with predetermined maturity date. BEUATEEHNHANINEREGA - £
Their major terms are as follows: ZHEFWT ¢

Notional amount Maturity Forward contract rates
ERSH FIHA RS RS EHEHFI=E

Buy USD150,000,000 17 January 2017 RMB6.6885: USD1

& A 150,000,000 %7 —E—+F—-A+tHR AR¥6.68857T : 17T
Buy USD223,650,200 24 January 2017 RMB6.7069: USD1

B A 223,650,200 7T —T—+F—A=-+MA AREE6.70697C 137
Buy USD74,515,648 24 January 2017 RMB6.7100: USD1

B A 74,515,648 % T —tF—A=+mA AR¥6.71007T : 17T
Buy USD100,000,000 8 February 2017 RMB6.6778: USD1

& A 100,000,000 7T —T—+F=-ANH AR¥6.67787T : 1%L
As at 31 December 2016, the fair value of outstanding foreign RZE—R"F+ZA=+—H" K

currency forward contracts of RMB142,402,000 (2015: nil) have
been recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position. Accordingly, fair value gains were recognised to the
profit and loss for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

31. Restricted Bank Deposits/Bank Balances

and Cash
Restricted bank deposits

As at 31 December 2016, the balances represent deposits
amounting to RMB485,578,000 (2015: RMB1,266,632,000)
pledged for short term loan facilities granted by banks and
carrying interest at variable interest rates ranging from 0.38% to
2.45% (2015: 0.38% to 3.25%) per annum.

Bank balances and cash

Included in bank balances and cash are balances which,
in accordance with the applicable government regulations
prevailing in 2016, are placed in restricted bank accounts,
amounting to RMB2,519,996,000 (2015: RMB1,830,481,000),
which can only be applied in the designated property
development projects.

The bank balances carry interest at variable interest rates
ranging from 0.30% to 2.45% (2015: 0.35%) per annum.

. ZRHBITERRITEER
BE

ZIRHBIRITER

R-ZZE—RE+-_A=1+—8 " &5
%A N R# 485,578,000 0( = —HF ¢
AR#1,266,632,00070) 275K BT
ARG RITBEENEHEERE - I
2B EFIR0.38% £2.45% T8 (=
—FF : 0.38% £3.25%) °

THRHERRE

BIE - — NFEABNER @ RIT74
HREReBEFAXRHRITES A
AR 2,519,996,000 (=T —F4F :
AER%51,830,481,0007T) © {£0] ARIEE
MEERIER o

2 EFNERZE0.30% £2.45% T B (=
—Fh%F :0.35%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

32. Trade and other Payables/Deposits

32. B RHEMBNR SHEWH

Received for Sale of Properties 2WET&
2016 2015
—E-RF —T—hEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Hiat ARET T AREETTT
Trade payables BN (a) 4,568,181 3,586,159
Other payables H A e FRIR (b) 1,927,635 1,710,325
Consideration payable (note 41(a)) FERHRE (BiEE41(a)) 218,000 =
Other taxes payables H IR 80,684 51,655
6,794,500 5,348,139

(@) The following is an aged analysis of trade payables

(a)

UTRIBRBEEZARETNESE

determined based on the invoice date: I FREBRER D AT
2016 2015
—E-REF —ET—hF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
0 to 60 days 0% 60H 1,753,004 1,583,660
61 to 180 days 612180 H 955,048 569,042
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 482,286 214,092
1 to 2 years 18224 600,527 372,161
2 to 3 years 2E3%F 366,545 585,612
Over 3 years BB 3T 410,771 261,592
4,568,181 3,586,159

At 31 December 2016, the balance of trade payables
with age over 1 year include retention money payable of
RMB492,312,000 (2015: RMB528,405,000) to the sub-
contractors of property development projects, which
represents approximately 5% to 10% of the contract
prices.

According to the construction contracts, the retention
money is interest-free and would be paid to the
sub-contractors in 1 to 3 years upon completion of
development of the properties.

226 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited o[22 [52] 3 7 45 [ 45 A R 23 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

32. Trade and other Payables/Deposits
Received for Sale of Properties (continued)

(a)

(continued)

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding
for payments to sub-contractors of property development
projects and purchases of construction materials. The
average credit period for trade purchases is from 6
months to 1 year. The management closely monitors the
payments of the payable to ensure that all payables are
paid within the credit timeframe. Details of the financial
risk management polices by the Group are set out in note
40.

Other payables mainly include:

(i) Abalance of RMB136,192,000 (2015: RMB121,209,000)
payable to Yijing Investment, co-founders of LuoAo Real
Estate Development, a subsidiary of the Company.
The property project undertaken by LuoAo Real Estate
Development commenced its pre-sale during the year
ended 31 December 2014 and the Group had received
proceeds from pre-sale on behalf of Yijing Investment,
details refer to note 35(b).

32. B RHEMBNR SHEWHE
EWET & (&)

(a)

(%)

BHRNAREZBREBERAINEY
XEHRBEBDEBNFARFEAX
MERBREM MR - BHRB
MFSEEMANBERE—F-F
BETYEREMNRAN - i
RETBARMFERNEERBAX
o REER R B IR BR 2 5
TBERHIE40

HiENFRETEERE

) ENAQRAHNHEBERGZE
B i B 3 A0 2 R Al
ARAEEREREARYE
136,192,000 7C( =T — R4 :
A R #121,209,0007T ) °
HEZEREEREHELOY
¥XBEEREE_ZT—NF
+=—A=+—HILEFERH
RTEE  MASKEERRKE
RIXE WELTE & TS 508
BRAFEELBME35(b) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

32. Trade and other Payables/Deposits
Received for Sale of Properties (continued)

(b)

(continued)

(ii)

(iif)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, 2 [=
£ B ABBR A alAoyuan Group Company Limited
(“Aoyuan Group”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into an agreement (the
"Agreement 1") with an independent third party for
a property development project. According to the
Agreement 1, Aoyuan Group will pay 20% of the
aggregate revenue of the property development
project, but no less than RMB600,000,000 by
instalment to the independent third party in return
for a parcel of land which is used for the property
development project, thus, the aggregate payment
amount is deemed as land cost incurred. As at 31
December 2016, RMB170,000,000 has been paid
and the remaining balance of RMB430,000,000
(2015: RMB550,000,000) will be settled within
twelve months according to the payment schedule
stipulated in the Agreement 1.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, EX
BERMEMESBESR AR Guangdong Aoyuan
Commercial Property Group Company Limited
(*“Guangdong Aoyuan”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into a series of agreements
(the "Agreement 2"”) with an independent third
party for purchase of three property development
projects situated in Nanning, the PRC, with total
consideration of RMB720,286,000. As at 31
December 2016, consideration of RMB366,272,000
has been paid and the remaining consideration
of RMB354,014,000 will be settled within twelve
months.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

32. EFRHMENR HEWHE
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(b)

(&)

(ii)

(iii)

HE-_Z—RAF+ = A
=+t—HLEFE REKHE
BRAR([REERE] - AAQ
ANEEHMBAR) E—2%8
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Belvthaz( HE1l) - 1R
Bial RREEE KRB
NE=ZF BRI NMEER
HEBREEETEZ220% (A
™K A R 600,000,000
o) A E AR EEREIE
BRI - Bt - BT
RIB AR R BT EE A /9 1 Hb Bk
e RZE—XRNE+ A
=t+t—H BEXHARK
170,000,000 7T * #4258 A R ¥
430,000,000 L(=ZF—H%F :
A R ¥ 550,000,000 7T ) #5 1R
B iR 1 SRR RERRR
+ZEARGEE -

REBEEZE-_Z—A<"F+=A
=+—HIEEE KXAFE
BEMBRARIERBEME M
ESBERAR(ERE
B E—R2BYE=FL
— R iaE ([ HE2]) - L&
R E A R #720,286,000 7T
BEMURTEEEN =AY
XHAEEBE  -MNZT—~F
+=—A=+—8" ' EX[K
B8 AR ¥ 366,272,000 7T * &
TREARY 354,014,000 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

32. Trade and other Payables/Deposits
Received for Sale of Properties (continued)

(b)  (continued)

(iv)  Asat 31 December 2016, balance of RMB126,000,000
is due to Mr. Li Lianzhu, a former non-controlling
shareholder in connection to the reduction of capital
contribution of EFEBMHERZEGR AR Guangxi
Hanlin Property Development Company Limited
(“Guangxi Hanlin") detailed in note 41(c)(i).

The remaining balances of other payables mainly
represent deposits received, payable for staff
salaries, staff welfare and operating expenses.

As at 31 December 2016, deposits received for
sale of properties of RMB10,633,501,000 (2015:
RMB6,837312,000) is expected to be released to profit
or loss after twelve months from the end of the reporting
date.

33. Amounts due to Joint Ventures

The balances represent amounts due to Zhuzhou Aoyuan
and Zhuzhou Jinye, which are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

32.

33.

EZREMEAR HENE
BT £ (&)

b (&)

v, RZE—R"F+ZA=+—
B - #% A K% 126,000,000
T EABMERER
PR A A)E & R A FE < 2B R
Jo A (RTIEIERRARER)  FE B R
BEE41 (C)(i) °

HRHMBENRBEGEHRER
EEWAIE BNEIH
& BIRMREERX -

RZE—R"E+=ZA=+—H" HEY
%2 WETE AR 10,633,501,000 7T (=
T—ARF : AK¥6,837,312,00070) 85T
RmEHRERT T —EA%ERZIE

N

E\

P& & b ERIE

B RS E RO RE RN £ 3
B REEE - 2B RBNEREERE -
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34. Bank and Other Borrowings

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B RE (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

34. BITREMMER

2016 2015
—E—RF —T—hHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREBT T

The bank and other borrowings comprise: 817 R EHMEREIE
RMB bank borrowings ARBIRITER 4,485,357 3,343,477
US$ bank borrowings EITIRITER 1,149,393 1,223,274
AUD bank borrowings SBRITIRTTIE K 334,532 283,656
RMB other borrowings (note) AR E AR (M) 823,500 2,522,890
6,792,782 7373,297

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2015, Aoyuan Group and Chongging Aoyu
Property Company (“Chongging Aoyu”), wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company, entered into entrusted loan agreements with Lion Asset Management
Co., Ltd (“Lion Asset”) and Changcheng Jiaxin Asset Management Co., Ltd
(“Changcheng Jiaxin”) with principal amount of RMB780,000,000 (“Lion Asset
Loan"”) and RMB800,000,000 (“Changcheng Jiaxin Loan"”) with no fixed term,
respectively. The Lion Asset Loan carries interest at a rate of 9.5% per annum in
the first two years and 19.2% per annum from the third year and thereafter. The
Changcheng Jiaxin Loan carries interest at rate of 11.78% and 11.85% per annum
in the first and second year, respectively, and 17.85% from the third year and
thereafter. Both of Lion Asset Loan and Changcheng Jiaxin Loan are guaranteed
by the Company and secured by land use rights owned by Aoyuan Group and
Chongging Aoyu. As at 31 December 2016, the balance of Lion Asset Loan is
RMB718,000,000 (2015: RMB780,000,000) and Changcheng Jiaxin Loan has been
fully repaid (2015: RMB800,000,000).

The remaining balances of other borrowings amounting to RMB105,500,000
(2015: RMB942,890,000) represent loans provided by certain trust companies,
which are secured by properties for sale, carry interest at fixed rates of a range
from 5.39% to 10.35% (2015: 5.39% to 16.00%) per annum.
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it

HE_Z—AF+_A=1+—HILFE  BREEEX
EEREBEEXNT([EERE]) (KARRNZEMN B
AR BHELEETEERAR ([HREE]) REW
R EEEERARAR(RAEREDILETER
& - BEALES B A AR 780,000,000 7T ([ 7
ZEEER]) R ARKS800,000,000 T ([EHEEE
7)) BEETERY AR EEERNEMETE
129.5% 2 FFIRTE - BE=FRERHEIL19.2%
ZEFRGE - REEEERARE—FRE-FH
BIR11.78% K& 11.85% 2 FHEFE - HE=Fe
RE%RZ17.85% 2 FREGFE - R EEERRK
BEEERYHARRRBER  YURESEEK
EERERAN T HEREERER - RZT—R
FE+-A=1+—H #REEERNBRBAARYE
718,000,00075( =% — A & : A K ¥ 780,000,000
T REHEEERCEHEE(CT—AF  ARK
800,000,0007%) °

Hib &R A AR 105,500,000t (ZF—A
& : AR#942,890,0007T) © AE TEEAAIRE
WER - ZEFEFARHEEMEERER - BT
5.39% %2 10.35% (=ZF—FF : 5.39% £16.00%) 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

34. Bank and Other Borrowings (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

34, SRITRHEHMERK (&)

2016 2015
—EB-RF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREBT T
The carrying amounts of above bank AR A TN EARE R EaltiRT &
and other borrowings are repayable: HEMEFHERE(E ¢
Within one year 15K 2,186,139 2,238,443
More than one year, but 1F LA HBRBBE2F
not exceeding two years 2,472,184 3,468,894
More than two years, but 2F LA EBREBBLF
not exceeding five years 1,311,845 1,304,550
More than five years 5F A E 11,363 29,509
5,981,531 7.041,396
The carrying amounts of above bank BB B SRR (BB Y
and other borrowings that contains A ERAT R B At AR
a repayment on demand clause (PITRRREBAEIERT)
(shown under current liabilities) HEREE 811,251 331,901
6,792,782 7373,297
Less: Amount due within one year B NRE A EIE B RFTR
shown under current liabilities R FREEARIE (2,997,390) (2,5670,344)
Amount due after one year 14 2 1% B HAzkIE 3,795,392 4,802,953
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B RE (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

34. Bank and Other Borrowings (continued)

The bank and other borrowings bear interest at:

Contracted interest rate

BRFI=

34. BITRE

$P1T R EABAE BRI

B (&)

100% to 130% of lending rate
of the People’s Bank of China
("PBC rate”) (2015: 100% to
163% of PBC rate)

Fixed rate ranging from 1.97% to
10.35% (2015: 6.5% to 19.2%)

Hong Kong Interbank Offered

Rates ("HIBOR") plus 2.6% to 6.5%

London Interbank Offered Rates
(“"LIBOR") plus 5% to 6.5%
Bank Bill Swap (“BBSY") bid rate

plus 2.35%

B A RIRITEFRF R
([REIARRITRZE]) 100% =
130% (ZZ—HF : FERAR
SRITFEZ 100% = 163% )

1.97% % 10.35% 2 [EE &=

—E—HF :65%£19.2%)

BARTRAZERE ([BABRIT
EZEHFEIN2.6% £6.5%

RZERTT R Z 7 S F =X ([fRBERTT
EZFEFNE]) MN5% £6.5%

SRITEIERE AR ([RITRR=E )
BAFIENN2.35%
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2016 2015
—E-REF —E—0F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEFTT
2,147,677 3,060,078
3,161,180 3,729,004
- 584,215
1,149,393 -
334,532 =
6,792,782 7373,297




34.

35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

Bank and Other Borrowings (continued) 34. BITREMER(E)
The weighted average effective interest rate on bank and other FREITREMERDINEFESERT
borrowings for the year is 7.76% (2015: 8.22%) per annum. REFGETTI6%(ZZE—HF :822%)
Other than the assets pledged as disclosed in notes elsewhere MG EMBREREMEHTAFEZENE K
in the consolidated financial statements, equity interests of WEEIN  NARETHBA A/ IR E
certain subsidiaries of the Company were pledged for the bank B FEE NEGR TFTASE/ETR
and other borrowing facilities granted to the Group. HipEREEEE -
Provisions 35. &fE
LuoAo
Guangzhou Real Estate Guangzhou
Wan Pui  Development Shangshui Total
BMNER BEREMERR &M ief @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR%T R ARETR ARETR
(a) (b) (c)
At 1 January 2015 R-ZE—h%—A—H 560,296 883,257 133,591 1,577,144
Additional provisions recognised B REREIMNERE 1,124 16,257 2,926 20,307
At 31 December 2015 RZE-RF+-A=t—-H 561,420 899,514 136,517 1,597,451
Additional provisions recognised B REREIMNE 16,075 11,637 240 27952
Release upon the delivery of RERTYER AR
completed properties - (195,680) - (195,680)
At 31 December 2016 RZZ—RE+A=1—H 577,495 715,471 136,757 1,429,723
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

234

35. Provisions (continued)

(a)

On 31 December 2011, the Company entered into an
agreement (the “Agreement”) with Pan Information
Technology Limited (“PIT"). According to the Agreement,
the Group injected cash of RMB154,700,000 in BN
SHREEE AR AT (the “Guangzhou Wan Pui”), an
entity established in the PRC which principally engaged
in property development. The Group held 65% equity
interest in Guangzhou Wan Pui after the completion of
capital injection while PIT held 35% equity interest in
the Guangzhou Wan Pui. In addition, the Group and PIT
agreed that the Group has to transfer 35% of completed
properties of the property project in Guangzhou Wan Pui
to PIT and in return PIT requires to transfer its 35% equity
interest in the Guangzhou Wan Pui to the Group upon
completion of the property project.

The Group is responsible for providing funding to finance
this property project and the project management is
wholly responsible by the Group. PIT will not involve in the
daily operation and management of this property project.
According to the Agreement, PIT will not share any profit
and loss of Guangzhou Wan Pui during the property
construction.

Guangzhou Wan Pui is accounted for as wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group and PIT has provided land to the
Group to develop the property project in return to have
35% of completed properties. Accordingly, the potential
amount of the development expenditure and other
attributable expenses for the development of properties
to be incurred to complete the development of the 35%
completed properties to be delivered to PIT is accounted
for as provision of the Group in respect of cost of the land.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]
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BEMAASEEZEENEMNER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

35. Provisions (continued)

(b)

On 8 August 2013, the Company entered into an
agreement (the “Agreement”) with Luogang Business
Association and Yijing Investment to establish “LuoAo
Real Estate Development” with a registered capital
of RMB100,000,000 which engages in property
development.

According to the Agreement, the Group injected
RMB60,000,000 to LuoAo Real Estate Development and
the Group held 60% equity interest in LuoAo Real Estate
Development after the completion of capital injection
while each of Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment injected RMB20,000,000 respectively and
each of them held 20% equity interest in the LuoAo Real
Estate Development respectively. In addition, the Group,
Luogang Business Association and Yijing Investment
agreed that after the completion of the development of
property project by LuoAo Real Estate Development,
the Group has to transfer 40% of completed
properties to Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment in return Luogang Business Association
and Yijing Investment have to contribute part of the
land consideration at RMB926,350,000. The Group is
responsible for providing funding to finance this property
project and the project management is wholly responsible
by the Group. Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment will not be involved in daily operation and
management of this property project. In addition, Luogang
Business Association and Yijing Investment have agreed
not to share any profit and loss of LuoAo Real Estate
Development during the property construction.

35. &R (&)

(b)

R-ZF—=F/\ANB  ARFH
ERGEM AL RERIRER L —
s ([ ]) - AEMEARAR
# 100,000,000 ToAK 7 [ 22 585 3 =

P EEMERFRHE -
BB - ARERZEREERN

¥ A A R #60,000,0007T ¢ I
REBTR 258 &R EHER
5 60% M HE - 2 R ASOE B St
REZEHFRAES B REAARKE
20,000,000t HFEE B D BEFHE
ZZE B EE 5% 20% ARAE o ithoh -
RNEE - ZECBER AT RERE
BWE  REREHERZETKY
¥BEE 2% AEEAHBEEIY
2 40% HEHiE T REMBEB ST R
FEIRIRE - (ERETR - 2 AR
Bt REEF IR E BB E S TR
8 A\ R #926,350,0007C ° AN
BEMEMLYEEAREES
WEAASE2EARIEEEE - #
EEERAT NERRETSSH
ZMFEEERTRERER It
O BB AT REERED
FERMERERPRTSHZER
B EE R B B F B R B 98 o
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

236

35. Provisions (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Luo Ao Real Estate Development is accounted for as
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group and Luogang
Business Association and Yijing Investment have provided
part of the land consideration at RMB926,350,000 to the
Group to develop the property project in return to have
40% completed properties. Accordingly, the potential
development expenditure and other attributable expenses
for the development of properties to be incurred to
complete the development of the 40% completed
properties to be delivered to Luogang Business
Association and Yijing Investment is accounted for as
provision of the Group in respect of the cost of the land.

At 31 December 2016, the Group had received the pre-
sale proceeds on behalf of Yijing Investment, which was
recorded as other payables amounting RMB136,192,000
(2015: RMB121,209,000). During the year ended 31
December 2016, certain portion of property project has
been completed, and the Group delivered completed
properties of RMB32,978,000 and RMB 162,702,000 to
Luogang Business Association and Yijing Investment,
respectively.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

35. Provisions (continued)

(c)

On 28 February 2014, the Company entered into an
agreement (the “Agreement”) with two independent
parties, Mr. Zhong Jiawen and Mr. Zhong Binghong.
According to the Agreement, the Group injected cash
of RMB10,408,000 in B/ ®AEERR AR (the
“Guangzhou Shangshui”), an entity established in
the PRC which principally engaged in the property
development. The Group held 51% equity interest in
Guangzhou Shangshui after the completion of capital
injection while the two independent parties held 49%
equity interest in the Guangzhou Shangshui. In addition,
the Group, two independent parties agreed that after the
completion of the development of property project by
Guangzhou Shangshui, the Group has to transfer 50%
of completed properties to the two independent parties
in return the two independent parties have to contribute
part of the land consideration at RMB207,356,800. The
Group is responsible for providing funding to finance this
property project and the project management is wholly
responsible by the Group. The two independent parties
will not be involved in daily operation and management of
this property project. In addition, two independent parties
have agreed not to share any profit and loss of Guangzhou
Shangshui during the property construction.

Guangzhou Shangshui is accounted for as a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group and the two independent
parties has provided part of the land consideration at
RMB207,356,800 to the Group to develop the property
project in return to have 50% of completed properties.
Accordingly, the potential development expenditure
and other attributable expenses for the development of
properties to be incurred to complete the development
of the 50% of completed properties of the property
project to be delivered to the two independent parties is
accounted for as provision of the Group in respect of the
land cost contributed by two independent parties.

35. &R (&)

(c)

R-ZE—MF-_A=-+/\H ' &R
BB Z B A BN E KR
IRt RIS — e ([ ek ) ©
RIE = - AEE R EMN M KBS
ERABI(EMNHEKD)EER S
A R #10,408,0007T * & M & 7K
RINABIKINEERE - TEREY
EERR FETHE AEERA
&M 181 7K B 51% BRAE - A 5 B
SR BN E K B9 49% A%
B o LA REEEMEE T AT
BE REMEKEEKDERRE
% NEBARMZELATERE
50% BEE T¥% + LEVSMA B
ATREID i - REAARE
207,356,8007T - A EEHE TR
HESUHZMEIEBERA U2
NAEEBEBEERE - ZMaBY AL
R E2EZYEIEE M BEE
REE o JbHh  RYIZEREREM -
MEBYALTERETE DG EM
i 7K B FE AT e A1) K2 548 o

BN # 7K 5] AR B HE T A 2= &t
BRAA MMABBILAITERARN
EEIEHIED T ARBERYE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

36. Loans From Non-Controlling Shareholders
of Subsidiaries

The balance represents loans from non-controlling shareholders

of subsidiaries, details are set out below:

(a)

Loan of RMB885,300,000 provided by FJIMEFEERA
A to KEPEEE X AR A A Chengdu Yihua Property
Company Limited (“Yihua Property”), which is secured by
the Group's properties for sale and investment properties,
carrying interest at rate of 10.09% per annum and will
mature on 12 May 2022;

Loan of RMB252,100,000 provided by PUJI{E5E AR A ]
to ZHEEEHEMRZE AR AR Anhui Qinlian Property
Company Limited (“Anhui Qinlian”), which is secured by
the Group's properties for sale, carrying interest at rate of
12.5% per annum and will mature on 8 March 2018; and

Loan of RMB50,000,000 provided by EZE % (L§) &E
BEBRAR to RYMEEEREEFEEMR A ShenZhen
Taifuhua Lanwan Property Company Limited (“Lanwan
Property”), which is secured by the Group’s properties for sale,
carrying interest at rate of 6.5% per annum and will mature on
16 June 2019.

37. Senior Notes and Bonds

2012 Notes and 2013 Notes

On 11 February 2016, the Company redeemed an aggregate
principal amount of US$112,500,000 of 2012 Notes and 2013
Notes, representing the remaining 50% of the principal amount
of US$225,000,000, at a redemption price equal to 106.93750%
of the principal amount thereof together with all accrued and

unpaid interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

37. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2014 Notes

On 17 January 2014, the Company issued senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$300,000,000 (the “2014
Notes”). The issue price was 99.254% of the principal amount
of the 2014 Notes. 2014 Notes are listed on SEHK. 2014 Notes

are:

(a)

carry interest at rate of 11.25% per annum and interest is
payable semi-annually on 17 January and 17 July in arrears,
and will mature on 17 January 2019, unless redeemed
earlier;

senior in right of payment to any future obligations of the
Company expressly subordinated in right of payment to
the 2014 Notes;

rank and will rank at least pari passu in right of payment
with all other unsecured, unsubordinated indebtedness
of the Company (subject to any priority rights of such
subordinated indebtedness pursuant to applicable law);

guaranteed by subsidiaries of the Company other than
those organised under the laws of the PRC (“Guarantors”)
the on a senior basis, subject to certain limitations; and

effectively subordinated to all existing and future
obligations of subsidiaries of the Company other than
Guarantors.

37. BRRERES: (&)

—E-mEER

n=

T-WFE—-—A+LH KRRFET

7N 4 48 %8 £300,000,0003% 7T 2 18 £ =
BIZE—NEEER]) - BTEAR=
T—NEEBRARESE 299.254% ° =
T NEEBRRBEBBIM LT - =F
—NERER

(a)

REFE1.25% 5 ERFERE
F—A++tHEEtA+EEHEBFF
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T+t HEH REEDASER

A .
nfg *

EXERN LB HRE T~
FEBRXENARBEAAREEE
FHELXER

ELEARRAAHMEERIE
IRBIETFREN KA RN R E X Ei
L (HEEERERTZFRRES
BEMELEIZERR) ;
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37. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2014 Notes (continued)

At any time and from time to time on or after 17 January 2017,
the Company may redeem the 2014 Notes, in whole or in part,
at a redemption price equal to the percentage of the principal
amount of the 2014 Notes redeemed set forth below plus
accrued and unpaid interest (if any) to (but not including) the
redemption date, if redeemed during the twelve month period
beginning on 17 January of each year at the price set forth

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

37. BRRERES: (&)

—E-NFERE (&)

ARRRAEBER-_T—tF—A++tH
k2 TR BERY N B R TS X E S 9 fE B (B
(BER _ZT-—NFEBEASENED
) ZmazBmER(ETEHEZA)
FEET R AR HORE (10 A) (MRS FE—
A+tBREe+ —EAHRARTX
FOIWERERL) 2 AFOBER-F

below: —HFERIE

Redemption Price
Period HRfE fBlIE
2017 —E—+F 105.6250%

2018 and thereafter - N\FRHE

At any time prior to 17 January 2017 the Company will be
entitled at its option to redeem the 2014 Notes in whole but
not in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the 2014 Notes redeemed plus the applicable
premium as defined in the offering memorandum of the
Company dated 10 January 2014 (“Applicable Premium”) as of,
and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the
redemption date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

37. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2014 Notes (continued)

Applicable Premium is the greater of (a) 1% of the principal
amount of the 2014 Notes and (b) the excess of (A) the present
value at such redemption date of the redemption price of such
2014 Notes on 17 January 2017 plus all required remaining
scheduled interest payments due on the 2014 Notes through
17 January 2017 (but excluding accrued and unpaid interest to
the redemption date), computed using a discount rate equal
to comparable treasury price in United States plus 100 basis
points, over (B) the principal amount of the 2014 Notes on such
redemption date.

At any time and from time to time prior to 17 January 2017 the
Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal
amount of the 2014 Notes at a redemption price of 111.25% of
the principal amount of the 2014 Notes redeemed, plus accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption
date.

2015 Private Notes

On 31 May 2016, the Company redeemed an aggregate
principal amount of US$100,000,000 of 2015 Private Notes,
representing 100% of principal amount of US$100,000,000, at
a redemption price equal to 102.95% of the principal amount
thereof together with all accrued and unpaid interest.

37. BRRERES: (&)
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37. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2015 Notes

On 26 May 2015, the Company issued senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$250,000,000 (the “2015
Notes"”). 2015 Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX"). The 2015 Notes are:

carry interest at rate of 10.875% per annum and interest
is payable semi-annually on 26 May and 26 November of
each year, commencing from 26 November 2015 and will
mature on 26 May 2018, unless redeemed earlier;

senior in right of payment to any future obligations of the
Company expressly subordinated in right of payment to
the 2015 Notes;

rank and will rank at least pari passu in right of payment
with all other unsecured, unsubordinated indebtedness
of the Company (subject to any priority rights of such
subordinated indebtedness pursuant to applicable law);

guaranteed by subsidiaries of the Company other than
those organised under the laws of the PRC (“Guarantors”)
the on a senior basis, subject to certain limitations; and

effectively subordinated to all existing and future
obligations of subsidiaries of the Company other than
Guarantors.

At any time and from time to time prior to 26 May 2018, the

Company may redeem up to 35% of the 2015 Notes, at a

redemption price of 110.875% of their principal amount, plus

accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the

redemption date.
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37. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2015 Notes (continued)

At any time prior to 26 May 2018, the Company may at its
option to redeem the 2015 Notes, in whole but not in part, at
a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2015 Notes plus the applicable premium as defined in the
offering memorandum of the Company dated 18 May 2015
(“Applicable Premium”) as of, and accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, to (but not including) the redemption date.

“Applicable Premium” is the greater of (i) 1% of the principal
amount of the 2015 Notes and (ii) the excess of (A) the present
value at such redemption date of the redemption price of
the 2015 Notes on 26 May 2018, plus all required remaining
scheduled interest payments due on the 2015 Notes through
May 26, 2018 (but excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the
redemption date), computed using a discount rate equal to the
comparable treasury rate plus 100 basis points, over (B) the
principal amount of the 2015 Notes on the redemption date.

2015 Listed Corporate Bonds

On 31 July 2015, Aoyuan Group issued domestic corporate
bonds in an aggregate principal of RMB2,400,000,000 (the
“2015 Listed Corporate Bonds”). The issue price was 100.00%
of the principal amount of 2015 Listed Corporate Bonds.

2015 Listed Corporate Bonds are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (the “SSE"), which are unsecured, carry interest at
rate of 5.8% per annum and interest is payable annually on 30
July 2015 in arrears. 2015 Listed Corporate Bonds will mature on
29 July 2018.

37.
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37. BRRERES: (&)

37. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2015 Private Corporate Bonds

On 23 October 2015, Aoyuan Group issued domestic corporate
bonds of RMB1,500,000,000 with a term of three years (the
2015 Private Corporate Bonds"). 2015 Private Corporate Bonds
are guaranteed by the Company, carry interest at rate of 7.8%
per annum and interest is payable annually, commencing 21
October 2015. The 2015 Private Corporate Bonds will mature on
20 October 2018 unless the bonds holders sell back the bonds
to Aoyuan Group earlier as below mentioned.

Aoyuan Group is entitled to adjust upwards to the interest rate
on 20 September 2017, 20 days of trading prior to the second
interest repayment date. Upon the adjustment, bonds holders
may at their options (“Put options”) to sell back 2015 Private
Corporate Bonds to Aoyuan Group in whole or in part at face
value of their principal amount within three days of trading from
20 September 2017

2016 Private Corporate Bonds

On 4 February 2016 and 14 October 2016, Aoyuan Group
issued domestic corporate bonds of RMB500,000,000 and
RMB1,500,000,000 with a term of four years, respectively.
2016 Private Corporate Bonds are guaranteed by the Company,
carrying interest at rate of 79% and 5.88% per annum and
interest is payable annually, commencing 4 February 2017 and
14 October 2017 respectively.

Corporate Bonds will mature on 3 February 2020 and
13 October 2019 unless the bonds holders sell back the bonds
to Aoyuan Group earlier.

Aoyuan Group is entitled to adjust upwards to the interest
rate on 17 January 2018 and 10 September 2018, 20 days of
trading prior to the second interest repayment date. Upon the
adjustment, bonds holders may at their options (“Put options”)
to sell back 2016 Private Corporate Bonds to Aoyuan Group in
whole or in part at face value of their principal amount within
three days of trading from 17 January 2018 and 10 September
2018, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

37. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2016 Notes

On 25 April 2016, the Company issued senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$250,000,000. 2016 Notes are
listed on the SGX. The 2016 Notes are:

(@) secured, carry interest at rate of 6.525% per annum
and interest is payable semi-annually on 25 April and 25
October of each year, commencing 25 October 2016 and
will mature on 25 April 2019, unless redeemed earlier;

(b)  senior in right of payment to any future obligations of the
Company expressly subordinated in right of payment to
the 2016 Notes;

(c) rank and will rank at least pari passu in right of payment
with all other unsecured, unsubordinated indebtedness
of the Company (subject to any priority rights of such
subordinated indebtedness pursuant to applicable law);

(d) guaranteed by subsidiaries of the Company other than
those organised under the laws of the PRC (“Guarantors”)
the on a senior basis, subject to certain limitations; and

(e) effectively subordinated to all existing and future
obligations of subsidiaries of the Company other than
Guarantors.

At any time and from time to time prior to 25 April 2019, the
Company may redeem up to 35% of the 2016 Notes, at a
redemption price of 106.525% of their principal amount, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the
redemption date.

37.
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37. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2016 Notes (continued)

At any time prior to 25 April 2019, the Company may at its
option redeem the 2016 Notes, in whole but not in part, at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2016 Notes plus the applicable premium as defined in the
offering memorandum of the Company dated 18 April 2016
("Applicable Premium”) as of, and accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, to (but not including) the redemption date.

“Applicable Premium” is the greater of (i) 1% of the principal
amount of the 2016 Notes and (ii) the excess of (A) the present
value at such redemption date of the redemption price of
the 2016 Notes on 25 April 2019, plus all required remaining
scheduled interest payments due on such 2016 Note through
25 April 2019 (but excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the
redemption date), computed using a discount rate equal to the
comparable treasury rate plus 100 basis points, over (B) the

principal amount of the 2016 Notes on the redemption date.

The 2014 Notes, 2015 Notes, 2015 Private Corporate Bonds,
2016 Private Corporate Bonds and 2016 Notes are all contained
a liability component and the early redemption options or put
options:

(@) Liability component represents the present value of the
contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate at that
time applicable to instruments of comparable credit status
and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the
same terms, but without the embedded derivatives.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

37. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2016 Notes (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

37. BAFEBRES ()
% — < R ()

—=" /\

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying

an effective interest rate of approximately 11.93%,
11.96%, 6.23%, 8.10%, 7.87%, 6.06% and 7.26% per
annum to the liability component respectively since the
2014 Notes, 2015 Notes, 2015 Listed Corporate Bonds,
2015 Private Corporate Bonds, 2016 Private Corporate

Bonds and 2016 Notes were issued.

FAFBNABEL,»E=Z—T
FEE T —AHFEE =F
—RAFLEMARES —T—R1F
AREARES —T—AFLE
DNRMEHF KR T NEZEHTU
R BIIR B R F A E411.93%
11.96% - 6.23% > 8.10% -
7.87% - 6.06% K. 7.26% 515 o

2016 2015
—E-REF —E—RF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREETIT

Analysed for reporting purpose as:  Ft#RE B IO
Current liabilities mEEE 1,508,498 =
Non-current liabilities EmBAE 10,079,171 8,924,378
11,587,669 8,924,378

The movement of the liability component in above Notes

HEERAREFBERDHF

and Corporate Bonds during the year is set out below: NEEHINT
2016 2015
—EB-RF —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BEEEE 8,924,378 3,256,986
Proceeds received B FTSRIE 3,575,488 5,929,955
Exchange loss bE 5 &5 18 318,948 278,601
Interest expenses FBERXZ 942,256 753,432
Interest paid to notes holder ENEEFEAFE (757,438) (526,246)
Redemptions of 2012 Notes, 2013 BRI —_ZT——FZEjE - —T—=4F
Notes and 2015 Private Notes EZEEN_T-HFELEERE (1,415,963) (768,350)
Carrying amount as at 31 December A+ H=+—HKMAE 11,587,669 8,924,378
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

37. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

(b)  Early redemption options are regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host contract. The
executive directors consider that the fair value of the
above early redemption options is insignificant at initial
recognition date, 31 December 2015 and 31 December
2016.

(c)  Put options held by the bond holders are regarded as
an embedded derivative closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract, therefore,
the written put options are not separated from liability
component.

The fair value of above Notes and Corporate Bonds as at 31
December are set out below:

37. BRREBRES (&)

(b)) REBLRIESRAVIEEREEOER
PBERTRALTETLR - YIITES
TR LR B B (Bl R R W 4R TR
UWERZZFE—RAF+=_A=+—H
N—E—XRE+-_A=+—HHA
FETEK o

) EFFAEAMKANELRERR
HEEFROMEERLRREEY]
BAEROBRAITETR - Atk - EEE
BHHEL RERERD D o

FPRAZEBERRAREFNT-A=+—H
ZAHEFIRET ¢

2016 2015
—EB—REF —ET—0F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AREET T

2012 Notes and 2013 Notes —ECHEERR T
2014 Notes —E-MFEEE

2015 Private Notes T -RFLEFEER
2015 Notes —E-hEFER

2015 Listed Corporate Bonds —E-RF EMARES
2015 Private Corporate Bonds T -RFLEARES
2016 Private Corporate Bonds — T RNERERRES
2016 Notes —ERFERE
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2,205,966 2,062,530

- 657867

1,868,654 1,698,482

2,431,200 2,464,800

1,549,610 1,611,670

2,027,900 -

1,751,593 =

11,834,923 9,175,190




37. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

38.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

37.

Fair value of 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes, 2014 Notes, 2015 Notes,
2015 Listed Corporate Bonds and 2016 Notes are calculated by
using the quoted price based on relevant stock exchanges at

the end of the reporting period (or the nearest day of trading).

Fair value of 2015 Private Notes, 2015 Private Corporate Bonds

and 2016 Private Corporate Bonds are determined by reference

to valuations carried out by Duff & Phelps (H.K.) Holdings

Limited, an qualified external valuer. The corresponding fair

value are calculated by using Binomial model. The variables and

assumptions used in computing the fair value are based on the

executive director's best estimate.

BERERES (&)

—ECHFERE 2 —=FFEK =
Z—NEER —E-—RFERK - =%
—hF FMARBEFR T —RFEE
BAFEDRRNRERR(EHFERS
B)ERERESFXZANRETE -
T -hFEREER T —AFLE
RNAMBEFR T —AFALERRESFD
N ELRZESERINBEERD Duff &
Phelps (H.K.) Holdings Limited #7172 1%
BET - HEAFERA-ZBAEXG
B -sEATFERFEANEEREBR

RIBRTE S 2 &EMET -

Share Capital of the Company 38. RATRAK
Number of shares Amount
enE ! ot
HK$'000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEO0.01 BT @R
Authorised: VERE
At 1 January 2015, 31 December R=ZZ—H%—HA—H8"
2015 and 31 December 2016 g T e el =3
—E-R"E+ZA=+—H 100,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
At 1 January 2015 and 31 December 2015 RZZE—AF—A—HEK
—E-RF+=-A=+—H 2,783,845,354 27838
Shares repurchased and cancelled [EEARYER ) (112,274,000) (1,123)
At 31 December 2016 RZZE—A~"E+=ZA=+—H 2,671,571,354 26,715
2016 2015
—E-XE —T—hF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETIT
Shown in the consolidated RERE TEHRKR 25
financial statements as 25,292 26,355
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

38. Share Capital of the Company (continued) 38.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, pursuant to the
general mandate given to the executive directors of the
Company, the Company repurchased its own shares through
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as follows:

No. of ordinary

RATRA (%)

RBE_FT—R"Ft_-_A=1+—BL#HF
B RERTFTARARTESTN—KE
B AREEBBEBARIMBRA
AIBEATE S

i

shares of Price per share Aggregate
HK$0.01 each of B(ES consideration
Month of repurchase the Company Highest Lowest paid
KRR EIREE
fEl A fh 0.01 BT ERmARE R &= &®E BNERE
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BIT BT FBT
For the year ended HE-ZT—XF+=H
31 December 2016 =t+—HIEE
— May 2016 ——F—XFHA 48,475,000 1.70 1.54 79,362
—June 2016 ——ZT—REFERHA 34,483,000 1.70 1.50 56,086
—August 2016 ——F—XFN\A 8,486,000 1.79 1.71 14,852
— September 2016 ——T—RFNA 8,305,000 1.86 1.75 15,100
— October 2016 ——T—RFt+AH 10,523,000 1.87 1.76 19,126
— November 2016 —ZZE—RE+—A 2,002,000 1.86 1.82 3,696
188,222

112,274,000

During the year ended 31 December 2016, a total of 112,274,000
shares were repurchased and cancelled. Nominal value of
HK$1,123,000 (2015: nil) (equivalent to RMB1,063,000 (2015:
nil)) of the shares cancelled was credited to capital redemption
reserve, and the premium paid and the related costs incurred
for the repurchase of HK$187099,000 (2015: nil) (equivalent
to RMB159,013,000 (2015: nil)) was charged against share
premium of the Company.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.
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39. Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings disclosed in note 34, loans
from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries in note 36,
senior notes and bonds disclosed in note 37 net of cash and
cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share
capital, reserves and retained profits.

The management of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the management of the
Company assess budgets of major property projects taking into
account of the provision of fundings. Based on the operating
budgets, the executive directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital
and balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-back as well as the
issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

39.

EXERER
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+ - H=+—HIFFZ

40. Financial Instruments

(a)

(b)

252

40. £FT R

Categories of financial instruments (a) E@MITEER
2016 2015
—E—RF —E—0F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Financial assets EREE
Loans and receivables (including B R GRTE
cash and cash equivalents) (BREReEEREEED) 14,131,183 12,265,434
Available-forsale investments AIEHERE 9,707 75,000
Derivative financial instruments TESMTA 142,402 -
Financial liabilities SHas
Amortised cost BEEHA R 26,392,261 23,007.065
Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEREEEERBER

policies

The Group's major financial instruments include
AFS investments, deposits paid for acquisitions of
subsidiaries, derivative financial instruments, trade and
other receivables, amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, related parties and joint
ventures, restricted bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, amounts due to non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and joint ventures,
bank and other borrowings, senior notes and bonds and
loans from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below.

The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016

40. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
related primarily to its variable-rate bank borrowings,
restricted bank deposits and bank balances.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate
risk related primarily to fixed-rate bank and other
borrowings, interest bearing portion of amounts
due from joint ventures, loans from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and senior notes and
bonds. The Group currently does not enter any
interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to fair
value interest rate risk. However, the management
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk for its variable-rate bank borrowings at the end
of the reporting period. The restricted bank deposits
and bank balances are not included in the sensitivity
analysis as the management of the Group considers
that the interest rate fluctuation is minimal. The
analysis is prepared assuming the variable-rate bank
borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
(2015: 50) basis points increase or decrease is used
when reporting cash flow interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management'’s assessment of the possible change
in interest rate.

BE-F—AF+=A=+—AIFE

40. €RIT R (&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

(%)
S ER
) FIEER

AEERSREMNXERE
RHEHFBRITER - XR

BIRITERMIRTTREHAR

AEENAFEMERERE
ZHEFESRITREMER
el A L DERALZF BB
2~ R AN B QR FEERAR
RNERMEBEEERENES
B AN&EB BRI ER] L
X)) 2R 3= B 0 3% B ) R

Rk A BEERERES
R B 5P E AR X
Bt o

HRE T

A THREDTHERES
HIRFERITERZRER
MERBRETE - ZRHIRT
FRMRITHEBERNANEE
EIEER RN R E R/

BABRERBEEDN - %
DI TIBRBRRHRE R KT R
RITRE R AREE LR EE
FERAEEMBRER - ME
ZEEABAMERE SR
M EEBREAEAL0(-F
—hF : 50) EEHIERE -
REEBHMENELE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

AR

St B A Mt

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z= — =&

(#4)

—NFTZHA=1—HIFFE

40. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rates had been 50 (2015: 50) basis points
higher/lower with all other variables were held
constant and excluding the effect of capitalisation
of interest, the Group's post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2016 would decrease/increase
by RMB14,972,000 (2015: decrease/increase by
RMB13,914,000).

Foreign currency risk

The Group's transactions were mainly conducted
in RMB, the functional currency of the Company
and its subsidiaries, and its major receivables and
payables are denominated in RMB. The Group is
subject to foreign exchange rate risk arising from
the assets and liabilities which are denominated in
currency other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entity. The majority of the Group’s
foreign currency transactions and balances are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, and United
States dollars. During the year ended 31 December
2016, the Group has entered into certain foreign
currency forward contracts to keep the net
exposure of currency risk to an appropriate level.
The management closely monitors foreign currency
exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

40. Financial Instruments (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

40. €RIT R (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BEEBREEEEREEK

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group's foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities include
bank and other borrowings, senior notes and bank
balances at the end of respective reporting period

(%)

5 B ()

(i)  SMNERSR (&)
AEEREREBRAINE
JIEMEBEERER AR

(BRERITREMBR - BE
SENIRITRERR) MREEN

and the carrying amounts are as follows: T
2016 2015
—E—RE —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR AREETTT

Assets
Hong Kong dollars
United States dollars

Liabilities
United States dollars

aE
BT
e

af&
e

42,333 126,418
41,260 4,982
6,753,086 6,221,279
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

40. Financial Instruments (continued) 40. £RT B (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BERMREEEERERK
policies (continued) (&)
Market risk (continued) TR (4F)
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued) (i) SlERE (&)
Sensitivity analysis BT
The following table details the Group's sensitivity TREFLANEBRHARER
to a 5% (2015: 5%) increase and decrease in the FERIINEE FE = N P& 5%
RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. The (ZE—HF :5%) BB
sensitivity rates used represents management's B FIRRAZBRETIRE
assessment of the reasonably possible change in EHEEHERNSEBEE
foreign exchange rates. A positive number below FFTERI RS o T3 ESR
indicates an increase in post-tax profit for the year MAFERFEEBEINEAR
where RMB strengthens 5% (2015: 5%) against the W T AR B AN S R 5%
relevant currency. For a 5% (2015: 5%) weakening of (ZE—HF :5%)FIENH
RMB against the relevant currency, there would be HEH o AR HEBEINED
an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit ERETELN( T —HF :
and the balances below would be negative. 5%) + Bl ZK £ [Z Bk # 1& i 7l
BRI ERERRNTE
MAT &R RBME -
2016 2015
—EB-AE —T—IfF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Hong Kong Dollars BT
Profit for the year FE R (2,117) (6,321)
United States dollars E
Profit for the year F 2 ) 335,591 310,815
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

Aok T B 285 e B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NF+_-A=+—HIFFZ

40. Financial Instruments (continued) 40. €RIT R (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) W BEAMEEBEEZEREE
policies (continued) (%)
Market risk (continued) TR (4F)

(iii) ~ Other price risk

The Group was exposed to other price risk arising
from the outstanding foreign currency forward
contracts with predetermined maturity date. The fair
value of these foreign currency forward contracts
was calculated using the forward pricing model
detailed in note 30.

However, the management considers that the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
inherent market risk as the pricing model used in
the fair value valuation of these contracts which
involves multiple variables are interdependent and
the Company's exposure to fluctuation of the fair
value is minimal.

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2016, other than those financial assets
whose carrying amounts best represent the maximum
exposure to credit risk, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties and financial guarantees provided by the
Group is arising from the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantees provided by the Group as
disclosed in note 43.

The concentration of credit risk in respect of trade
receivables is minimal as no customers represent more
than 5% of the total trade receivables as at 31 December
2016 and 2015.

(i) EMEERE R
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‘ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

258

AR

S B e M ek (A8)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

40. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk of debts, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the executive
directors of the Company consider that the Group's credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies or state-owned
banks in the PRC.

The Group also exposes to concentration of credit risk in
respect of amounts due from non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries, related parties and joint ventures at the
amount of RMB364,823,000 (2015:RMB26,534,000),
RMB98,206,000 (2015: RMB221,992,000) and
RMB538,359,000 (2015: RMB257309,000), respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

40. Financial Instruments (continued) 40. €RIT R (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

policies (continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and the flexibility through the use
of borrowings. The executive directors of the Company
closely monitor the liquidity position and its compliance
with lending covenants and expect to have adequate
sources of funding to finance the Group’s property
projects and operations.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities and foreign currency forward contracts. For
non-derivative financial liabilities, the tables have been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank and
other borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights.
The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The
tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

For derivative instruments settle on a net basis,
undiscounted net (inflows) and outflows are presented.
Whereas they require gross settlement, undiscounted
gross (inflows) and outflows on these derivatives are
shown in the tables. For foreign currency forward
contracts with predetermined exercisable period, the
tables have been drawn up based on the assumption that
the Group will exercise such contracts on the maturity of
the exercisable period.
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Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016

m = E— N = A= —HIFFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

40. Financial Instruments (continued) 40. €RIT R (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BERKREEEEREEK
policies (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) TEESEE (F)
Liquidity tables BB %
On demand
Weighted ~ onless Total  Total
average  than60 61180  181-365 12 25 Over5 undiscounted ~ camying
interest rate days days days years years years  cashflow  amount
g #EXE AMAEE it
PHE  RGORM G1Z180F MESR -ERE MERE EENE  EERE  BEE
RVBOOO RVBO00 RMBO0D RMB000 RMB000 RMB0O0  RMBUOO0 RMBY0O
AEETT ARETn ABETR ARMTn ARMTR ARMTr ARETR ARETR
2016 “E-RE
Trade and other payebles BAREMEAT - 2284973 1958548 1632123 456995 195,855 - 6528494 6528493
Amounts due to oint ventures EfiagtssE - 13819 - - - - - 12819 132819
Amounts due to non-controling ERREARERER
shareholders of subsidiaries B - 163,098 - - - - - 163,098 163,008
Bank and other borrowings WREmE 637% 1084286 841071 1407885 262745 1338157 10704 7306848 6792762
Loans fiom non-<ontroling REWEL
shareholders of subsidiaries FERRRAER 1O05% 21087 43753 140440 279637 1976 920198 1553881 1,187400
Senior notes and bonds BiZERES 803% 15754 149950 212310 4841958 6,156,999 - 131841 11587669
Financil quarantees ABER 21,584,023 - - - - - 21504023 -
25428600 2993322 5292758 8202335 7638987 931,902  50,687904 26,392,261
Derivative financial instrument - gross fESHIE-HRLE
settlement
Foreign exchange forward contract NEEBA
- inflows -RA - (696400) - - - - - (696400) (696400)
- outflows il - 667780 - - - - - 667780 667780
(28,620) - - - - - (860) (286)
Derivative financialinstrument - net fTEERIE-FHEE
settlement
Foreign exchange forward contract NEREAN - (13782 - - - - - (Mm% (m3782)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AR A B AR A RE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

40. Financial Instruments (continued) 40. €RIT R (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) W EEAMEEBEZEREE
policies (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) TEEZEE (F)
Liquidity tables (continued) B EeZx (B)
On demand
Weighted ~~ onless Totl  Totd

average  than60 6180 181-365 12
Interest rate days days days years years years  cashflow  amount
M EEN aAER A
TN RG0BA GIZIR0R B1ZBA  -FmE WERE RENE  ReRE  EAER
RVB00O  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMBI000 RMBI000

NEETT ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARMTT ARETR ARETR ARETR

o

5 Overd undiscounted — carrying

2015 51

Trade and other payebles BAREMEAT - 1813481 18BA413 1205344 36269 155441 - 5181375 5181375
Amounts cue to ot ventures EfiagtssE - 11307 - - - - - 11887 11387
Amounts due tonon-controling EfRELREERER

shareholders of subsidiaries B - 104728 - - - - - 10478 104728
Bank and other borowings BRI T%  B181 Q171380 1093296 4212630 21B28 1B 04193 7303207
Senior notes and bonds BrRBRER 03% 12979 2966% 404791 3060419 7216443 - 1107072 8924378
Other payable (norveurert) EERUEGERE) - - - - 300000 - - 300000 300000
Financil quarantees ABER - 9239591 - - - - - 923951 -

1290062 4022428 2793431 793545 9564162 32138 37297956 23,007065
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40. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “on demand or less than 60 days”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
December 2016, the aggregate undiscounted principal
amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to RMB
RMB811,251,000 (2015: RMB331,901,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the management of
the Company does not believe that it is probable that the
banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The management of the Company
believes that such bank loans will be repaid ranging
from 1 to 3 years after the reporting date in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal and
interest cash outflows will amount to RMB868,518,000
(2015: RMB339,917,000).

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held
by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+ - H=+—HIFFZ

40. €RIT R (&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

(%)
FBEZES (F)

M REREERGERZRITER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

40. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(c)

policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ
to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end
of the reporting period.

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the
valuation(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
are categorised (level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

40. €RIT R (&)

(b)

(c)

MEERREEREREREKE
(%)
FBEZES (F)

i/ F B F R RN RS BIRETE
ZRIZEAEE AR - Bl BB IE
TEESRMABENIBNEXTATE

TRTENQFETE

AEEROEHREEREBRBER
EMEPRIZ R FEFTE - TRIE
HzSeREERSBRBENAT
BAEE (LERERNGEER
WARE) BRFESHR (A FERT
ERBATVEFERBARBENAE
ZRESSRZEEN(FE—2=
)2 EHL o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

40. Financial Instruments (continued) 40. R T A (&)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial (c)
instruments (continued)

TR TANQVEE (&)

Fair value as at

Financial assets 31 December Fair value  Valuation techniques

TREE N+=—A=+—BKH2RAFE hierarchy and key inputs
2016 2015 MERTT R
“E-RFE —T—RF QAHEFR FTEBRARE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTRT ARETET
Foreign currency forward Assets: Assets: Level 2 Forward pricing model

contracts classified as 142,402 - The valuation is estimated based
derivative financial instruments BE - BE: F-_H on the difference between the
in the consolidated statement 142,402 - predetermined forward rate and

of financial position
REMBRRARTIER
THEESRITANINERRGH
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the market forward rate at the
expiring date of the contracts at
the valuation date. It also take
into account of the time from
valuation date to the contract
expiring date and the RMB risk
free interest rate.
RHEERR
EREE B SRERNEERD
B R ER S 402 HA B By 5 E AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) l
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

40. Financial Instruments (continued) 40. €RIT R (&)

TR TANQVEE (&)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial (c)

instruments (continued)

Except for the senior notes and bonds with fair value
disclosed in note 37 and the derivative financial instruments
of RMB142,402,000 (2015: nil), the management of
the Group consider that the carrying amounts of the
other financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting
period.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than derivative financial instruments and senior
notes and bonds) of the Group is determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis.

41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries

(@) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through

acquisitions of subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2016

()  On 27 April 2016, the Group acquired 100%
equity interest in RIITRELRIEERBR A
Al Shenzhen Lanwan Hongsheng Investments
Co., Ltd. ("Hongsheng Investments”) which
holds 70% equity interest in Lanwan Property
with cash consideration of RMB2,286,900,000.
Lanwan Property is principally engaged in property
development which holds two parcels of land
situated in Shenzhen, the PRC.

BRELEZBRESF (R TFERE
RIDENMEEMITEARK
142,402,0007C( — & — A 4 : )
N REBERERA  RikEH
R IREBHK ARG E M IEHRESP
FIEEMEMESMEERSRA RGN
FREESEEAFERS -

AEBESREENSREE(RIT
2RI ANELEZERESRIN)
M RFEREEREZMNNTEER
X MBREREMROITERE

41. REHEBAF
(a) EBWEHB AR MWEE

ERAE

BZ—_E—ANFf+-A=+—Hi
GEEF

i) RZE—AR"FmMA=++t
H' AEBRUBREREAR
#2,286,900,000 7T Y BE &
IR ELRITE R R A A
([BABXIRE |) 2 BPRR4E + 3L
BRIREFEREBET0% KR
B REEXTENEYME
FZ - ERBERIFEMIE
i3 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(@) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through
acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

On 8 June 2016, the Group acquired 100%
equity interest in KEBEFMEMZEFRA
A Chengdu Qida Property Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Chengdu Qida"”) which holds 70% equity
interest in Yihua Property with cash consideration
of RMB200,000,000. Yihua Property is principally
engaged in property development which holds four
parcels of land situated in Chengdu, the PRC.

On 6 September 2016, the Group acquired 100%
equity interest in BT BEZAERAE Zhuhai
Hanhui Consulting Co., Ltd. (“Zhuhai Hanhui"),
which holds 100% equity interest in # [T EF S
EiERE AR AR Zhongshan Hualigao Property
Investments Co., Ltd. (“Zhongshan Hualigao”), with
cash consideration of RMB170,058,000. Zhongshan
Hualigao is principally engaged in property
development which holds a parcel of land situated in
Zhongshan, the PRC.

On 8 September 2016, the Group acquired 100%
equity interest in BMMREFHERZERA A
Huizhou Taihong Property Development Co., Ltd.
("Huizhou Taihong”), BM T REFHERBEER A
&) Huizhou Taihua Property Development Co., Ltd.
(“Huizhou Taihua”) and BM M RIHFEHERZER
R 2 7] Huizhou Tairui Property Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Huizhou Tairui”), respectively, each of which
is principally engaged in property development and
holds a parcel of land situated in Huizhou, the PRC,
with total cash consideration of RMB151,360,000.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

41. WEEKE AR (&)

(a) ZBWEHRBARMKEE
EREE (&)

BE_F-—AF+-A=1—Ai1
FE (&)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

RZZE—R"E~XANB:
REEBUNREREARK
200,000,000 7T 4 & Ak &P 75 2
FEiERE AR A A ([ AE
FEiE]) 2 EPRRRE - BRANE &
REEFESET0%KE - B
EEXTENEMERE
TEHP B #D R IO R IR o

R=ZZT—A~"FNLANE"
AEBUREREARE
170,058,000 7T U f& Zk /& T
BEZAER AR ([ZREH
iE ) 2 EARIE - BRERMESRS
BRUMENSFEHMERE
BRAR(HRLENSD 2
Rzt PILER S EZK
EYERE - PR ILFE
B —lEH

RZZT—XR"FENLANE ' &K
SENRBESREARE
151,360,000 7T 7 5!/ 4 i =5
MEAEHMEREZEBRAA
(TEMZER]D - BMTRE
Pt 2 A 3 A PR & m) ([ &N
RE|)RBENTREEHE
REERAR(BMER])
2 EARE - ZEFE A AHRK
EYMEREED  S8EF
BISE N TR — @i o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(@) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through
acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

On 24 October 2016, the Group acquired 100%
equity interest in BMNTHREHEREBR AR
Guangzhou Xiongtai Property Development Co., Ltd.
("Guangzhou Xiongtai”) with cash consideration of
RMB650,000,000. Guangzhou Xiongtai is principally
engaged in property development which holds
a parcel of land situated in Zengcheng District,
Guangzhou, the PRC.

On 16 December 2016, the Group acquired 100%
equity interest in HIEREZEFR 25 Yangzhou
Huiyin Property Co., Ltd. (“Yangzhou Huiyin"),
with cash consideration of RMB50,000,000.
Yangzhou Huiyin is principally engaged in property
development which holds a parcel of land situated in
Yangzhou, the PRC.

On 17 October 2016, the Group acquired a licence
for parallel-import of vehicles through acquisition
of 100% equity interest in EMGZEERR A A
Guangzhou Yuanxi Commercial Company Limited
("Yuanxi Commercial”) with cash consideration
of RMB990,000. Yuanxi Commercial is principally
engaged in sales of parallel-import vehicles.

41. WEEKE AR (&)

(a) ZBWEHRBARMKEE
EREE (&)

BE_F-—AF+-A=1—Ai1
FE (&)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

RZE—AF+A=Z+@
H X"&BUBREeREAR
# 650,000,000 7T YW B8 & N
MEREHMERZEBRA A
(TEMHEZR ) 82 3P A% #E -
BMEREEREWER
B 7E R B E N TR Ok [
B —IEHR o

RZE—A"F+=ZA+A
B AEBUBRSREAR
# 50,000,000 7T 4 BE £ M
EIREXBR AR (HIMNE
R )89 100% ARHE o )1 E R
FEREWERE  EFEH
BB — i

R—_Z—RNEFE+A+tR-
AEEEBUREREAR
¥ 990,000 ST B E M 5 =
EERAR(GLEEEHN
EEBRRIEMER FIT# DR
BHER  BLERBEETERSE
SHEFITHEORE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Bt

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %= — =&

S 5 R ek (4)

—NFTZH=1—HIFFE

41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued) 41. WEEKEB AR (&)
(@) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through (a) ZBRBWEBHBE AT MUWEBE
acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued) EREE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued) HzEz— NE+=ZH=1+—HI
ﬂfg(fg)
These transactions were accounted for as purchases of ZERGIMEEEEEERBEA
assets and liabilities. Details are summarised below: BR o FEIGMEaan R ¢
RMB’'000
AR%ET T
Consideration transferred: FrégsE (e :
Cash e 3,291,308
Consideration payable due within AR —FRNIZNHRE
one year included in trade and ﬁ/\%ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁm
other payables (note 32) (FffsE32) 218,000
3,509,308

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at dates of

acquisitions are as follows:

RUE B R TR E EE R B AN
T

RMB’000

AR¥ETR

Property, plant and equipment ) ER N 12,290
Investment properties REWE 169,497
Intangible assets BV EE 990
Deferred tax assets EREBIEEE 27477
Properties under development for sale  RI{EEHEEEYE 8,368,606
Trade and other receivables B 5 K HAth FE WK 90,495
Tax recoverable A EHE 19,241
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RIS 99,490
Trade and other payables 2 5 REAMERTR (1,109,908)
Deposits received for sale of properties L iHEMED W ZEE (688,770)
Loan from a non-controlling shareholder K B — & IEIERA RN E R (2,485,300)
4,504,108

Less: Non-controlling interests IR (994,800)
Net assets acquired FrikiE &= FE 3,509,308
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued) 41. BB AT (&)

(@) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through
acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

The trade and other receivables acquired with a fair value
of RMB90,495,000 approximate its gross contractual
amount.

Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
of the above acquisitions:

(a) ZBWEHRBARMKEE

EREE (&)

BE_F-—AF+-A=1—Ai1
FE (&)

Fr LB A B A A R £ 90,495,000
TCHE 5 R E bR B GRELE & 448
REARSE o

B LN EERNRE RREE
BYNR ML FE

RMB’'000
AR®T T

Bank balances and cash of the FrU BT /B A Rl ERTT 4584
subsidiaries acquired MIR& 99,490
Cash consideration paid BEfRERE (3,291,308)
(3,191,818)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group acquired 100% equity interest in A48 8452
S TEAMR A A Jiaoling Construction Engineering
Company Limited (“Jiaoling Construction”)
with consideration of RMB6,650,000. Jiaoling
Construction obtains several construction
qualifications and licences in the PRC, which allows
it to carry out construction engineering project
works in the PRC.

BZ - FHFf+-FA=+—Hi
FE

i) REBEE-_Z—RHEt+_-A8
=+—HLEFE  AEEK
BEERERTEAGRAR

REAB AR 6,650,0007T °
EEEEnTRRGZERE
EEHEREE - ATER AR
HREETEEEBT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(@) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through
acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group acquired 55% equity interest in & P4 %
MEHERZE AR AT Guangxi Hanlin Property
Development Company Limited (“Guangxi Hanlin"),
which holds 100% equity interest of Anhui Qinlian,
B EEERZE AR AR Anhui Hande Property
Development Company Limited (“Anhui Hande”), %
s EERE AR 24 AR A 7 Anhui Hanhua Property
Development Company Limited (“Anhui Hanhua")
and ZRHEFEMEREZEER AR Anhui Qinjian
Property Development Company Limited (“Anhui
Qinjian”), respectively, from an independent third
party with cash consideration of RMB110,000,000.
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of
RMB536,850,000 was derecognised and credited
to paid-in capital of Guangxi Hanlin as capital
contribution from the non-controlling shareholder.
The aforesaid subsidiaries are principally engaged in
property development which hold properties under
development in the PRC.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

41. WEEKE AR (&)

(a) ZBWEHRBARMKEE
EREE (&)

BE_ZT—HF+-FA=1+—HI
EE(E)

(ii)

REBEEZE_FE—ARF+=A
=+—BRLEFE AEEMR
— BB = HREERS
MEMEREAR AR ([E
AEMN] DRBBERHRE
it ZEBEEEREEA
BRAR(TZ®EBE]D %
BWHEFMERZTER QA
(T=ZBBE]) RZBEER
WEMRBEBRAR(ZHE
i ]) B1100% A% £ ) #955%
ki BeREAARK
110,000,000 7T ° E & IEFER
FEW — 2 IEERAR R FRIBA
R#536,850,0007C * I {EA
R R EE T AERE S
MEBARRAE - Lkt @A
RIEBREMERE  £F
BEREERPYE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(@) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through
acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

(iif)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group acquired 90% equity interest in TR/EH &
EEMEMIZBMR A A Zhuhai Puhua Property
Development Company Limited (“Zhuhai Puhua")
which holds 100% equity interest in ZKEHHEE
BEHXABMAF) Zhuhai Meixi Property Company
Limited (“Meixi Property”) with cash consideration
of RMB136,000,000. Meixi Property is principally
engaged in property development which holds a
parcel of land situated in Zhuhai, the PRC.

These transactions were accounted for as purchases
of assets and liabilities. Details are summarised
below:

BE-F—AF+=A=+—AIFE

41. WEEKE AR (&)

(a) ZBWEHRBARMKEE
EREE (&)

BE_ZT—HF+-FA=1+—HI
EE(E)

(iif)

REBEEZE_FE—ARF+=A
=+—HLEFE AEEK
BRKEMEEEHERES
RAR([HREEE] #H6%
BTIEREEBR AR ([1E
EEZE]) B100% B4 ) B
90% Ik - HEaREA/AR
# 136,000,000 7T © HHRE ¥
TEREMELRR  FH—
tBALA R BER SR i o

RZERXGNERBAEER
BESIRR - ARFIEH A

2

RMB'000
ARETTT

Consideration transferred: BEE 7 RE :
Cash B 252,650
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‘ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued) 41. WEEMIEB A=) (&)
(@) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through (a) ZBRBWEBHBE AT MUWEBE
acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued) EREE(HE)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued) BEr—_E—FFEF+_H=+—HI

FE (&)

(i) (continued) (i) (4&)

RULEE B AT IR & & P

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at dates of

acquisitions are as follows: WREEWNT :
RMB'000
ARETTT
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - = &% 1,954
Investment properties B 571,788
Deferred tax assets RIETRIE & B 26,643
Properties for sale A S 3,887.775
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H At EUGK 148,004
Tax recoverable Al EF % 42,605
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 487133
Trade and other payables E 5 R EMERR (2,349,672)
Deposits received for sale HEWMXEWET 2
of properties (1,482,889)
Amounts due to non-controlling &1~ FFH% A% A% B 78
shareholders (558,980)
Bank and other borrowings SRIT M E MBS (416,600)
357761
Less: Non-controlling interests & : FEFERRAERS (105,111)
Net assets acquired BUEFEE 252,650
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41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

41. WEEKE AR (&)

(@) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through (a) ZBRBWEBHBE AT MUWEBE
acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued) EREE(HE)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued) BEr—_E—FFEF+_H=+—HI
EE(HF)
(i) (continued) (i) (&)
Net cash inflow of cash and cash equivalents in R ENRERIBEERE
respect of the above acquisitions: YImAFEE ¢
RMB'000
AREBTT
Bank balances and cash of Frik BEFT B A Rl AV IR T 4588
subsidiaries acquired MIR& 487133
Cash consideration paid BEEeRE (252,650)
234,483
(b) Acquisition of business (b) WHBZER

For the year ended 31 December 2016

On 4 July 2016, the Group acquired 100% equity interest
in Anhui Hanlin with cash consideration of RMB2,000,000.
Anhui Hanlin is principally engaged in the provision of

property management services in the PRC.

BZ_E—ANFf+-FA=+—Hi
FEF

RZZF—RFLAMA - "&EEIMA
IR & K E A K% 2,000,000 7T Y i
REBME 2 AP AE - ZRBME
ZREETEREEMEEERS -

RMB’000
AR®T T

Consideration transferred: FrézsE (g :
Cash Be 2,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NFE+ - H=+—HILFZF

41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued) 41. WEEKB AR (&)
(b) Acquisition of business (continued) (b) W3R ()
For the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued) B2 —_E—_NF+—-H=+—HI
FE(4E)
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at date of RUEEH BRI EER A
acquisition are as follows: FHmT
RMB’'000
ARET T
Property, plant and equipment L E YN L] 20
Intangible assets EREE 2,095
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E A UK 1,655
Bank balances and cash RITEBR RS 116
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERR (2,964)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIBEE (524)
Net assets acquired Pk & B FE 398
The trade and other receivables acquired with a fair value U iE A FE A AR 1,655,000 TTHYE
of RMB1,655,000 approximate its gross contractual SR EMEWGEE A A AZEFEE o
amount.
Goodwill arising on acquisition: W BB R EE AR RS
RMB’'000
ARET T
Consideration transferred FrégE (e 2,000
Less: fair value of W T FEERATE
net assets acquired (398)

Goodwill arising on acquisition B E A P2 1,602
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of business (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

At the date of acquisition, goodwill of RMB 1,602,000 has
been determined provisionally based on the acquiree's
provisional fair value of net identifiable assets acquired.
Goodwill arose on the acquisition of a subsidiary because
this acquisition included the benefit of expected synergies
and the future profitability as at acquisition date.

Intangible assets of RMB2,095,000 in relation to the
acquisition of a subsidiary in relation to the provision of
property management services has been recognised by
the Group at the date of acquisition.

Net cash inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of

41. WIEKTE AR (4)
(b) WEEZEH ()

BZ_E—NFf+-HA=+—Hi
FEE(E)

RUEERER - 58 AK1,602,0007T
ThE R BT Rl R E B ER
WREAEEATEEE - §ER
WE—FRNBARIMESL  REZ
Z W B B 1 A U B B EATE B 17 R 3K
R AR BRI K2 o

REERH  AKECERKES

RATR L Y 3 B IR RIS AU B B A &) HY
& E AR 2,095,000 7T ©

B LEWESEENRE LRSS

the above acquisition: BYrIR &R AFHE
RMB’'000
ARET T
Bank balances and cash of the Frus B KT8 A Fl M RTT 4584
subsidiaries acquired MIRE 116
Cash consideration paid BEEeRE (2,000)
(1,884)
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Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(c) Acquisitions of non-controlling interests
from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2016

(i) Prior to this transaction, capital contribution of
Guangxi Hanlin amounting to RMB 154,000,000 and
RMB126,000,000 was reduced by the Group and
Mr. Li Lianzhu, a former non-controlling shareholder
of Guangxi Hanlin, by reference to the proportionate
equity interest of 55% and 45% attributable to
Group and Mr. Li Lianzhu, respectively, and the
amount has not been settled as at 31 December
2016, (note32). In the opinion of the executive
directors of the Company, after the reduction of
capital contribution, the Group further acquired, i)
45% equity interest in Guangxi Hanlin which holds
100% equity interest in ZHEHEERZE AR A
&) Anhui Qinlian Property Development Company
Limited (“Anhui Qinlian”), Z&MEEHEREER
A7) Anhui Hande Property Development Company
Limited (“Anhui Hande"), ZHE#EE EREER
‘2 &) Anhui Hanhua Property Development Company
Limited (“Anhui Hanhua") and Z#(&)52 5t E M
ZEAPR A A Anhui Qinjian Property Development
Company Limited (“Anhui Qinjian”); and ii) 40%
equity interest in EREEHMIEEFTR R A
Guangdong Aoyuan Hanlin Investment Company
Limited (“Aoyuan Hanlin”), which holds 100% equity
interest in FAEREMMEEBR LA Nanning
Aoyuan Hanlin Property Company Limited (“Nanning
Hanlin”), from a non-controlling shareholder
with cash consideration of RMB165,662,000
and RMB40,000,000, respectively. The Group’s
shareholdings in Guangxi Hanlin and its subsidiaries
was increased from 55% to 100% and the Group's
shareholdings in Aoyuan Hanlin and its subsidiary
increased from 60% to 100%, respectively.
The difference of RMB169,965,000 between
the consideration and the carrying amount
of the attributable non-controlling interest of
RMB375,627,000 was credited to special reserve.
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41. WEEKE AR (&)

(c) 120 Fff B8 2 R FF = IR R R WA
FFEIER

BE—F-—ANF1+ZA=1+—HI

FE

(i)

ZRZE BERBHAEE
FAEE R ZEIR LA (ER
BMAIRTIEIE AR IR ) 2=
ANE B R B TR T A R (R Y
R%HE b 191 55 % K2 45% 2 Bl
> A R # 154,000,000 7 &
A E #126,000,0007T © 1M
ZEFRBEN T RF+=
B=+—BHEAx&HE (K=
32) c AEBERITEERE -
EERADIE  AEBE—F
B JE 22 B% A% 38 U B ) B 7 8
PRE)45% AR HE - & P AR
ELRIBEHEREER
AR D) - ZBB
EEMmEREAER AR (%
BomE )« TROBEF i E
MAEERAR(ZEHE])
MEBHEEMERAZEFR
RE([REEE]) N2
o Ri) EREEHMNIEER
RAR([REHH]) F40%
etk RESMEEEER
EHMEXEERAR(EE
B 2 IRE - RED
3 A A R 165,662,000 7T
& A R #40,000,0007T °
7 & B A B P R K EL Y B
A Al B IR BE B3 55% 18 11 =
100% -+ i1 ZAS 52 B 78 BR R B A
N E Y B A 7 B9 % 4 F 60%
HINZE100% ° X8 & 1
IR E R BREEARE
375,627,000 7T Z R Y ZRE A
R# 169,965,000 T E 5T A K
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

41. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(c) Acquisitions of non-controlling interests
from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

(i)~ During the year ended 31 December 2016, the
Group further acquired 30% equity interest in &
RAZ{EHREBFR A A Guangdong Tianmeng
Culture Investments Company Limited (“Guangdong
Tianmeng”) with a cash consideration of
RMB9,000,000, from a non-controlling shareholder
of Guangdong Tianmeng, and then Guangdong
Tianmeng became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. The difference of RMB2,889,000 between
the consideration and the carrying amount of the
attributable non-controlling interest of RMB6,111,000
was debited to special reserve.

42. Disposal of Subsidiaries
(a) Disposal of a subsidiary

For the year ended 31 December 2016

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
disposed of its 65% equity interest of 2% (E) &EE
IHPRAE] Zhi An (Guangzhou) Investments Management
Co., Ltd. (“Zhi An Guangzhou"), to an independent third party
for a consideration of RMB527000.

41. WIEKTE AR (4)
(c) @ MBS 2 ] FF 42 IR AR 3R W i

FEIER E ()

BE—F-—ANF1+ZA=1+—HI
FE (&)

i) RBEE=ZZT—X~"F+=A
=+—BLFE A&H
E—TFTURESREARE
9,000,000 7T [M] & & K £ X
EHEEBR AR ERX
2)m—REERBRER
BE R K2 K30%A% #
b8 B R RE K AR K
2EWBAR - KEHEES
R EENETREARE
6,111,000 2 M EZREAR
& 2,889,000 T & 51 AR 51l 7
=K

42. HEMHBAT
(a) HE—REKEAR

BE—F-—ANF+ZA=1+—HI
FE

REBEEZZT—R"F+=-A=+—H
IEFE AEENRSREARK
527,000 LM —Z /WA E=FHE
HRBZ (BN REEEERAA
(TEZBEM ) H)65% IHE -

RMB’000
AR®TR

Cash consideration HERE

527
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

42. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Disposal of a subsidiary (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

Analysis of assets and liabilities of Zhi An Guangzhou over

which control was lost:

42. HENREAR (&)

(a) HE—FEMHEAT (&)

BZ_FS—ANFf+-A=+—Hi
FEE(E)

BREMN(BEREEHE) WEE
NEBEITIT

RMB’000
ARET T
AFS investment AEHERE 50,000
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H b ER 6,211
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 5,463
Trade and other payables B 5 R HABERK (484)
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE(SH AN E2 B Ff 8 2 ) FRIA
of the Group (60,971)
Net assets disposed of P& EFE 219
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & —REE L Tz WS
Cash consideration HERE 527
Net assets disposed of FriE&EFE (219)
Non-controlling interests JEfE i 77
Gain on disposal k= Gy 385
Net cash outflow arising HE—HNBARELE
disposal of a subsidiary: KRS
Cash consideration received BURERE 527
Less: bank balances and cash of B FTHEH B A AR
the subsidiary disposal of IRITHEMR MRS (5,463)
(4,936)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

42. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Disposal of a subsidiary (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

During the year ended 31 December 2015, due to the
financial difficulty of a partner of a joint venture of the
Group, Baishi Yonghao, the Group disposed of its 70.58%
equity interests of E/NERE 82 & AR A7 Guangzhou
Aoyuan Jintai Property Company Limited (“Jintai”), which
holds Baishi Yonghao, a joint venture of the Group, to an
independent third party for nil consideration. The amount
due from Baishi Yonghao has been repaid during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

Analysis of assets and liabilities of Jintai upon disposal:

42. HEMBEAR ()
(a) HE—FEMHEAT (&)

BZ_ZT—FHFf+-FA=+—Hi
GEEF

BE_Z—RAF+_A=+—8I1t
FE - HRAEE-—HeEEES
AXKEN—BERALRMBKR
- AEERTREA-—BBELE
SHHEEBEANBEMNREREE
%Eﬁﬁ@?(ﬁ%n BB
ZhEBAXKER)70. 58%1%%%@ °
FE”&EEK/% RIEEREZE =
—hE+ZA :+—E|Jtif£1,aia °

WRNLERZEERAEBES TN
™

RMB'000

ARETT

Interest in a joint venture R—E&% 87925
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERS 11

Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders A E 3 Hxﬁx%mlﬁ (12,013)

Amounts due to subsidiaries ERAEERIER

of the Group (29,009)
46,914

Less: non-controlling interests R R (13,802)
Net assets disposed of and loss on disposal EHEFEERHESE 33,112

Net cash outflow arising on disposal of a subsidiary:

AHE-—FHNBARELNRESR

RMB'000
ARBTT

Consideration received BUR(E
B TSN B A RIR
IRITHEBEIRE

Less: bank balances and cash of
the subsidiary disposed of
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

42. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Disposal of partial interests in a subsidiary

without loss of control

For the year ended 31 December 2016

Subsequent to the acquisition of 100% equity interest in
Hongsheng Investments, as mentioned in note 41(a)(i),
on 20 June 2016, the Group disposed of its 49% equity
interest in Hongsheng Investments to an independent
third party with cash consideration of RMB1,400,000,000,
the equity interest of Hongsheng Investments held
by the Group was then decreased to 51%, in which
the Group continuously has control over Hongsheng
Investments. The difference of RMB775,000 between
the consideration and the attributable share of the net
assets by the non-controlling shareholder upon disposal
amounting to RMB1,399,225,000 was credited to special
reserve and the non-controlling interests amounting to
RMB1,399,225,000 which is measured by reference
to the proportionate shares of the 49% net identifiable
assets of Hongsheng Investments was recognised at the
disposal date.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

42. HENREAR (&)

(b)

HE—FENBQAHDES
kPP

RE-F—AF+=A=+—AL
5

WHEsL BRI B 2 BRI - InBfT R
M@0t - RZFE—RF A
ZTH AEEUREREARE
1,400,000,0007T {5 FT5 A BI5AB%
TEL9% BRET—RBLE=T -
RNEEFTFB R AR IR B IR IERE 12
WP ES1% - MASERRERLD
AR HE B TS DL B AR & PR Il o
REHEHERIFERRFIELEE
FE K 2 EE A R 5 1,399,225,000
TR EREARK 7750002
TR o FEIERER AR
1,399,225,000 7t B % AR E £ 5A B%
TE A FRFEEFENFRER
LE 51 49% FHE MR H &S B HA T LARE

e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

42. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(c) Deemed disposal of partial interests in
subsidiaries without loss of control

For the year ended 31 December 2016

Subsequent to the acquisition of 100% equity
interest in Chengdu Qida which holds 70% equity
interest in Yihua Property, as mentioned in note
41(a)(ii), on 16 June 2016, the Group and the non-
controlling shareholder injected capital amounting
to RMB765,000,000 and RMB686,000,000 to Yihua
Property, respectively, the equity interest in Yihua
Property held by the Group was then diluted from
70% to 53.3%, in which the Group continuously
has control over Yihua Property after the dilution. An
excess of the capital injected by the non-controlling
shareholder over the attributable share of the net
assets by the non-controlling shareholder on this
deemed disposal amounting to RMB862,000 was
credited to special reserve and the non-controlling
interests amounting to RMB685,138,000 which
is measured by reference to the proportionate
shares of the 46.7% net identifiable assets of Yihua
Property was recognised at the deemed disposal
date.

42. HENREAR (&)

(c) BRRALENBE AR RD ER
kPP

RE-F—AF+=A=+—AL
5

()  PRUEERHEE(HFBEE
BEXT70% xiE) 2 EtE%
MBS EE 41 (@) ) Pt - R
—~NERNATRB - AEE
MIEZERRE DRI R EEE
& AR 765,000,000 7T
N AR ¥ 686,000,000 7T @ A
EERENEES ERERE
& B 70% 58 = 53.3% *
NEBPREE 2 REBTER
HEE TSR - FFER
AR R 1L & R ) IE I AR AR R Bt
ZERALEERGEEESFE
RIEEE AR ¥ 862,000 TLE AT
AR - IEERRE RS A
R 685,138,000 JTE & fR H
THEBXHRFEERN
1B FE AR LE B146.7% st B
AR A& B BT ARERR ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # %= — =&

(#4)

—NFTZH=1—HIFFE

42. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(c) Deemed disposal of partial interests
in subsidiaries without loss of control
(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, &/
TR X bERERE (BRE%) Guangzhou Qinyuan
Culture Media Limited Partnership (the “Qinyuan
and EMMELEEBEMEE (BRE
#) , Guangzhou Qinyuan Management Consultant
Limited Partnership (the “Qinyuan Management”),

Culture")

both of which are controlled by Mr. Yang Zhong,
a non-executive director of the Company,
injected capital amounting to RMB1,200,000 and
RMB4,800,000, respectively, to &M% &2 K E 4
B AR A A Guangzhou Zhi An Tianshi Internet
Technology Company Limited (“Zhi An Tianshi”),
a non wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. The
effective equity interest of Zhi AnTianshi held by the
Group was then diluted to 44%, in which the Group
continuously has control over Zhi An Tianshi after
the dilution. An excess of the capital injected by the
non-controlling shareholders over the attributable
share of the net assets by the non-controlling
shareholders on this deemed disposal amounting
to RMB4,234,000 was credited to special reserve
and the non-controlling interests amounting to
RMB1,766,000 which is measured by reference to
the proportionate shares of the 20% net identifiable
assets of Zhi An Tianshi was recognised at the
deemed disposal date.
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42. HEMBEAR ()
(c) ?E%Hj%I}ﬁE"T"B A £

BE—F

3 5 Kk K (AR

—AEF=A=+—AL

FE (&)

(ii)

RBE_ZE—XXF+=H
=+—HLEFE  BMNTR
WXALBHELE(ARER)
(MR 3E 1) R EM R
ERERCE(ARER)
(MR ER]) IBRAREZE
HMITESHELEES) D5
MAEEFZEWNERRE
MELZRERERZERA
AERZREDEFAERA
R #1,200,0007T & A R #
4,800,0007T ° fh1& + AEH
RAENSZREREZSE
44% - BERAEENA L
BERRNEH IR o JEIE
% A% R 3% & AR IR AR AR R
HZEBEGRALERGEETF
B EEE AR 4,234,000 7T
EaT ARFRIGE R o FEIEARAE
= AR ¥ 1,766,000 7T 2% R
HERRREAHRBFEE
BTl B9 45 A% b 51 20% 51 &
AL E B E T UARER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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42. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(d) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2015

Zhuzhou Aoyuan was a subsidiary of the Company
before 31 January 2015, which was held by Aoyuan
Group Company Limited (“Aoyuan Group"), iz
fE and #3£ (two non-controlling shareholders) of
60%, 23% and 17%, respectively. Zhuzhou Aoyuan
is principally engaged in property development
in the PRC. On 1 February 2015, REEEARA
A], Minsheng Trust Co. Ltd (“Minsheng Trust"”)
and Aoyuan Group injected RMB100,000,000 and
RMB90,000,000 to Zhuzhou Aoyuan, respectively.
Since the injections on 1 February 2015, Aoyuan
Group, Minsheng Trust, JSi&R1E and #AH held
60%, 30%, 5.75% and 4.25% equity interest of
Zhuzhou Aoyuan respectively. The revised Articles
of Association of Zhuzhou Aoyuan which become
effective on 1 February 2015 has stipulated that the
Board of Directors of Zhuzhou Aoyuan comprises
of five directors, of which three directors were
appointed by Aoyuan Group, one director was
appointed by Minsheng Trust and remaining one
director was jointly appointed by SR 1E and .

42. HEMBEAR ()
(d) RELHENEAT

BZ_ZT—FHFf+-FA=+—Hi
GEEF

i) MMNBRER-_ZT—RHE&—A
=+—BZAAXR R
BAr HRBESEEAERA
A ([RESE]) ARMREIE
PERR AR SRS RAE R BA 2 B3
B60% * 23% K 17% ° #k M
REFZAFPBHEEME
TR -R-_ZT—HF_A
— B REGEFZERAQA
(REEFDEREEEH
ARMHEMREFTEAR
#100,000,0007T & A B #
90,000,000t > H K = &
—hAFE-A—AELIER
B RESERE- RERFT
RS R AE K A B3 9 Bl A KM
B & #60% * 30% * 5.75%
5 4.25% B HE - KM BB /Y
KIETHEBERMAAN T
—hE-_A—B4A® BE
KNRENEEEhAEE
HK HP=REERSR
BEEEF —R2EFHR
EEREA BT —ZES
HISERERABBEZE -
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42. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(d) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries
(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

(i)

(continued)

The Board of Directors is involved in daily operations
and management of the property development
project, two-third of votes of the directors are
required on making relevant operating decisions.
Before the revision of the Articles of Association,
Aoyuan Group appointed 3 out of 5 directors to
the Board of Directors and half of the votes of the
directors were required on making daily operating
decisions. After the revision of the Articles of
Association, Aoyuan Group is not able to control
the activities without co-operation of the other
investors, and each party cannot individually control
Zhuzhou Aoyuan. After considering the above fact
and circumstances, the executive directors of the
Company conclude that the Group does not have the
power of control over Zhuzhou Aoyuan, therefore
the Group classified the Group’s interest in Zhuzhou
Aoyuan as interest in a joint venture since 1 February
2015.

On 1 February 2015, the Group deemed disposed its
60% equity interest in Zhuzhou Aoyuan.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 H e A B A 7]

42. HEMBEAR ()
(d) BHHENRELT (&)

HE—

F-BEL=AS+—AL

FE (&)

(i)

(%)

%%Aiﬁ%¥%ﬁﬁﬁm
HELERER  RIELE
BEERRBARBT =02
“EEZRH - RNERTEBE
RARZA - REEERE
EXQOREFETM3IH
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%LﬁﬁEM
—FESEH - RNEFT
ﬁ%aﬁﬁ%Z&’ﬁE%
EEEHEMREESERIE
EEHIEBES BRFH
TREEREBITROMRE - 7
ERLAEERBR2E
ARBATESEMHE A%
I8 49 R N R ] 0 A 42 I A
Hit - AEEE -_T—AF
“HA-BESERKMNEER
BRENEROBRNEEDR
FEREE o

R-—ZE—RAF-_A—H &
EBEE AL EHEAR KM
BAE 60% A% HE ©



42. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(d) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (4D

(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

(i)

(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016

BE-—T—NF+—H=1—HIFFZF

42. HENREAR (&)

(d) BHHENRELT (&)

BE—FE—FFf+=-F=+—Hi

FE (&)

(i)

Analysis of assets and liabilities of Zhuzhou Aoyuan

upon deemed disposal:

(%)

RIESHERKMNERNE
ERBENN

RMB'000
ARETTT
Property, plant and equipment Y%~ BB KRR 407
Deferred tax assets RIETIIE A E 8,186
Properties for sale A EYE 1,597.819
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E Ab UK 137,593
Amount due from a related party FEW—MIRE N RIRUIR 22,518
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI L= NI E O E]
of the Company 88,092
Tax recoverable AU [El Fi 1A 6,469
Bank balances and cash WRITHER MRS 73,390
Trade and other payables B 5 kAR (45,100)
Deposits received for sale MIHEMEE WG
of properties (1,086,472)
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R E A AR (629,000)
Net assets disposed of BEEEEFE 173,902
Less: non-controlling interests B IR (9,561)
Reclassified the equity interest in REBFREHRMNER
Zhuzhou Aoyuan held by the Group REEFHER
as interest in a joint venture R—HE Eh AR 164,341

There is no significant gain or loss arising from the

deemed disposal of Zhuzhou Aoyuan.

18 /3 SR R E I A
EEAMEENEE -

RMB'000
AREEFTT
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents M8 &HEKRIMNBEREZSE
upon deemed disposal of interest in Re KReEEWRD
Zhuzhou Aoyuan (73,390)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

42. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(d) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries
(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

(i)

Zhuzhou Jinye was a subsidiary of the Company
before 28 February 2015, which was held by Aoyuan
Group, M5IEAE and #H (two non-controlling
shareholders) of 60%, 23% and 17%, respectively.
Zhuzhou Jinye is principally engaged in property
development in the PRC. On 1 March 2015, Minsheng
Trust and Aoyuan Group injected RMB50,000,000
and RMB43,000,000 to Zhuzhou Jinye respectively.
After the capital injections on 1 March 2015, Aoyuan
Group, Minsheng Trust, &= 4F and tAE held 51%,
35%, 8% and 6% equity interest of Zhuzhou Jinye
respectively. The revised Articles of Association of
Zhuzhou Jinye which become effective on 1 March
2015 has stipulated that the Board of Directors of
Zhuzhou Jinye comprises of five directors, of which
three directors were appointed by Aoyuan Group,
one director was appointed by Minsheng Trust and
remaining one director was jointly appointed by
FS53=AE and #AH. The Board of Directors is involved
in daily operations and management of the property
development project, two-third of votes of the
directors are required on making decisions on
relevant activities of Zhuzhou Jinye. Before the
revision of the Articles of Association, Aoyuan Group
appoints 3 out of 5 directors to the Board of Directors
and half of the votes of the directors were required
on making decisions on relevant activities of Zhuzhou
Jinye. After the revision of the Articles of Association,
Aoyuan Group is not able to control the activities
without co-operation of the other investors, and each
party cannot individually control Zhuzhou Jinye. After
considering the above facts and circumstances, the
executive directors of the Company conclude that
the Group does not have the power of control over
Zhuzhou Jinye, therefore the Group classified interest
in Zhuzhou Jinye as interest in a joint venture since 1
March 2015.
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42. HEMBEAR ()
(d) BHHENRELT (&)

BE_F-—aF+-A=1—Ai1
FE (&)

(ii)

HNeER—_ZE—FRE=R
—+ N\ B ZE AR R B
BAR ARESENRR
4 IE 2= B% A% BROS = E & #A
B 5 5l # 560% - 23% &
17% > kNS EEZEHREH
REMEZR -N=_F—*h
F=ZA—H REEGTEEE
BEEESBIEEMNEEEE
A R #50,000,0007T & A R
#43,000,0007C ° ER =
—h&E=A—HELEEZ
% BESEE REET
KSR AE & AR 9 Bl 15 A AR
% % BM51% 35% * 8% &
6% A% HE o RN & R LB
SIS EREMARN - —TA
F=ZA B4 BEHEM
CENEFTHAEBESA
K EF=2F=THRESE
BZE —R=EFHREE
HEE BT —REEAS
RIENRABHAEZE-ESF
C2HEYEXBEREENAE
KEREE - RNEL A Bk
M ZE R FE B 275 2 R R
BERB=ZpZ _EFZH-
FMERT B & =2 41 Bl 2 A1 -
BREEZRTEEEHE
EEHRM3Z MAELE
BN e EMERBEER 2R
REEADNGS —FEFZH-
PMERT MR ZERZMMEAI 2 1% -
RESEEEEEMREES
ERIE AR 7558 - B
& 5 ¥ T RE Bl 2= B AR M &
X - REELMEERBNR
21 RNRRHITE FE
T ANEEHE KNS W&
ZHE - Bt AEEBZ
T—RF=F—HRENK
MNEFXEENERD EAR
AP ERER



42. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

(d) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries
(continued)

42. HENREAR (&)

(d) BHHENRELT (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

(i)

(continued)

On 1 March 2015, the Group deemed disposed its

51% equity interest in Zhuzhou Jinye.

Analysis of assets and liabilities of Zhuzhou Jinye

upon deemed disposal:

BE—FE—FFf+=-F=+—Hi
FF(4E)

(ii)

(%)

RZE—HF=A—H ' &
SERAHEEESENM
S 51%IRHE

HNEENBEREERZE
ERBED

RMB'000
AREETTT
Property, plant and equipment Y%~ BB MR 379
Deferred tax assets EETIRE = 12,826
Properties for sale A EME 1,674,803
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E A UK 52,739
Tax recoverable A E IR 10,998
Bank balances and cash RITHR IR E 98,300
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERR (335,698)
Deposits received for sale of properties  FLEEDFED WG S (822,625)
Amounts due to non-controlling FE FEFE IR AR SR EIE
shareholders (63,866)
Amount due to a related party FER—MRE A RIRIA (19,098)
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERI AR R BT A F5RIE
of the Company (187.357)
Tax liabilities MIAA & (5,309)
Bank and other borrowings BRIT R H A& K (368,600)
Net assets disposed of EEEREFE 47492
Less: non-controlling interests W SRR R RS 2,277
Reclassified equity interest in Zhuzhou SASBERENTRMNEZE
Jinye held by the Group as RESFHDES
interest in a joint venture NG SRR 49,769
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

42. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued) 42. HEMB AT (&)
(d) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries (d) RALENELT (&)
(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued) Bz —_E—FHFEF-_H=+—HI
EE(E)
(i) (continued) iy (&)
There is no significant gain or loss arising from the RAELERMNSXBEELE
deemed disposal of Zhuzhou Jinye. FfE R S EE -
RMB’000
ARETTT
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents REAHERIMNE EERE
upon deemed disposal of interest ReRReEEBYRLD
in a Zhuzhou Jinye (98,300)
43. Contingent Liabilities 43. FAREE
At the end of respective reporting period, the Group had REREHR » REBRSABEMT ¢
contingent liabilities as follows:
2016 2015
—E-REF —E—hF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARETT

Guarantees given to banks in connection  #t& = HERHFIE

with facilities granted to third parties MERITIED 2 IR 20,434,023 91239691
Guarantees given to banks in connection  FLA SR EERHEE
with facilities granted to joint ventures MERITIE 2 1R 1,150,000 =
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NF+_-A=+—HIFFZ

43. Contingent Liabilities (continued)

The Group acted as guarantor to the banks in respect of the
mortgage bank loans granted to certain property purchasers
of the Group's and agreed to repurchase the properties upon
the purchasers’ default on the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage loans and the loan interest accrual thereon. The fair
value of the financial guarantee contracts is not significant at
the initial recognition and provision has not been made as the
default rate is low.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has outstanding financial
guarantees issued to banks in respect of banking facilities
granted to joint ventures of the Group. The amount disclosed
above represents the aggregate amounts that could be required
to be paid if the guarantees were called upon in entirety, of which
RMB1,150,000,000 (2015: nil) has been utilised by the joint
ventures at the end of the reporting period.

43. HARKE (F)

AEBEBETAEEE TOEERNIR
BRITERMETEERITHERA -
WREZENRERHEREERERRBER
REGEFRFERER YIS - BRERN
ERE - BBERENNE XERED
AFEWNEK - BIWEEHEE -

RZZE—RE+ZA=+—8 ' x&H
BEAREBEEVBER DRETAEESE
EREMIRITREMMRITIEL o £EX
FIEENeREERERE2HDBITER
RAEESNMESE  EFARK
1,150,000,0007C (= —F 4 : |)ERN
WEMBRAEEEFEIDA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

44. Operating Lease Arrangements

As lessor

Contingent rental for certain properties was charged to tenants
and was determined by a certain percentage of turnover earned
by the tenants upon they exceed the pre-determined monthly
rental. The contingent rental income recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2016 amounted to RMB7690,000 (2015:
RMB®6,311,000). The properties held by the Group for rental
purpose have committed tenants for periods ranging from 1 to
16 years.

At the end of the respective reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease

4. BEHEZH
EREBEA

EToEnAESEMESWE - £8
FROMEEERBRETET AHSRIEE
¥BEHN—TEILEBEE - REEZT
—ANE+_A=+—BUEFEERNHK
KL WA B AR 7,690,0007T(=F
—h4F : AR¥6,311,0007T) ° AEEH
EHEMENBEFA#FHANT—F2
‘f’/\i ©

REBREHR - AREEBETETON
ARRSAEHERBNT

payments:
2016 2015
=F—REF =% FE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Within one year —FRN 93,116 92,043
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EZFhE (BIEEERSE) 217,034 238,611
After five years FERE 150,718 173,353
460,868 504,007

Rental from certain tenants of an investment property
are determined at the amount of the higher of a specified
percentage of their turnover and a fixed monthly rental. The
remaining properties are expected to generate rental yields of
average 0.65% to 3.63% per annum on an on-going basis. All
the properties held have committed tenants for a term ranging
from 2 to 17 years.
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44. Operating Lease Arrangements (continued)
As lessee
At the end of the respective reporting period, the Group had

outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as

44, KEHEZRH (F)

ERAEMEA

REBREHR - ARERETAIBUBE
LHERTHARRKERERIER AR
AR AT ARSI

follows:
2016 2015
—EB—REF —E—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBFT
Within one year —FR 55,462 50,392
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_EFhF (PREERERF) 127567 159,674
After five years AFLAE 88 =
183,117 210,066

Operating lease payments mainly represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain of its office premises and warehouse.
Leases are negotiated with range from 1 to 7 years and rentals
are fixed for an average term of 1 to 7 years.

REHEFATZRARERE THA
EREEMENNES - EEMAEHE
EFPNT—E=tF FH—ELEFR
M INEHETE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

45. Other Commitments

At the end of respective reporting period, the Group has other

commitments as follow:

45. HfthEiE

RERESHR - AEEAEAMAFENT

2016 2015
—E-AF —T—hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREBT T
Construction cost commitments for ERTAIMERA AR & I TSk AR
properties for sales contracted for but 2 AT SH W) S R SR AN R
not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 7,378,841 8,396,934
Commitments for acquisition of land use 2 5] £IMER LR & B SRR A
rights contracted for but not provided 276 B 1 s PR R
in the consolidated financial statements 2,513,617 310,000
Commitments for acquisition of BRTAMERRERE B 53R A
subsidiaries contracted for but B 2 BB A R
not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 1,040,000 -
Construction cost commitments for EETAVER AR & T ISRk A
investment properties contracted B 2 B Y SRR AR
for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 289,301 635,003
Construction commitment in respect BETAMERNERE B SRR A
of hotel under development contracted Bl 2 TR B R IR SRR AR TE
for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 5,160 5,160
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

46. Share-Based Payment Transactions

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 13 September 2007
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and
eligible employees.

At 31 December 2016, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under
the Scheme was 10,000,000 (2015: nil), representing 0.37%
(2015: nil) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.
The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year
is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company's shareholders.

Consideration of HK$1 is payable on the grant of an option.
Options may be exercised according to the schedule set out
below. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company'’s shares.

46.

IR AERNHIRS
e B

ARal BT 8 ([5H8]) HRER
“EELFARTZABBIRBRR
W TEBANRREENAERERR
HEZE) -

R-E—XRNE+-_A=+—8 " BEZ
SrEIEREAMRITENBREY RO
B9 £ B 410,000,000 (—Z— R & :
) HERAARINZBEETRMOK
037%(ZF—hF : &) c REARFIKR
RELPE  BEGEIR L ERERY
IR 10 #B B A] B B AN A A fa] IR P E 3%
TTHRIDEI10% © RAEARA BIARR SB So it
o RER—EFEARERATRD
RATRERR 2 IR PP B 1T R %
T2 IR BB T AR R AR A 7 E (A B
BETRHE1% °

RbBERERM ZRER 1T - BiE
PR T XS 2 B R T AT - 1718
BERARREZEREE - BTEEROAR
A R B HIR T (B (i) BEE
HARAEEXANFHURTE: &
(i) RABRMEEZZ=DE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

46. Share-Based Payment Transactions

(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

No. of options

46. IR ARERNNRZ (&)

RAGERBRES (8)

BREZFEDBFFNT

granted Exercise price Fair value/
after the after the share at
Option type adjustment Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period adjustment grant date
BER RHAH
BhRERL FiRiEREHE RAURH BROE TS HEATEE  SRAYE
HKS HKS
#7 A
20148 4,500,000 15 January 2014 15 January 2014 to 16 October 2015 to 1610 0.20
15 October 2015 16 December 2015
ZE-WE-ATEA “E-ME-ATHAZ ZE-RETATAEE
ZE-RETATERA Z2-RFTZATAR
2016A 5,000,000 12 December 2016 N/A 12 December 2016 to 1778 0.08
31 December 2017
ZTRETZATZE TER “F-AET-AtZRZ
“E2-tEt-A=t-H
2016B 5,000,000 12 December 2016 12 December 2016 to 1 January 2018 to 1778 0.26
31 December 2017 31 December 2018
2 ETZATZR T ETZATZRE - /\§-A-BZE
ZEtEFZAZT-A ZE-N\FTZAZT-A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016

46. Share-Based Payment Transactions
(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)
The following table disclose movement’s of the Company's

share options held by the directors and employees during the
current and prior years:

BE-_T—NF+—H=1—HIFZF

46. IR ARERNNRZ (&)

RAGERBRES (8)

TEBBEEFEMNEERAFEBESF
EFRARRIERE 28

Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding
at Granted Exercised Expired at Granted  Exercised Expired at
1 January during during during 31 December during during during 31 December
Option type 2015 the year the year the year 2015 the year the year the year 2016
BhRESR R=2-1% R-Z-1% R=B-7F
-A-A +=A=t-H +=A=t-H
AME  FRRE  FROE FRER AME  FRRE  FROE FRER A
‘000 ‘000 '000 '000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 '000
T T T T T T T T T
20148 4,500 - = (4,500) = = = = =
2016A - - - - - 5,000 - - 5,000
20168 - - - - - 5,000 - - 5,000
4,500 - = (4,500) - 10,000 - - 10,000
Exercisable at the end
of the year
RERTTHR - - 5,000
Weighted average
exercise price (HKS)
ETATEE(ET) 1610 - 1778
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z —F—NFE+-H=+—HIFFZ

46. Share-Based Payment Transactions
(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

These fair values were calculated using the binominal model.
The inputs into the model were as follows:

46. IR ARERNNRZ (&)

RAGERBRES (8)

AT EEREREAEE - ZHE
ZHASEIMT

2014B 2016A 2016B

Exercise price 1IE(E
Expected volatility TEERR 1R
Expected life TE&T 4 B
Risk-free rate R f Al =

Expected dividend yield TEHANR B Bl 3R =

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous one
year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations. The risk-free rate was determined by yield of
Hong Kong Government Bond with maturity nearest to the
expiration date of the share options.

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB376,000 (2015:
RMB321,000) for the year ended 31 December 2016 in relation
to share options granted by the Company.

The number of share options granted expected to vest has been
reduced to reflect historical experience of forfeiture of options
granted prior to completion of vesting period and accordingly
the share option expense has been adjusted. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of
the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
the profit and loss over the remaining vesting period, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

296 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H 28 B ] i 3 4 8 B4y A TR A 7

HK$1.610 HK$1.778 HK$1.778
1.610/87T 1.7787 1.7787%

34% 28% 41%

1.9 years 1 years 2 years
1.9%F 14 246
0.34% 0.676% 0.907%
5% 8% 8%

BHREARARBRENBE—F2F
SERIREETE » R AR ER 2 HFF
EREEEBEER TSR - TER
BRITREARRIFL 2 K EMBHAE -
ERRANETRBEBNERKEX (B
HROBEBEEEmR)EE -

REBEE_ZE—A"F+_A=+—HIF
B AEBERAQRRL 2 BRERR
Sz #E%8 AR 376,000 (=T — R 4F :
AER#¥321,0007T) °

EHRENEEBNCREBRERE
NRBBELRTEROBRIELERE
HIR SR AT A E - BRI S
TERHE - RIEMR - AEEHETE
HEHEKEBEERERE b5t - &
FIREMGR BT E (E) IR RIER
SEARAERRRER  WHBRER
RiELAREREE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2016

46. Share-Based Payment Transactions

47.

(continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the executive
directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

Retirement Benefit Plans

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme administrated by
the local municipal government. The Group’s PRC subsidiaries
contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentage
of the average employee salary as agreed by local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits
of the employees. The principal obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustee. The Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the scheme and the same amount is
matched by employees.

Contribution to the defined contribution plans in Australia are
made by the employer based on a certain % of the employees’
salaries and wages.

The Group recognised the retirement benefit contributions of
RMB21,664,000 (2015: RMB18,500,000) for the year ended 31
December 2016.

46.

47.

Aok B B A M (4D

BE-_T—NF+—H=1—HIFZF

RGO H/BERTNNRS (F)

RAGERBRES (8)

“HABEACD AR AT EBREN D
B -FEBREATEREANEER
BERDIBEBEHTES 2 &EMT - BRK
BNEESEETIERRNTAZE
MmABMESR -

RKERIETE

RIFH BABARMAR - AR BMF
B EARASEM T MBAE RN
EREFURNEE - AEE T BB
REVIAF 8 B & 12 i 77 R F R
EMREA DL EZ B
"X REEBNEKREINREER - A
SEHERRENFERENERZRER
RIBFHEEHPIZAHK o

AEENEEBRMERERERER
—fERBIERTEEFE - FAEEERT
FEARBINESPRAEEEED R
B o AEEIZABIERK AR 5% [T E
K - BB TMZAAR S MR -

R AT T BRGSO H KT B
TRBREFERTIENETAD LY
e

AEFBERBE_ZT—A~"FE+=-A
=+ HIEFEBRARKBIHAAR
#21664,000L(—ZE—FHF: AR
18,500,000 7T) °

Annual Report 2016 & — /N4E4ER

297



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
‘3? N\ _é.\ =3
o B R M RE (4]
For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF
48. Major Non-Cash Transactions 48. TEFRERSF
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group entered REBE-_ZTE—AR"F+-_A=1+—HBILF
into a settlement agreement with Zhuzhou Jinye, Zhuzhou B AEBBEEKMNEE  HRNRE &
Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Tianjun for settlement between amount M REBBET S A5 E - DAAE B I LR
due from Zhuzhou Aoyuan of RMB318,981,000, amount due EBEFIE AR 318,981,000 7T * FEUIK
from Zhuzhou Tianjun of RMB126,899,000 and amount due IMAREBFRIE A R 126,899,000 7t I FEAF
to Zhuzhou Jinye of RMB445,880,000. Zhuzhou Tianjun is M€ 3318 A KR #5 445,880,000 7T © F&
controlled by J5i=4E and #£, who are joint venture partner of NREPRBRAERGAS @ BEAKMNE
Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye. BEREMNEENEEREESEBA -
49. Related Party Transactions 49. BERIRS
(@)  The Group had material transactions during the year with (a) ANEERAKFEEERREHBNEKR
related parties as follows: RGWT :
2016 2015
—E-RF —T—hF
Related party Nature of transaction RMB’000 RMB'000
FAE R R5M4E AR¥T T ARETIT
Joint ventures Interest income 4,313 21,379
BEDHE A B A
Joint ventures Property management
services income 3,407 -
BEbE L ESERLE TN
A related party (note) Interest income - 499
—fEEE R A (FIFE) FILEHA
Non-controlling shareholders Interest expense
of subsidiaries 111,856 -
BB A R FEIE AR AR R FEFE
Related parties (note 42(c)(ii)) Deemed disposal of partial
interest in a subsidiary
without loss of control 6,000 -
BaE AN A) (FIFE42(c) (i) HRAELE—HHIBARES
TR s 1T N 4 2K A 2R e
Note: The related party is an entity established in the PRC, and is MisE : ZBEARARFEKZHELE  THHWE
controlled by the non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries. DA FFERAR R ] o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

49. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(b)

The remuneration of key management personnel during
the year is as follows:

49. BELXRZ (&)

b) MAFETEEEA

EHBT

2016 2015

—E-RE —T—hHF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET T ARETIT

Short-term benefits SELEEY] 26,655 28,480

Share-based payments ARG 1 B ERE R 376 321
Retirement benefit scheme BB GBI

contributions 93 85

27124 28,886

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

EERFRTHRABHFMOAFHE R
SEREAXRBEMGBEMEE
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subsidiaries

Details of the Group'’s principal subsidiaries at the end of

(@) General information of principal

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

50. A QR EERMBELRFIE

(a) FEMBERT—RER

RBERR - AEE T ENB QA

the reporting period are as follows: EL=p N
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered  Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital ~ activities Legal from
MR,/ BRTRARZ
WEARER R b5 iR R RE/EMRA  TEER HEFR
2016 2015
Z2-R% “Z-1%
Add Hero Holding Limited British Virgin Islands 100% 100% US$10,000  Investment Limited liability
("Add Hero") (note a) ("BVI") holding company
Add Hero Holding Limited ABUREE 100005 REAR ABRAT
(TAdd Hero]) (F3E a) ([RB#RES])
REEEERAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB680,000,000  Investment Limited liability
(Aoyuan Group Company Limited) holding, loan ~ company
financing
and property
development
RERKR
EFRAR
RESEERAR Gl AR¥680,0000007.  WEEER  ARLA
ENREESHEHEREARAT PRC 100% 100%  RMB380,000,000 Property Limited liability
(Guangzhou Aoyuan Hai Jing development  company
Cheng Real Estate Development
Company Limited)
BN AR S SR ERERRAR il ARH380,000000 MEERE BRAT
ENBHE R HEREARAR PRC 100% 100%  RMBG60,000,000 Property Limited liability
(Guangzhou Olympic Real Estate development  company
Development Company Limited)
ENRNC R B EREERAR e AR¥60,0000007T  WEERE ARRA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

BE-_T—NF+—H=1—HIFZF

50. A AR EERME L A (&)

(a) EEMBERE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered  Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital ~ activities Legal from
MR,/ BRTRARZ
WEARER R B8 Frisa R RE/EMRA  TEER HERR
2016 2015
Z2-RE “Z-1%
ENREEELEERER AR PRC 100% 100% RMB50,000,000  Provisionof ~ Limited liability
(Guangzhou Aoyuan Assets of consultancy company
Management Company Limited) services and
Company Limited) hotel ownership
BNRAEEEL2ERERAR t AR®500000007T REFARE  BRAA
WHEAER
FHRAREHEREER AT PRC 100% 100% RMB80,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Yulin Aoyuan Real Estate development  company
Development Company Limited)
FNEEEHEREERAA g ARE80,000000 MEERE BRARA
FHRERNEHEREBRAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB200,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Yulin Aoyuan Cannes Real Estate development  company
Development Company Limited)
FHRARENFHEREERAR i AK200,000000T MFEE BRAT
IR EREERAR PRC 51% 51% RMB20,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Jiangmen Jiangao Real Estate Development development  company
Company Limited) (“Jiangmen Jiangao”)
TP TREREERAR i AR#20,0000007T  WFER AR

(Pane:A))
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 50. AR FEFEMB L RFE (8)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMIBAT—RER (&)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered  Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital ~ activities Legal from
MR,/ BRTRARZ
WEARER R B8 Frisa R RE/EMRA  TEER HERR
2016 2015
ZE-~E —F-h%
BEMREEXERAR PRC 80% 80% RMB50,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Qingyuan Aoyuan Property development  company
Company Limited)
FEMARERERAT e AREB0,000000 MEERE BRAF
RERERESERAH PRC 100% 100%  RMB1,030,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Shenyang Aoyuan New City development  company
Property Company Limited)
RERERESER AR e AR 1,030,000,0007 MEEE BRAF
BNREEHEREERAR PRC 54% B4%  HK$1,390,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Guangzhou Aoyu Real Estate development  company
Exploitation Company Limited)
("Guangzhou Aoyu")
BNREFHERZLERAR ([EMRE]) t 1,390,0000008 MEFEE BRARA
mILEGREERERAR PRC 100% 100%  USD110,000,000  Property Wholly foreign
(Zhongshan Plaza Development development  owned
Company Limited) enterprise
PESFHERRBRAA G 110,000,000%7 MEER NEBALR
K (BIL) BEXRRAR PRC 100% 100% USD5,552,000  Property Wholly foreign
(Woolim Fanta (Kunshan) development  owned
Development Company Limited) enterprise
K (BIL) EXRRAR f 5552000%T WFER IEEALR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2016

BE-_T—NF+—H=1—HIFZF

50. A AR EERME L A (&)

(a) EEMBERE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered  Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital ~ activities Legal from
MR,/ BRTRARZ
WEARER R B8 Frisa R RE/EMRA  TEER HERR
2016 2015
Z2-RE “Z-1%
R (RIL)BRAR PRC 100% 100% USD3,100,000  Property Wholly foreign
(Woolim (Kunshan) Development development  owned
Company Limited) enterprise
R (BIL) BRAR e 3100000 MEEE WEBERE
ENRERHREERAT PRC 100% 100%  RMB670,000,000 Property Limited liability
(Guangzhou Aoyuan Cannes development  company
Investments Company Limited)
EMNRERHREBRAT f AR%6700000007 WERRE BRRA
REEE(BM)BRAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB1,000,000,000  Property Limited liability
{Aoyuan Group (Guangzhou) development  company
Company Limited)
BREE (EM) BRAR il ARH1,000,000000  MEEE BRARA
ENTEAREERER AT PRC 100% 100%  RMB238,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Guangzhou Wan Pui Investment development  company
Management Company Limited)
BNTERRAERERAR i AK238,000000 MEEE BRAR
BMNEYREEEREERAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB110,000,000  Hotel operation  Limited liability
(Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan company
Health Hotel Company Limited)
BMNEYREEEREERAR f AR%110,0000007  HEERE ARRA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

50. A AR EERME L A (&)

(a) EEMBERE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered  Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital ~ activities Legal from
MR,/ BRTRARZ
WEARER R B8 Frisa R RE/EMRA  TEER HERR
2016 2015
Z2-RE “Z-1%
BImBEEZERAR PRC 85% 85%  RMB100,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Yangjiang City RunXin Properties development  company
Company Limited)
BImEEEXARAR G AR100,000000 MEERE BRRA
ERREEXARAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB50,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Yun Fun Aoyuan Properties development  company
Company Limited)
EFRARELXERAR e AR%50000000T  WEERE BRRA
ERBRELXBRAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB450,000,000  Property Wholly foreign
(Chongaing YueAo Properties development  owned
Company Limited) enterprise
ERBREXERAH t ARME450,000000 WEEE WEBARE
RESEEREXERAH PRC 100% 100%  RMB200,000,000  Property Limited liability
(A anoyuan Group Chongaing YueAo development  company
Properties Company Limited)
RECEEEEEBRAT e AK200,000000 MEEE BRAR
ENEASERRAR PRC 51% 51%  RMB150,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Guangzhou Kangwei) development  company
BNEREEARAR t AR%150,000000C  MEFEE BRARA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 50. AR FEFEMB L RFE (8)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMIBAT—RER (&)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered  Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital ~ activities Legal from
MR,/ BRTRARZ
WEARER R B8 Frisa R RE/EMRA  TEER HERR
2016 2015
Z2-RE “Z-1%
BLTRERERHEREERAT PRC 100% 100% RMB50,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Foshan City Nanhai Aoyu Real development  company
Estate Development Company Limited)
TR RBEHEREERAR i AR#50,0000000T MIFER BRAR
REEE (8M) ERAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB100,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Aoyuan Group (Meizhou) Company Limited) development  company
RESE (1§1) BRAR Gl ARME100,000,000 WEEE BRAR
ENEREHEREERAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB100,000,000 Property Limited liability
(Guangzhou LuoAo Real Estate development  company
Development Company Limited)
ENEREHEREERAR i ARH100,000000 WEERE BRAR
ENREREERERAT PRC 100% 100%  RMB300,000,000 Property Limited liability
(Guangzhou Aoyuan Commercial development  company
Development Company Limited)
ENREHEERERAT f AR%300,0000007 WEERE ARRA
RESE (L) EXERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB50,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Foshan Aoyuan Property Company Limited) development  company
RESE (B BXERAR il AR¥50,0000007  MIEER BRAT
RESE(RE)BRAT PRC 51% 51%  RMB200,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Yingde Aoyuan Group Company Limited) development  company
RESE (5E) BRAR e AR%200,000000T WEER BRAH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 50. AR FEFEMB L RFE (8)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMIBAT—RER (&)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered  Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  activities Legal from
MR/ BRITRAZ
WEARER EABIE e RE RE/EMRA  TEER HER
2016 2015
ZE-X~F —Z-RFE
ERRKEXBRAR PRC 100% 100% RMB20,408,000  Property Limited liability
(Guangdong Shangshui Wine development  company
Company Limited)
BREKEEERAR G AR¥204080007T  MEEE ARAF
RESE (F8) BRAF PRC 100% 100%  RMB100,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Shaoguan Aaoyuan Group Company development  company
Limited)
RESE(RE)BRAT el AR%100,0000007  WEERE ARRA
EREREEZARAT PRC 100% 100%  RMB1,400,000,000  Property Wholly foreign
(Chongging Aoyu Property Company development  owned
Limited) enterprise
BRREEXERAT E AR#1400,0000007T YEEE IEBERE
ESRRESARAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB100,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Jiaoling Aoyuan Square Company Limited) development  company
ERREESARAR i AR%100,0000000 WEER BRAH
EFRRELXERARA PRC 60% 60%  RMB2,500,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Chongging Jinao Property Company development  company
Limited) (“Chongging Jinao")
EERAEZBRAT e AK2,500,0000007 IEERE BRAF
hERRESARAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB200,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Wuhua Aoyuan Square Company Limited) development  company
TERERSERAR t AR%2000000007 WEERE ARAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

BE-_T—NF+—H=1—HIFZF

50. A AR EERME L A (&)

(a) EEMBERE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered  Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  activities Legal from
MR/ BRITRAZ
WEARER EABIE e RE RE/EMRA  TEER EER
2016 2015
“E-NE —T-TF
RHEAREXARAR PRC 100% 100% USD38,000,000  Property Wholly foreign
(Jiaxing Aoyuan Property Company Limited) development  owned
enterprise
RARFERARAT i 38000000k MEER IEBERE
EEgRETRERAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB101,000,000 Construction Limited liability
(Jiaoling Construction Engineering company
Company Limited)
ERgRETRARAR i ARE101,000000 BE ARAT
ERAMEHEREERAR PRC 100% 55%  RMB200,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Guangxi Hanlin Property Development development  company
Company Limited)
ERAMEHEREERAR E AR®200000000C  MEERE BRAR
YR ERE AR AR PRC 100% 55% RMB20,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Anhui Qinlian Property Development development  company
Company Limited)
ZRGNEHEREERAA hE AR#200000007  MEER BRAR
ERAERHREBRAT PRC 100% 60%  RMB100,000,000 Investment  Limited liability
(Guangdong Aoyuan Hanlin Investment holding company
Company Limited)
BRAEAMREBRAR t AR%100,0000000 REER BRARA
ZHRERNEREERAF PRC 100% 55% RMB30,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Anhui Hande Property Development development  company
Company Limited)
ZHAEEHEREERAR i ARF30,0000007 MEERE BRAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 50. AN EFEMB L RFE (8)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMBAT—RELR (&)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered  Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  activities Legal from
MR/ BRITRAZ
WEARER EABIE e RE RE/EMRA  TEER EER
2016 2015
25 _E-0F
NERELERAR PRC 100% Ni USD 38,000,000 Property Limited liability
(Yangzhou Huiyin Property Co., Ltd.) development  company
ANEREXERAR i & 3B000000ET MERE ARAT
ZHBERHERTERAR PRC 100% 55% RMB30,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Anhui Hanhua Property Development development  company
Company Limited)
CRAERNEREARAR EF AR%30,0000000 WEEE BRAR
RHEERHEREER AT PRC 100% 55%  RMB100,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Anhui Qinjian Property Development development  company
Company Limited)
ZRAREHERZERAA e AR%100,0000000 WEER ARARA
WETEEEEXERAR PRC 93% 93%  RMB10,000,000 Property Limited liability
(Zhuhai Meixi Property Company Limited) development  company
HaTEEEZARAR] t AR¥10,0000007  MEER BRAR
AGRRE SR EREERAR PRC 100% 100%  RMB100,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Liuyang Aoyuan Plaza Property development  company
Development Company Limited)
ABRERSRHEREERAR G AR%100,0000007  WEEE ARAA
HERARRHERERAR PRC 100% 60% RMB50,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Nanning Aoyuan Hanlin Property development  company
Company Limited)
HEREANERERAT t AR¥50000000T  WEEE ARAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 50. AR AIFEEM B EIFE (&)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMBAT—RELR (&)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered  Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  activities Legal from
MR/ BRITRAZ
WEARER R B8 e RE RE/EMRA  TEER EER
2016 2015

ZE-X~F —Z-RFE

130 Elizabeth Street Pty Ltd Australia 70% 70% AUD 10,000  Property Limited liability
development  company
130 Elizabeth Street Pty Ltd RAFE 1000080 #WFEEE BRAR
FHAREXARAR PRC 100% Nil RMB100,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Yulin Aoyuan Property Company Limited) development  company
FHNEEEXERAA e & AR100000000 WEEE BRARA
RBEEEXRRAR PRC 53% NI RMB1,500,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Chengdu Yihua Property Company Limited) development  company
RABEEEZBRAA i & ARH15000000000 #FEE BRAH
MR EREEEERAF PRC 36% Nil  RMB200,000,000  Property Limited liability
(Shenzhen Taifuhua Lanwan Property development  company
Company Limited)
MITRELREEFRRAT Gl & AR¥200000000 WEXE ARAA
AR ELEREER AT PRC 51% Nil RMB140,000,000 Investment Limited liability
(Shenzhen Lanwan Hongsheng holding company
Investments Company Limited)
AITEEAEREERAR el & ARE1400000007 HERR ARAA
KB ERNEREARAR PRC 100% Nil RMB200,000,000 Investment Limited liability
(Chengdu Qida Property holding company
Development Co., Ltd.)
RABEERHEREARAR il & AR¥2000000007 REER BRAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

50. A AT EERME L A (&)

(a) FEMBERE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered  Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  activities Legal from
MR/ BRITRAZ
WEARER R B8 e RE RE/EMRA  TEER EER
2016 2015
ZB-AF —T-1F
EMTEREHEREERAR PRC 100% Nil  RMB173,333,333  Property Limited liability
(Guangzhou Xiongtai Property development  company
Development Co., Ltd.)
BN REHEREERAR i & AR®1733333370  MFER BRAA
INTRERHEREER AR PRC 100% il RMB80,000,000  Property Limited liability
{Huizhou Taihua Property development  company
Development Co., Ltd.)
BNTRERHEREERAR i & ARE800000007 MEEE BRAT
N RREHEREEBR AT PRC 100% il RMB35,680,000  Property Limited liability
(Huizhou Tairui Property development  company
Development Co., Ltd.)
ST RRRHEREER AR t m  ARE35680000 MEEE BRARA
ENTREEHEREERARA PRC 100% il RMB35,680,000  Property Limited liability
{Huizhou Taihong Property development  company
Development Co., Ltd.)
ENTREEHEREERAR e & AR¥35680,000 WEEE BRRA
PUTEBREHEREARAA PRC 100% Ni RMB25,000,000 Property Limited liability
(Zhongshan Hualigao Property development  company
Investments Co., Ltd )
PlmERREEREBRAR e & ARKE25000000 MEEE BRAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries
(continued)

Notes:

(a) Add Hero is directly held by the Company and the remaining
subsidiaries comprising the Group are indirectly held by the
Company.

(b) BVI and Hong Kong incorporated companies which are operating in
Hong Kong, Australia incorporated companies which are operating
in Australia, and other subsidiaries are operating in the PRC.

(c) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year except for Aoyuan Group which has issued
RMB5,900,000,000 of corporate bonds, in which the Group has
RMB5,900,000,000 interest.

(d) This company is 70% held by Hongsheng Investments, which is a
36%-owned subsidiary of the Group.

(e) The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the executive directors, principally affect
the results or assets of the Group. To give full details of subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the executive directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.

50. A AT EERME L A (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

ERMEAR—RER (&)

Add Hero A A A RIE R FIE « EfRHERASE
B2 B AR EARAIEEEE -

REBERBEREBEMKLL ARES
FRRESN - FORAMETEEM AL 2 1A BRI
ARHTELE - REMNER RGN BEEE

RER - BMENBARBITEMELES
28 B & B 2 % 77 A K ¥5,900,000,000
TZARMES  NEBREFHEEARK
5,900,000,000 JTHERS °

ZARTELARIEERET0% - AAEEE
B36% ZMBAF] °

ERINHERTEERREIBEZEAREER
HEEZARATIEMBAR - HITEER
RFECEH B AR < AFBRITR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NF+ - H=+—HILFZF

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(b) Composition of the Group

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has
other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A
maijority of these subsidiaries operate in PRC. The principal
activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

50.

KRR EEME R RAFE (&)

(b) AEEZAMK

ARRRREMARE L MEAREE
W AREZHMBRF » KEFDEL
MEA RSN TEEE - GRS
RAMEBRBHRLIT

Number of subsidiaries

Principal place MEASIZA
Principal activities of businesses 2016 2015
FEHEW FEEEWE —E-RF —T—hF
Investment holding BVI 51 52
REER REERES
Hong Kong 56 56
Bt
PRC 10 13
a3
Australia 1 1
i UGH]
Property development and investment PRC 30 28
MEERRRE #
Australia 9 6
i UGH]
Provision of consultancy and PRC 44 40
management services
RIEERE R EERS #
Others PRC 1 1
Hith t
202 197
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries

that have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned

subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and

31 December 2015 that have material non-controlling

interests:

Proportion of

BE-_T—NF+—H=1—HIFZF

50. A AR EERME L A (&)

(c) EREARFEREZZHFR

BB ARFR

TREJAEBR -_T—RF+=
A=t—BARk=-ZF—AF+=-A
=t REREAERER I

2EMBATHS -

ownership
interests
Place of voting rights
establishment held by
and principal non-controlling Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary place of business interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
R ER
RUBERETE  FEEHEEeRE TR
Bt 2 R 7 M BRERREE FriEF (&8) Rt R ER
2016 2015 2016 2015
ZB-RF _—ZT-1F ZB-R"F _T-If
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
Chongging Jinao PRC 40% 62,164 (404) 921,031 1,001,054
BERA th
Guangzhou Aoyu PRC 46.04% (2,262) 9,739 945,619 1,047881
BEMRE f
Hongsheng Investments PRC 49% (2,439) - 1,352,054 -
BN th
Non-wholly subsidiary of Hongsheng PRC 30% (2,408) - 977,692 -
Investments, Lanwan Property
ABEREZHEENMBARIREES e
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 1,516,804 1,284,147
BEFERERN R IFEAMBLR
5,713,200 3,333,082
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NF+ - H=+—HILFZF

KRR EEME R RAFE (&)

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

50.

(c) EREARFEREZZHFR

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries

that have material non-controlling interests

(continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of Chongging

Jinao, Guangzhou Aoyu and Hongsheng Investments that

has material non-controlling interests is set out below. The

summarized financial information/consolidated financial

BB QRS (&)

EREERRE  EMNRERLER
BRAEAFERER ZMHEER
BURINT - TXHMBER,Fa i
BEMBERERESBERNHHNS

information below represents amounts before intergroup HH o
eliminations.
Chongging Jinao
EFRR
2016 2015
= ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETTT
Non-current assets FERBEE 448,305 371,114
Current assets MBEE 3,580,085 2,683,956
Current liabilities nEBE 1,724,932 551,556
Non-current liabilities FERBAG 879 879
Total equity B 2,302,579 2,502,635
Revenue BEE 692,804 18,462
Expenses b3 537,394 15,826
Profit and total comprehensive FRETk2ENELE
income for the year 155,410 2,636
Dividend distributions REDIE 355,466 =
Net cash inflow (outflow) from geEgRemAORL) $58
operating activities 1,149,030 (2,261,301)
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEHRLRFE (1,067,607) -
Net cash inflow from financing activities REGDELE RS RATFE 10,307 2,500,000
Net cash inflow HEMANFR 91,730 238,699
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AR A B AR A RE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—HIFFZ

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 50. AR AIFEM B EIFE (&)

Company (continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries (c) BEEXRFERERZZIES
that have material non-controlling interests EME A S (5])
(continued)

Guangzhou Aoyu EMERE
2016 2015
i —T-hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Non-current assets ERBNEE 1,714,883 1,678,937
Current assets MENEE 1,283,857 1,627,748
Current liabilities wRBBE 378,414 351,648
Non-current liabilities EmEAE 566,420 679,016
Total equity B 2,053,906 2,276,021
Revenue =L 72,748 100,548
Expenses 53 77,661 79,395

(Loss) profit and total comprehensive £ A (E518) % F & 2 (FIs7)

(expense) income for the year gy o] (4,913) 21,153
Dividend distributions R E DIk 217,202 116,316
Net cash inflow from REEHEEZRER

operating activities R 14,953 341,437
Net cash inflow from KEEYELE S

investment activities MAFER 196,388 =
Net cash outflow from BEEDEE RS

financing activities R (240,000) (350,000)
Net cash outflow W5 (28,659) (8,563)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

50. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries

50. A AT EERME L A (&)

(c) EREARFEREZZHFR

that have material non-controlling interests EME A S (5])
(continued)
Hongsheng Investments and its subsidiary SABRIRE R HE A A
2016
—EB-RF
RMB’000
AR¥T T

Non-current assets JEMENEE 3,393
Current assets MENEEE 3,808,436
Current liabilities mEEE 74,842
Non-current liabilities ERBAGE -
Equity attributable to owners ZNNGIE ZE DNy ey

of the Company 2,759,295
Non-controlling interests JEPE AR S 977,692
Revenue LR 162
Expenses HX 8,314
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEEENEZEERERE

for the year (8,152)
Loss and total comprehensive RAAREEEEREZEEZRES

expense attributable to the Company (5,744)
Loss and total comprehensive expense SEEREREEBEREEERERE

attributable to the non-controlling interests (2,408)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEEBEAZEERERE

for the year (8,152)
Dividend distribution & E 5k 91,361
Net cash outflow from operating activities TR S F R (202,776)
Net cash outflow from investing activities BRSNS R FHE (1,207,920)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BMEEHIR S RAFRE 1,491,773
Net cash inflow RS MAFEE 81,077
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 7 —F—N#F1+ = H=+—HIFFZ

51. Events After the Reporting Period

Subsequent to the reporting date, the Group had following
significant events took place:

(@ On 4 January 2017, the Company issued senior notes
(the “2017 Notes"”) in an aggregate principal amount
of US$250,000,000 (equivalent to RMB1,734,250,000)
carries interest at 6.35% per annum and due in 2020.
Details of the terms and conditions are set out in at the
announcement issued by the Company on 4 January
2017 Up to the date of issuance of these consolidated
financial statements, the net proceeds of approximately
US$244,467.000 (equivalent to RMB1,695,867,000) from
the issuance of the 2017 Notes have been fully received.

(b)  On 13 January 2017, the Group acquired 60% equity
interest of FR/ERFIEHEER A A] Zhuhai Laili Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Zhuhai Laili”) with cash consideration of
RMB630,000,000. Zhuhai Laili holds a parcel of land
situated in Zhuhai, the PRC, which is designated for
commercial properties development.

(c)  On 24 February 2017, the Group acquired entire equity
interests of AT EEHREERBR A A Shenzhen
Qiuming Investment Development Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Qiuming”) with cash consideration of RMB984,934,000.
Shenzhen Qiuming holds two projects under development
situated in Shenzhen, the PRC, which is designated for
residential and commercial properties development.

(d)  On 1 March 2017, the Group entered into an agreement
to acquire a parcel of land located Vancouver, Canada
with cash consideration of Canadian Dollar 30,600,000
(equivalent to RMB161,000,000), which is designated for
residential and commercial properties development.

()  On 2 March 2017 the Company redeemed an aggregate
principal amount of US$300,000,000 of 2014 Notes,
representing entire principal amount of 2014 Notes, at
a redemption price equal to 105.6250% of the principal
amount thereof together with all accrued and unpaid
interest.

51. & BMEREE

WREEEE  AEBRAELNTEAS
i

@ RZZT—tF—AWA  ARAEFH
17784 4858 /5 250,000,000 3= 7T (8
£ %N AR #1,734,250,000 7T ) *
EFEFEE3B%TERR T =
SFIPHEAEBR( =S —1F
R - GERRGHEFBEHREA
AR —_E—tF—ANBERENRA
& BERSRAMBHRETEZ
A BT tFZENAER
TBREBA) 244,467,000 57T (FBER
# AR 1,695,867,000 7 ) B BH
U E) o

b) RZZT—tF—A+=0 ' £5H
AR & R A R #630,000,0007T
WS TR 8 R F BB R A A ([ 2RE
2RF 1) B 60 % AxHE o ZREZRFER
BIIR G E — R EERmEMERA
R IR o

) WRZZE—+ttF_A=-+mA"
AEBULRARSREHNDARE
984,934,000 7T U 8 & Il 7 7R 85 9%
BERARAR(DRYIME D 2
DR o RYIRKERFE R BRI H
MIBIEEFFERBEMERED
FEEHRIEE -

d R-ZFE—tF=F—H8 &A&H
AN —fthE WReREYN
30,600,000/0 7t ( 48 5 X A KB #&
161,000,000 7t ) Yefg — i@ AP N
REBFEECIEFERBDENERA

IR o
) M-T—tF=A-H' AQF

ERERE(HENERSEN
105.6250% 2 [A] f& 5T 3 AR ) 2)
BRI A BEEI 0EEITH =T
FBE I _T-NEZHE2 A
SFE o
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of the Company

52. Statement of Financial Position and Reserve

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 EZ - E—NFE1+ - H=+—HILFZF

52. QA MBEAMRR KK AE

2016 2015
—E—RF “E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IEMENEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB &K 665 813
Investments in subsidiaries R B ARIRIKE 4,401,648 4,401,648
4,402,313 4,402,461
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E RN 4,347 1,152
Amounts due from subsidiaries AR = NGIE e 5,028,896 5,042,780
Derivative financial instruments PTEESRIT A 37,055 =
Bank balances IRITHE R 70,333 103,150
5,140,631 5,147,082
CURRENT LIABILITIES nENEE
Other payables H A ERIE - 3,851
Amount due to a subsidiary JE R —REME A A 1,548,105 1,449,975
Bank borrowings IRITIEX 223,014 59,683
1,771,119 1,513,509
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEEFE 3,369,512 3,633,573
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERREAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,771,825 8,036,034
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EmBIAE
Bank borrowings SRITER 1,076,380 579,375
Senior notes BRLEE 5,603,693 4,998,005
6,680,073 5,577,380
TOTAL ASSETS LESSTOTAL LIABILITIES #&EERAEEE 1,091,752 2,458,654
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR K
Share capital % 25,292 26,355
Reserves (e 1,066,460 2,432,299
TOTAL EQUITY 1ArELS 1,091,752 2,458,654
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2016 # 2= —F—NF+ -H=+—HIFFZ

-

52. A RIMIAMRR KR G (&)

52. Statement of Financial Position and Reserve
of the Company (continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves RARREERH
Capital Share
Share Share  redemption option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
A& RGE BEXEERE BRERE 2itER by
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARETR ARETR AR%Tr ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2015 N_Z-1F-A-AH 26,355 4,343,438 - 388 (871,906) 3,498,275
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZEERLE
expense for the year - - - - (747638) (747, 638)
Recognition of equity-settled RARAREE AR
share-based payments AR - - - 321 - 321
Dividend recognised as RAED RS
distribution (note 12) (MzE12) = = = - (292,304) (292,304)
Transfer of share option reserve SRS IR RS S
upon forfeiture of share options ~ EBMERE - - - (709) 709 -
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-1%
+-A=1+-8 26,355 4,343,438 - - (1,911,139) 2,458,654
Loss and total comprehensive FRBRRZEERES
expense for the year - - - - (966,609) (966,609)
Recognition of equity-settled RNBALEE AR
share-based payments RERAR - - - 376 - 376
Shares repurchased and cancelled  EEEE R iEik{ (1,063) (159,013) 1,063 - 3322 (155,691)
Dividend recognised as REDRHRE
distribution (note 12) (MizE12) - - - - (244,978)  (244,978)
At 31 December 2016 R-E-RE
+-A=1+-8 25,292 4,184,425 1,063 376 (3,119,404) 1,091,752
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Five Years Financial Summary

A B

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #Z - E—NF1+ - H=+—HILFZF

Consolidated results

Year ended 31 December

mEEE BE+t-A=+-HLEE
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
—T——F —Z—=F —ZTNOF —T-RF CZEB-XRE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARETRT ARETT ARETE AR¥TR
(restated)
(/RE75)
Revenue S 3,943,205 5,729,267 6,976,151 9,572,424 11,827,268
Profit before taxation BRA A A 1,525,181 1,265,081 1,448,706 1,884,394 2,084,989
Income tax expense Fris i (692,537) (512,945) (665,773) (976,901)  (1,078,381)
Profit for the year FEREF 932,644 752,136 782,933 907,493 1,006,608
Consolidated assets, equity and liabilities As of 31 December
RABE ERZKAE R+=B=t+—H
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
—T--F ZE-=F —T-NOF —ZT-RF CZE-XRF
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETT AR¥Tx
(restated)
(&==&751)
Assets BE
Non-current assets FEMBEE 4,129,290 3,150,401 3,635,897 5,628,890 6,588,772
Current assets MENEE 16,683,751 26,781,105 33,149,937 43,197,982 59,829,641
Total assets BEE 20,813,041 29,931,506 36,785,834 48,826,872 66,418,413
Equity and liabilities BakaE
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 3,604,750 7,444,353 7,373,711 14,481,431 15,644,523
Current liabilities REEE 10,104,606 14,963,297 20,378,035 22,769,584 36,142,597
Total liabilities wEE 13,709,356 22,407,650 27,751,746 37,251,015 51,787,120
Equity attributable to owners AR RIHEHE A
of the Company FEfE R 6,951,335 7,219,046 7,719,452 8,242,775 8,918,093
Non-controlling interests JErEfR e 152,350 304,810 1,314,636 3,333,082 5,713,200
Total equity and liabilities Bk aE 20,813,041 29,931,506 36,785,834 48,826,872 66,418,413
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Properties for Sales

Major Properties Held for Sale
EEFAHFENRE

A REEEY R

GFA Interest
(thousand attributable to
sq.m.) the Company
Project Location Status Existing use BEEEE AT
EHE 1t 2 AR B AR (FFFK) FribREs
Shenzhen Aoyuan Pingshan New Under construction High-rise apartments, 217.8 70%
Jade Bay District, Shenzhen fri commercial properties
RYREERRE RIYITIET L[ BERE  BX
Chendu Chenghua Chengdu, Sichuan Under construction High-rise apartments, 578.1 70%
Aoyuan Plaza 7o)l s &b E commercial properties
AR E R E B EIEN-IEE
Guangzhou Aoyuan  Panyu, Guangzhou Under construction High-rise apartments, 248.1 65%
International Center BT EBER friE commercial properties
BN RE BB BEAE  BE
Chongging Aoyuan Chongging Under construction Integrated community 408.1 100%
Beyond Era EEM iz AR
SERRBRK
Chongging Aoyuan Chongging Under construction High-rise apartments, 404.2 100%
Panlong Yihao EEM friz commercial properties
ERRERESRT =BEAE - BE
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Investment Properties

BRI

1. Completed properties held for investment 1. 2R TE{EIREWME
Gross floor
area Interest
(thousand attributable
sq.m.) to the Group
No. Project Location Type Lease term BEEE AER
R 1ER 1 il HE (FF7K) Frib s
1 Guangzhou Nanguo Panyu, Guangzhou Golf course & commercial Long 58.3 100%
Aoyuan BMNmESR building RFH
(LR SEAIRESREEAN
2 Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan  Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Long 7.4 100%
BMHESRE BNTERE building REH
ERRBERE
3 Guangzhou Guo Ao Nansha, Guangzhou Office Long 2.4 100%
Investment Development ~ BMmEYE BT REH
Centre
BN RR B R L
4 Guangzhou Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop Long 8.6 100%
BN ERE EMTEER 54 REH
5  Chongging Aoyuan City of ~ Chongging Retail shop & Clubhouse Medium 58 100%
Health BEm EBREM FEH
EE RER
6  Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Medium 80.5 54%
EMNREES EMTEER building rhEEH
ERREBERE
7 Guangzhou Aoyuan Health  Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Medium 6.1 100%
Plaza BNmESR building HEH
BMNREE A ES ERREERE
8  Shenyang Aoyuan The Shenyang, Liaoning Commercial building Medium 7.0 100%
Metropolis EBLELT BMEAE F4EH]
&5 RE B
9 Guangzhou Aoyuan City Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Medium 9.6 100%
Plaza BNmESRE building HEH
BN R B R 3 ERREERE
10 Chongaing Aoyuan The Chongging Retail shop & commercial Medium 193 100%
Metropolis B5EM building FEEH]
ERRE B ERREBERE
11 Jiaoling Aoyuan Plaza Meizhou, Guangdong Retail shop & commercial Medium 19.1 100%
ElkREES ERAEMT building FhEEH
ERREBERE
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Investment Properties (continued)

B (H)

2. Investment properties under construction 2. EIPEREHEYE
Gross floor
area Interest
(thousand attributable to
sq.m.) Stage of the Group
No. Project Location Type Lease term BHEEE Completion REE
ik 18R 2 il HE (FE£HXK) EE Frib s
1 Shenyang Aoyuan Shenyang, Liaoning Commercial buildings  Medium 114.2 Under 100%
Convention Plaza BE&EREM EEIN] FEEH] construction
ABRERERES s
2 Guangzhou Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & Medium 21.7 Under 100%
Aoyuan City Plaza  EMMEBE commercial building R 4FHf construction
MR B AR ERREERE ML
3 Guangzhou Huangpu, Guangzhou Retail shop & Medium 34.4 Under 60%
Luogang Aoyuan BT EHE commercial building 4 & construction
Plaza EEREENE LA
BMNEHRRES
4 Guangzhou Zengcheng, Guangzhou  Retail shop & Medium 60.0 To be constructed 51%
Aoyuan Kangwei BN Mg E commercial A T
Plaza building
BNREREES ERREERE
5  Yangjiang Yangjiang, Guangdong Commercial buildings ~ Medium 10.0 To be constructed 85%
Aoyuan Central ~ ERAMRGIH HEIN FEFHE T
Parkview
BIRERE 5%
6  Chongaing Chongaing Retail shop & Medium 52.6 To be constructed 100%
Aoyuan City Plaza EEM commercial building "4 BT
BERERTAM ERREERNE
7 Chongaing Chongaing Retail shop & Medium 53.7 To be constructed 60%
Aoyuan Panlong  EEM commercial building & FmL
Yihao ERRBAERE
ERREMEST
8  Wuhua Aoyuan Meizhou, Guangdong Retail shop & Medium 234 Under 100%
Plaza BRAEMNT commercial building ~ FR4E] construction
TEREES ERREERE LA
9  Liuyang Aoyuan  Changsha, Hunan Retail shop & Medium 25.0 To be constructed 100%
Plaza HEARDT commercial building ~ F4EEA T
Bl REEES ERREERE
10 Anhui Aoyuan Benghu, Anhui Retail shop & Medium 35.5 To be constructed 55%
Hanlin Yinzuo ZHEERT commercial building A& E T
TRHREHHRE ERREERE
11 Zhuhai Aoyuan Zhuhai, Guangdong Retail shop & Medium 66.7 To be constructed 93%
Plaza BREETEM commercial building 45 T
KERERS ERREERE
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Investment Properties (continued)

BeEWE (57)

2. Investment properties under construction 2. EIPKREEWE(E)
(continued)
Gross floor
area Interest
(thousand attributable to
sq.m.) Stage of the Group
No. Project Location Type Lease term BHEE Completion KEE
R 1R ok il HE (F¥AHXK) EE PFrik s
12 Ningdu Aoyuan  Ganzhou, Jiangxi Retail shop & Medium 254 To be constructed 100%
Plaza TEEEMNT commercial building ~ F4E] Sy
EHRERS ERREERE
13 Chendu Chenghua Chengdu, Sichuan Retail shop & Medium 65.0 To be constructed 70%
Aoyuan Plaza m9)l| &k Eh commercial building ~ FR4E] Sy
PR EE R E B ERREERE
14 Yulin Aoyuan Yulin, Guangxi Retail shop & Medium 60.0 To be constructed 100%
Plaza BrE EAkm commercial building ~ F4EE] FiET
FHEERES ERREERE
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This 2016 annual report (the “Annual Report”), in both
English and Chinese, is available on the Company’s
website at http://www.aoyuan.com.cn (the “Company
Website"”) and the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited at http://www.hkexnews.hk.

Shareholders who have chosen to receive the corporate
communications of the Company (the “Corporate
Communications”) via the Company Website and who
for any reason have difficulty in receiving or gaining
access to the Annual Report posted on the Company
Website may request the Annual Report in printed form
free of charge.

Shareholders of the Company may at any time change
their choice of the means of receipt (either in printed
form or via the Company Website) and/or language(s)
(either English only or Chinese only or both languages) of

Corporate Communications.

Shareholders of the Company may send their request
to receive the Annual Report in printed form and/or in
the requested language, and/or to change their choice
of the means of receipt and/or language(s) of Corporate
Communications by notice in writing to the branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong or by sending an email to the

Company at aoyuan.hk@aoyuangroup.com.

RZZE-—XRFFHRATXF WD)
(RX K X) BERAR R
http://www.aoyuan.com.cn ([ & 2
AL ) AR BAER S REEFMABRA
B4k http://www.hkexnews.hk JA

B -
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NERER( ARREA D - WHRERA
JR B8 2 DA MR 3l JE B T B AN 2 A48
uh 2 FREBR - Al R B RIAFHR
HENRIZA

/NG S IS S s S /N B
AEy 7T = (AR AT R 838 B AR 1 A
k) R/ SimE (PATE A XX A
MIEREE ) °

AAaRRAIFBAEEBMAAIN - &
MAFHREDRIAR R ik ERKBE
5 R/AEREMEZELAABA
WG R/KBENER - FER
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RESELARRAA it BEEE
FEFKRKER183FAFHALI17M
1B IUBFHHATABEXERQF]
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